
 
 
 
 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING  
AGENDA 

 
Tuesday, September 13, 2016 

 
6:00 P.M.  -1201 S. Washington Ave. 

Lansing, MI – REO Town Depot 
Board of Water & Light Headquarters  

 
 

Call to Order 
 
Roll Call 
 
Public Comments on Agenda Items 
 
1. Finance Committee Meeting Minutes of  July 12, 2016……................................………TAB 1 

 
2. Baker Tilly External Audit Report – Resolution…………………………………………..………..….TAB 2 

 
3. Preliminary July Financial Highlights.....……………………………….………………………….INFO ONLY 

 
4. DB and VEBA Investment Policy Statements – Resolution……………………………..………..TAB 3  

 
5. Public Comment  

 
6. Other 
 
Adjourn  
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FINANCE COMMITTEE 
July 12, 2016 

 

The Finance Committee of the Lansing Board of Water and Light (BWL) met at the BWL 
Headquarters – REO Town Depot located at 1201 S. Washington Ave., Lansing, MI, at 5:30 p.m. 
on Tuesday, July 12, 2016. 

 

Finance Committee Chairperson Ken Ross called the meeting to order and asked the Corporate 
Secretary to call the roll.  
 

Present: Commissioners Ken Ross, Dennis M. Louney, David Price and Tracy Thomas. Also, 
present Commissioners Tony Mullen, Sandra Zerkle and Non-Voting Members Stuart Goodrich 
(Delhi Township), Bill Long (Delta Township), Bob Nelson (E. Lansing).  
 

Absent: None. 
 

The Corporate Secretary declared a quorum.  
 

Approval of Minutes 
Motion by Commissioner Thomas, Seconded by Commissioner Price, to approve the Finance 
Committee meeting minutes of May 10, 2016. 
 

Action: Motion Carried. 
 

Public Comment 

None. 
 

YTD Financial Overview 
Chief Financial Officer Heather Shawa-DeCook presented the May 2016 Financial Summary 
below: 
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Six Year Forecast Overview/Resolution  
Chair Ross suggested reviewing the PowerPoint presentation page by page to address any 
questions.  
 

Chief Financial Officer Heather Shawa-DeCook presented the FY 2017-2022 Financial Plan as 
follows:  

 

 

 
Chief Financial Officer Heather Shawa-DeCook noted to the Committee the Board of Water and 
Light’s AA- credit rating and the benefits maintaining that status. She stated that there is a cost 
to having higher top quality ratings; therefore all considerations should be understood.  
 

In addition, there was discussion regarding future plans to ensure that the BWL is competitive 
with regard to rates of other utilities. General Manager Peffley provided a few of his ideas 
regarding this matter which include having at least a 10% residential rate differential between 
the BWL and the nearest competitor.  
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Chief Financial Officer Heather Shawa-DeCook stated that based on forecasted 
recommendations at the end of the six year period the BWL will achieve the target 4.81 % Rate 
of Return.  
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Finance Chair Ross emphasized that the progression for the Rate on Return Base, for any year 
between 2017 and 2022 would not actually be achieved, but if the BWL pursued the outlined 
strategy as indicated in the PowerPoint graph (see above) and if the assumptions are correct, 
by the end of that 6 year period, the target rate of 4.81 would be met.  

 

In response to a question regarding the net income of steam, General Manager Peffley stated 
that there is an ongoing expense with steam and the BWL has a plan to replace all steam 
infrastructures.  Revenue in that area continues to decline, mainly as a result of a large steam 
utility customer creating a technology to produce its own steam. However, the Board of Water 
and Light expects to return to the positive with projected rate increases to hit and support the 
long-term Rate of Return. 
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General Manager Peffley stated previously steam and water were heavily subsidized by electric, 
but the company has worked hard the past years toward having each utility stand on its own. 
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Capital Forecast FY 2017-FY2022 Six Year 
 

 

Chair Ross questioned if there were items in the Capital Budget listed for next year that the 
Committee should be made aware of, given the media attention of the Central Substation. In 
response, General Manager Peffley stated there may be some tree trimming concerns and Ms. 
Shawa-DeCook added the installation of AMI smart meters may be an area of attention as well. 
 
 Ms. Shawa-DeCook provided information on the progress of the AMI smart meter 
implementations.  

 

Motion by Commissioner Price, Seconded by Commissioner Thomas to forward he proposed 
Resolution for the acceptance of the 2017-2022 Forecast to the full Board for consideration.  

Action: Motion Carried.  
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Proposed Return on Assets Resolution  
Chief Financial Officer Heather Shawa-DeCook spoke about the rate of return target suggesting 
that it is both realistic and achievable.  She also stated that it is important to work toward 
achieving it to maintain infrastructure over a period of time. She said the forecast is such that if 
the key assumptions materialize, we should be able to achieve the target rate of return. The 
lengthy dialogue continued regarding the Return on Assets. Ms. Shawa-DeCook stated that she 
felt it is up to management to be fiscally responsible (from on the O&M side).  Also, 
management should be responsible when laying out the budget, the cost control and making 
sure we are effective and efficient while maintaining our reliability and competitiveness. We 
want to make sure our efforts to reach our target rate of return include prudently managing 
our cost structure and not just focusing on rate increases to hit that return. It is important to 
have the right target number because there are impacts if the number is too low or too high.  
 
Commissioner Nelson spoke about discussions from 2008 that involved the previous Chief 
Financial Officer regarding the Wisconsin Method vs. UFS and the coal inventory being an issue 
with its dwindling use as a fuel. Commissioner Nelson questioned if there was going to be a 
change in dynamics with the depleting coal inventory. In response to Commissioner Nelson’s 
question Ms. Shawa-DeCook stated that she would get back to him with additional information.  

In conclusion Chief Financial Officer Heather Shawa-DeCook stated that this matter would be 
brought before the Board for a yearly review.   

 
Motion by Commissioner Price, Seconded by Commissioner Thomas to forward the proposed 
Resolution for the Return on Assets to the full Board for consideration.  

Action: Motion Carried.  

Finance Chair Ross welcomed and introduced new Board member, Stuart Goodrich.   Mr. 
Goodrich stated that he is looking forward to serving on this Board.  
 
Update on Management Responses to Internal Audits  
Finance Chair Ross informed the new Commissioner that this report is a tracking tool designed 
to give us transparency and to ensure that everything Internal Auditor Phil Perkins identifies in 
his internal audits is actually followed up on and completed to the satisfaction of the Board of 
Commissioners and Internal Auditor.  
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Chief Financial Officer Heather Shawa-DeCook’s update consisted of the following: 
 

 

 

As of 6/30: There are 14 Open issues (6 of which are new) and 1 closed issue.   
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Internal Auditor FY17 Audit Plan  
Internal Auditor Phil Perkins, presented an overview of the following information:  
 
Internal Auditor Status Update  

• FY 2016 Audit Plan Progress Report 
• Proposed FY 2017 Audit Plan 
• Other Items 

 
FY 2016 Audit Plan Progress Report           
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Finance Chair Ross mentioned the recent security incident and questioned whom Mr. Perkins 
would draw upon if he or his External Auditors did not have the expertise in conducting in-
depth reviews as it relates to cyber. Mr. Perkins stated that he has had some preliminary 
discussions with outside firms regarding this specialized resource as well as looking to enhance 
his own limited expertise by taking some additional training in the cyber security arena.  
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Motion by Commissioner Price, Seconded by Thomas, to forward the Internal Auditor’s FY 17 
Audit Plan to the full board for consideration. 

Action: Motion Carried.  
 
Infernal Auditor Perkins stated that there were no changes to the Auditors Charter and asked 
that the Board approve the Internal Auditor’s Charter as-is.  
 
Motion by Commissioner Price, Seconded by Thomas, to forward the Internal Auditor’s Charter 
as-is to the full board for consideration and approval. 

Action: Motion Carried.  
 
Background Discussion: Franchise Agreements 
Finance Chair Ross cited a request from East Lansing for a franchise agreement and a share of revenue 
the BWL receives from East Lansing customers to introduce a background discussion on franchises and 
franchise fees.  General Manager Peffley noted that a new request for a franchise fee would be directed 
to the Board, but a renewal of an existing franchise agreement would be negotiated by BWL staff and 
not brought to the Board.  

Mark Matus, Director of Technical Services, provided background information on franchises and 
franchise fees and distributed a summary of franchise agreements along with franchise fees to the 
Board for its information.  According to Mr. Matus, a franchise is required by the State Constitution and 
legislation to use the public places and conduct business in a local unit of government.  He indicated that 
the Michigan Constitution limits franchises to 30 years duration.  He indicated that a Foote Act franchise 
is an exception in that it is created by legislation and only applies to areas being served by a utility 
between 1905 and 1908. He also indicated that a Foote Act franchise could not be reversed by the act of 
legislation.  According to Mr. Matus, water agreements are a little different.  Although they are not 
entitled as franchises, they have the same provisions allowing for the use of public streets, alleys, etc.   

In response to questions regarding the Foote Act, George Stojic, Executive Director of Strategic Planning 
indicated that the BWL could demonstrate service to East Lansing between 1905 and 1908 and was, 
therefore, entitle to a Foote Act franchise, but documentation from other areas was not available.  He 
also indicated that Foote Act franchises do not expire.   

General Manager Peffley indicated that the BWL needed clarification of East Lansing’s request, and that 
it is seeking assistance from outside counsel to investigate the issue of a franchise with East Lansing.     

Public Comment 
Brad van Guilder, Sierra Club, read comments into the record stating his concerns regarding 
two items included in the 6 Year capital budget, the projection of installation of Dry Sorbent 
Injection pollution controls and the implementation of Smartgrid technology.  
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Other 
General Manager Peffley thanked staff for how well the managed this weekend’s storm, which 
was one of the largest summer storms in this area. 90% of customers were restored within 48 
hours. He said they really worked hard on press releases and communication in general.  
 
Several Commissioners expressed their appreciation for the communication during the recent 
storm.  
 
Chair Ross asked for an update on the homeless hotel shelter’s high bill issue due to a lack of 
meter reading.  In response General Manager Peffley acknowledge that there was an error with 
the homeless hotel not getting their meter read in a timely manner; however the BWL has 
reached out to make arrangements to work with them to resolve the issue and get them on 
track.  
 
Adjourn  
On Motion by Commissioner Price, Seconded by Commissioner Thomas, the meeting adjourned 
at 7:20 p.m.                                                 

 Respectfully submitted 
Ken Ross, Chair  
Finance Committee 

 

 



 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 
 

Fiscal Year 2016 Audited Financial Statements 
of the Enterprise Fund and Pension Fiduciary Funds 

 
RESOLVED, that the fiscal year 2016 Audited Financial Statements of the Board of 
Water and Light have been reviewed and are hereby accepted as presented. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Corporate Secretary is hereby directed to file a copy of 
the fiscal year 2016 Audited Financial Statements of the Board of Water and Light and 
the report on auditing procedures with the State Treasurer as required by the Uniform 
Budgeting and Accounting Act (Public Act 2 of 1968, as amended) no later than 
December 31, 2016. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Corporate Secretary is hereby directed to file a copy of 
the fiscal year 2016 Audited Financial Statements of the Board of Water and Light with 
the City of Lansing. 
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To the Honorable Mayor, Members of  
 the City Council, and Commissioners  
 of the Board of Water and Light 
City of Lansing, Michigan 
 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Board of Water and Light – City of 
Lansing, Michigan and Pension Trust funds (collectively referred to as the BWL) as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2016, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we 
considered its internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinions on the effectiveness of its internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of its internal control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be control 
deficiencies.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
 
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We 
consider the following deficiencies in the BWL’s internal control to be significant deficiencies: 
 

> Controls Over Information Technology Systems and Procedures 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, those charged with 
governance, and others within the organization and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 
 

 
Madison, Wisconsin 
September 6, 2016 

 

 

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP 
Ten Terrace Ct, PO Box 7398 
Madison, WI 53707-7398 
tel 608 249 6622 
fax 608 249 8532 
bakertilly.com 
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INTERNAL CONTROL OVER INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 
During our review of BWL’s control environment, certain items came to our attention that, in combination, 
rose to the level of a significant deficiency.  
 
The following are our observations and recommendations:  

> Unique User Authentication: Generic non-system accounts exist in several systems which are not 
tied to any specific user. Some of these accounts are privileged accounts or temporary accounts 
no longer in use. All financial applications should have a login and password which is unique for 
every user and the user name should not be shared by anyone. Each user should not have more 
than one username. Generic, shared, temporary, and system accounts should be removed. If a 
system account cannot be removed, it should be disabled. 
 

> User Account Access Review: There is no review of network users against a list of active 
employees nor is an application user account access review systematically reviewed. User 
accounts and access should be reviewed once a year by management to ensure that only active 
employees have user accounts and users don't have access beyond their job responsibilities 
following the least privilege principle. Documentation of these reviews should be retained. 

 
> System Security: BWL suffered a ransomware attack as the result of a successful phishing 

attack. Baker Tilly recommends that the company research and establish a long term user 
cyberattack awareness program with periodic surprise penetration testing to heighten user 
awareness. 

 
Individually, these items would not have risen to the level of significant deficiency, however, in 
combination, we felt they were important enough to merit the attention of those charged with governance. 
We noted during final fieldwork that management had already started adding controls and procedures to 
remediate the control deficiencies discussed above. 



  

  

OTHER COMMUNICATIONS WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
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TWO WAY COMMUNICATION REGARDING YOUR AUDIT  
 
As part of our audit of your financial statements, we are providing communications to you throughout the 
audit process. Auditing requirements provide for two-way communication and are important in assisting 
the auditor and you with more information relevant to the audit. 
 
As this past audit is concluded, we use what we have learned to begin the planning process for next 
year’s audit. It is important that you understand the following points about the scope and timing of our 
next audit: 
 

a. We address the significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, through 
our detailed audit procedures. 
 

b. We will obtain an understanding of the five components of internal control sufficient to assess the 
risk of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to 
design the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures. We will obtain a sufficient 
understanding by performing risk assessment procedures to evaluate the design of controls 
relevant to an audit of financial statements and to determine whether they have been 
implemented. We will use such knowledge to:  
 
> Identify types of potential misstatements. 
> Consider factors that affect the risks of material misstatement. 
> Design tests of controls, when applicable, and substantive procedures. 
 
We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 
compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant programs.  
 

c. The concept of materiality recognizes that some matters, either individually or in the aggregate, 
are important for fair presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles while other matters are not important. In performing the audit, we are 
concerned with matters that, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the 
financial statements. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance that material misstatements, whether caused by errors or fraud, are detected. 

 
d. Your financial statements contain components, as defined by auditing standards generally 

accepted in the United States of America, which we also audit. 
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TWO WAY COMMUNICATION REGARDING YOUR AUDIT (cont.) 
 
We are very interested in your views regarding certain matters. Those matters are listed here: 

 
a. We typically will communicate with your top level of management unless you tell us otherwise. 

b. We understand that the Board of Commissioners has the responsibility to oversee the strategic 
direction of your organization, as well as the overall accountability of the entity. Management has 
the responsibility for achieving the objectives of the entity. 

c. We need to know your views about your organization’s objectives and strategies, and the related 
business risks that may result in material misstatements. 

d. Which matters do you consider warrant particular attention during the audit, and are there any 
areas where you request additional procedures to be undertaken? 

e. Have you had any significant communications with regulators or grantor agencies? 

f. Are there other matters that you believe are relevant to the audit of the financial statements? 
 
Also, is there anything that we need to know about the attitudes, awareness, and actions of the BWL 
concerning: 
 

a. The BWL’s internal control and its importance in the entity, including how those charged with 
governance oversee the effectiveness of internal control? 
 

b. The detection or the possibility of fraud? 
 
We also need to know if you have taken actions in response to developments in financial reporting, laws, 
accounting standards, governance practices, or other related matters, or in response to previous 
communications with us. 
 
With regard to the timing of our audit, here is some general information. If necessary, we may do 
preliminary financial audit work during the months of May or June. Our final financial fieldwork is 
scheduled during the summer to best coincide with your readiness and report deadlines. After fieldwork, 
we wrap up our financial audit procedures at our office and may issue drafts of our report for your review. 
Final copies of our report and other communications are issued after approval by your staff. This is 
typically 3-4 weeks after final fieldwork, but may vary depending on a number of factors. 
 
Keep in mind that while this communication may assist us with planning the scope and timing of the audit, 
it does not change the auditor’s sole responsibility to determine the overall audit strategy and the audit 
plan, including the nature, timing, and extent of procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence. 
 
We realize that you may have questions on what this all means, or wish to provide other feedback. We 
welcome the opportunity to hear from you. 
 



  

  

REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS BY THE AUDITOR TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
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To the Honorable Mayor, Members of  
 the City Council, and Commissioners  
 of the Board of Water and Light 
City of Lansing, Michigan 
 
 
Thank you for using Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP as your auditor.  
 
We have completed our audit of the financial statements of the Board of Water and Light – City of Lansing, 
Michigan and Pension Trust Funds (collectively referred to as the BWL) for the year ended June 30, 2016, and 
have issued our report thereon dated September 6, 2016. This letter presents communications required by our 
professional standards. 
 
 OUR RESPONSIBILITY UNDER AUDITING STANDARDS 
  GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
The objective of a financial statement audit is the expression of an opinion on the financial statements. We 
conducted the audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
These standards require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, 
assurance about whether the financial statements prepared by management with your oversight are free of 
material misstatement, whether caused by error or fraud. Our audit included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. Our audit does not relieve management or the board of their responsibilities. 
 
As part of the audit we obtained an understanding of the entity and its environment, including internal control, 
sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and to design the nature, 
timing and extent of further audit procedures. The audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal 
control or to identify deficiencies in internal control. 
 
OTHER INFORMATION IN DOCUMENTS CONTAINING AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
Our responsibility does not extend beyond the audited financial statements identified in this report. We do 
not have any obligation to and have not performed any procedures to corroborate other information 
contained in client prepared documents, such as official statements related to debt issues. 
 
 PLANNED SCOPE AND TIMING OF THE AUDIT  
 
We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our letter 
about planning matters dated June 30, 2016. 

 

 

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP 
Ten Terrace Ct, PO Box 7398 
Madison, WI 53707-7398 
tel 608 249 6622 
fax 608 249 8532 
bakertilly.com 
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 QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF THE ENTITY’S SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES 
 
  Accounting Policies 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with the 
terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting policies 
and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the BWL are described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not 
changed during fiscal year 2016. We noted no transactions entered into by the BWL during the year that were 
both significant and unusual, and of which, under professional standards, we are required to inform you, or 
transactions for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 
 
  Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 
 

> Management’s estimates of the other post-employment benefit (OPEB) cost and employee pension 
benefits are based on actuarial reports completed by Nyhart Actuary & Employee Benefits. We 
evaluated the key factors and assumptions used by the actuaries in determining that they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

> Management’s estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts is based on historical sales, historical 
loss levels, and an analysis for the collectivity of individual accounts. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop the allowance in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements taken as a whole. 

> Management’s estimate of unbilled revenues is based on units of consumption used by customers 
but not yet billed through the normal billing process. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions 
used to develop this estimate in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

> Management’s estimate of self-insurance claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) is based on 
historical claims and an estimated lag provided by third-party specialists. We evaluated the key 
factors and assumptions used to develop this estimate in determining it is reasonable in relation to 
the financial statements taken as a whole.  

> Management’s estimate of the environmental liabilities is based on cash flow projections of 
estimated costs to remediate the sites. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to 
develop the liability in determining it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a 
whole.  

> Management’s estimate of the net pension asset and related deferrals are based on actuarial 
reports completed by Nyhart Actuary & Employee Benefits. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used by the actuaries in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements taken as a whole. 

> Management’s estimate of the volume of coal in inventory is based on a volumetric survey 
performed by Mikon Corporation. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used by Mikon in 
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

  



To the Honorable Mayor, Members of  
 the City Council, and Commissioners  
 of the Board of Water and Light 
City of Lansing, Michigan 
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 QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF THE ENTITY’S SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES (cont.) 
 
  Financial Statement Disclosures 

The disclosures in the notes to the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
 DIFFICULTIES ENCOUNTERED IN PERFORMING THE AUDIT 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing our audit. 
 
 CORRECTED AND UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. There were no 
such misstatements identified. 
 
 DISAGREEMENTS WITH MANAGEMENT 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that 
could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such 
disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
 CONSULTATIONS WITH OTHER INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. If a consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial 
statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has 
all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
 MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter. This letter follows this required communication. 
 
 INDEPENDENCE  
 
We are not aware of any relationships between Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP and the BWL that, in our 
professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 
 
Relating to our audit of the financial statements of the BWL for the year ended June 30, 2016, Baker Tilly 
Virchow Krause, LLP hereby confirms that we are, in our professional judgment, independent with respect to 
the BWL in accordance with the Code of Professional Conduct issued by the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. We provided no services to the BWL other than audit services provided in connection with 
the audit of the current year’s financial statements and nonaudit services which in our judgment do not impair 
our independence. 
 

 Financial statement preparation assistance 
  

None of these nonaudit services constitute an audit under generally accepted auditing standards, including 
Government Auditing Standards. 



To the Honorable Mayor, Members of  
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 OTHER AUDIT FINDINGS OR ISSUES 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the BWL’s auditors. However, these discussions 
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our 
retention. 
 
 OTHER MATTERS 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the 
basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
RSI. 
 
With respect to the additional information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain inquiries of 
management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the 
information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method 
of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation 
to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the additional information to the 
underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 
themselves. 
 
 RESTRICTION ON USE 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Board and management and is not intended to be, and 
should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
We welcome the opportunity to discuss the information included in this letter and any other matters. Thank you 
for allowing us to serve you. 
 

 
Madison, Wisconsin 
September 6, 2016 
 



 

  

MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of
    the City Council, and Commissioners
Lansing Board of Water and Light
City of Lansing, Michigan

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Lansing Board of Water and Light and its
fiduciary funds, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Lansing Board of Water and Light's basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Lansing Board of Water and Light's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Lansing Board of Water and Light's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
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To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, and Commissioners
Lansing Board of Water and Light

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Lansing Board of Water and Light and its fiduciary funds as of June 30, 2016, and the respective
changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Prior Period Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Lansing Board of Water and Light and its fiduciary funds, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2015, were audited by other auditors whose report dated August 31, 2015, expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary
information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We and other auditors have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance. 

Additional Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements as a whole. The
additional information as listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The fiscal 2016 information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the additional information
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole. The fiscal 2015 information was subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of those basic financial statements by other auditors, whose report on such information stated that it was fairly
stated in all material respects in relation to the 2015 basic financial statements as a whole. 

Madison, Wisconsin
September 6, 2016

Page 2



Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan 

3 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

This section explains the general financial condition and results of operations for the Lansing 
Board of Water and Light (the “BWL”). The BWL includes the consolidated operations of the 
electric, water, steam, and chilled water utilities. The notes to financial statements following 
this section are essential reading for a complete understanding of the financial and operational 
results for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. 

Overview of Business 

The BWL owns and operates an electric system which generates, purchases, and distributes 
electric power and energy and provides electric service to over 96,000 residential, commercial, 
and industrial customers in the greater Lansing area. The BWL generated 65 percent of its retail 
and wholesale sales from existing generation assets and purchased additional electric 
generation through its participation in the MISO markets, membership in the Michigan Public 
Power Agency, which includes the BWL’s partial ownership of Detroit Edison's Belle River Plant, 
and through its landfill gas renewable energy purchase agreement with Granger Electric of 
Lansing. 

The BWL owns and operates water wells, a raw water transmission system, water conditioning 
facilities, and an extensive water distribution system serving potable water to over 56,000 
residential, commercial, and industrial customers in the greater Lansing area.  

The BWL owns and operates steam generation boilers, a steam transmission and distribution 
system serving over 165 customers, and a chilled water facility and distribution piping system 
serving 19 customers in the City of Lansing. 

Capital Expenditures 

Capital expenditures are driven by the need to replace, expand, or maintain the generation, 
transmission, and distribution systems of the BWL to meet customer utility needs and to 
maintain a satisfactory level of service reliability. The BWL invests essentially all revenues not 
paid out for operations and maintenance expense, nonoperating expenses, or debt service back 
into capital improvements for the water, electric, steam, and chilled water systems. Gross 
capital expenditures were $51.3 and $65.9 million in fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
The BWL generally pays the major portion of the cost of its capital improvements from internally 
generated funds and a lesser portion from the proceeds of revenue bonds that are issued from 
time to time. 
 
Detailed financial information for the separate utilities of water, electric, steam, and chilled 
water can be found in the Additional Information section of this financial report.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Condensed Financial Information (dollars in millions) 

2016 2015 2014

Assets
Utility plant 690.7$           715.0$           699.3$           (3.4)                
Other assets 342.1           345.1           365.1            (0.9)               

Total assets 1,032.8          1,060.1          1,064.4          (2.6)                

Deferred Outflows of Resources 3.8                 1.0                 1.2                 280.0              

Liabilities
Long-term liabilities 357.4             368.6             383.2             (3.0)                
Other liabilities 57.1             65.2             69.5              (12.4)             

Total liabilities 414.5             433.8             452.7             (4.4)                

Deferred Inflows of Resources 26.0             32.1             30.4              (19.0)             

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 367.1             380.7             345.4             (3.6)                
Restricted for debt service 38.3               43.5               65.0               (12.0)              
Unrestricted 190.7           171.0           172.2            11.5               

Net position 596.1$          595.2$          582.6$           0.2                 

As of June 30  % Change 
2015 to 2016 

 

In 2016 the Board approved the closure of the Eckert Power Station by 2020 due to increasing 
operational costs, pending environmental regulations, and an uncertain future for coal-fired 
plants.  As a result, the BWL recorded an impairment of $15.8 million.   

Depreciation and impairment exceeded the amount of capital expenditures in fiscal year 2016, 
thereby decreasing utility plant by $24.3 million. 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Condensed Financial Information (dollars in millions) (Continued) 

 

2016 2015 2014

Results of Operations
Operating revenues 360.9$           353.5$           348.0$           2.1                  
Operating expenses 306.1             309.0             310.9             (0.9)                
Nonoperating expense - Net (53.9)            (31.9)            (38.4)             (69.0)             

Changes in Net Position 0.9$              12.6$            (1.3)$              (92.9)             

 % Change 
2015 to 2016 

For the Year Ended June 30

 
 
Operating revenues for 2016 increased by $7.4 million primarily as a result of the November 
2014 rate increase.   

Nonoperating expense (net) increased by $22 million from fiscal year 2015.  This was due 
primarily to the Eckert Power Station impairment and the write-off of the Customer Care 
Initiative (CARE) project.   

Budget - The BWL commissioners approved a $294.6 million operating expense budget 
(excluding depreciation and impairment) for fiscal year 2016. Actual expenses (excluding 
depreciation and impairment) were $264.6 million or 10.2 percent less than budget. The net 
capital improvement budget was $65.1 million for fiscal year 2016 and actual net capital 
expenditures were approximately $48.7 million.   

Financing Activities – For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, there were no significant 
financing activities. 
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Statements of Net Position 

 
As of June 30

2016 2015

Assets

Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Notes 2 and 3) 46,586,326$            52,752,941$           
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 1 and 2) 53,637,717              55,925,376             
Investments (Notes 1 and 2) 107,921,202            91,585,641             
Accounts receivable - Net (Note 1) 23,168,659              22,014,605             
Estimated unbilled accounts receivable (Note 1) 19,526,475              18,280,777             
Inventories (Note 1) 25,067,737              25,860,743             
Other 3,997,490              3,344,122              

Total current assets 279,905,606            269,764,205           
Other Assets

Recoverable energy asset (Note 6) 2,302,845                4,652,068               
Recoverable environmental remediation (Note 6) 11,483,569              18,616,005             
Special deposit (Note 1) 8,535,000                11,380,000             
Net pension asset (Note 8) 4,263,990                8,284,230               
Other (Note 1) 10,265,098            8,123,949              

Total other assets 36,850,502            51,056,252            

Noncurrent Restricted Assets (Investments) (Notes 2 and 3) 25,319,385              24,263,950             

Utility Plant (Notes 1 and 4)
Water 302,165,777            296,802,952           
Electric 774,429,214            804,947,799           
Steam 68,557,331              67,510,134             
Chilled water 33,998,140              33,622,140             
Common facilities 88,752,432              87,132,519             
Central Utilities Complex 76,079,000            76,079,000            

Total 1,343,981,894         1,366,094,544        

Less accumulated depreciation 668,868,675          665,849,130          

Net 675,113,219            700,245,414           

Construction in progress (Note 9) 15,583,201            14,781,967            

Total utility plant 690,696,420          715,027,381          

Total assets 1,032,771,913       1,060,111,788        

Deferred Outflows of Resources - 
Bond refunding loss being amortized 835,838                   1,032,273               
Net pension deferred outflows (Note 8) 2,930,218              -                            

Total deferred outflows of resources 3,766,056                1,032,273               
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Statements of Net Position (Continued) 

As of June 30

2016 2015

Liabilities and Net Position

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 28,679,951$           32,695,192$             
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 5) 11,642,389             13,299,345               
Accrued payroll and related taxes 1,873,549               2,756,033                 
Customer deposits 2,304,426               2,678,145                 
Unearned revenue -                              1,127,500                 
Accrued compensated absences (Note 1) 4,310,921               4,092,441                 
Accrued interest (payable from restricted assets) 8,284,626             8,547,591                

Total current liabilities 57,095,862             65,196,247               

Compensated Absences - Less current portion (Note 1) 7,112,200               6,916,286                 

Other Long-term Liabilities
Workers' compensation 2,200,000               2,200,000                 
Environmental remediation liability (Note 9) 7,853,780               10,172,203               
Other 2,116,412             2,314,711                

Total other long-term liabilities 12,170,192             14,686,914               

Long-term Debt - Less current portion (Note 5) 338,105,373         347,044,294            

Total liabilities 414,483,627           433,843,741             

Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Recoverable revenue of Central Utilities  

Complex (Note 6) 5,071,934               7,241,153                 

Revenue intended to cover future costs (Note 6) 20,891,938             22,667,354               
Net pension deferred inflows (Note 8) -                              2,201,407                 

Total deferred inflows of resources 25,963,872             32,109,914               
Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 367,103,881           380,667,622             
Restricted for debt service (Note 3) 38,301,700             43,517,692               
Unrestricted 190,684,889         171,005,092            

Total net position 596,090,470$         595,190,406$          
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Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

For the Year Ended June 30
2016 2015

Operating Revenues (Note 1)

Water 38,730,602$          37,910,106$          
Electric 303,245,766          295,047,904          
Steam 12,683,463            14,959,212            
Chilled water 6,275,583            5,568,287             

Total operating revenues 360,935,414          353,485,509          

Operating Expenses
Production:

Fuel, purchased power, and other operating expenses 159,118,150          163,336,653          
Maintenance 19,839,991            24,415,690            

Transmission and distribution:
Operating expenses 7,404,258              7,006,002              
Maintenance 14,189,340            13,864,024            

Administrative and general 64,007,040            61,297,460            
Depreciation (Note 1) 41,541,561          39,104,343           

Total operating expenses 306,100,340        309,024,172          

Operating Income 54,835,074            44,461,337            

Nonoperating Income (Expenses)
Investment income 1,913,873              1,351,006              
Other (expense) income (4,588,160)             1,534,922              
Impairment on Eckert Power Station (Note 4) (15,763,520)           -                            
System capacity fee 3,351,392              9,223,075              
Bonded debt interest expense (14,861,300)           (14,995,574)           
Amortization - Central Utilities Complex (2,902,715)             (8,057,715)             
Return on equity (Note 7) (21,033,531)           (20,840,065)           
Other interest expense (51,049)               (49,691)                

Total nonoperating expenses - Net (53,935,010)         (31,834,042)           

Net Income (Changes in Net Position) 900,064                 12,627,295            

Net Position - Beginning of year 595,190,406        582,563,111          

Net Position - End of year 596,090,470$       595,190,406$        
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Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Year Ended June 30

2016 2015
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash from customers:
Water 38,465,045$       38,932,520$       
Electric 302,838,331      293,138,111       
Steam 12,824,305        15,711,107         
Chilled water 6,757,204          5,425,898           

Total cash from customers 360,884,885      353,207,636       

Cash paid to suppliers:
Suppliers of coal, freight, and purchased power (131,855,507)    (140,537,274)      
Other suppliers (75,423,113)      (69,814,422)       

Total cash paid to suppliers (207,278,620)    (210,351,696)      

Cash paid to employees (57,655,263)      (63,947,564)       
Return on equity (Note 7) (21,033,531)      (20,840,065)       
Cash from customer deposits (373,719)            3,287                  
Interest on customer deposits (51,049)              (49,691)              

Net cash provided by operating activities 74,492,703        58,021,907         

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Proceeds from new borrowings 3,789,161          -                         
Planned, bonded, and annual construction (44,161,432)      (59,916,047)       
Principal payments on debt (13,418,460)      (18,594,394)       
System capacity fees 3,351,392          9,223,075           
Interest on debt (16,979,468)      (15,709,200)       

Net cash used in capital and 
        related financing activities (67,418,807)        (84,996,566)        

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
Proceeds from the sale of emissions allowances -                         36                       
Proceeds from the Belle River Project and other -                         8,972,944           

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities -                         8,972,980           

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments 76,742,427        160,938,876       
Interest received 1,862,826          2,003,345           
Purchase of investments (94,133,423)      (139,581,937)      

Net cash provided by investing activities (15,528,170)      23,360,284         

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (8,454,274)        5,358,605           

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 108,678,317      103,319,712       

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year 100,224,043$      108,678,317$      
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Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 

For the Year Ended June 30
2016 2015

Balance Sheet Classifications

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 46,586,326$       52,752,941$       
Cash and cash equivalents 53,637,717          55,925,376          

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year 100,224,043$      108,678,317$      

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash For the Year Ended June 30
 from Operating Activities 2016 2015

Operating income 54,835,074$       44,461,337$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash from 

operating activities:
      Other reimbursements 1,535,783          -                         

Return on equity (Note 7) (21,033,531)      (20,840,065)        
Depreciation 41,541,561        39,104,343         
Sewerage collection fees 929,243              1,088,442           
Interest on customer deposits (51,049)              (49,691)              
Decrease (increase) in assets: 

Accounts receivable (Note 1) (1,154,054)        1,611,029           
Unbilled accounts receivable (Note 1) (1,245,698)        (1,122,971)         
Inventories 793,007              (2,386,479)         
Customer deposits (373,719)           3,287                  
Special deposit 2,845,000          2,845,000           
Net pension asset 4,020,240          2,904,472           
Other 6,687,142          (5,484,222)         

(Decrease) increase in liabilities and deferred inflows of resources: 
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses (5,927,797)        (218,674)            
Net pension asset deferrals (5,131,625)        (4,941,799)         
Other (3,776,874)        1,047,898           

Total adjustments 19,657,629        13,560,570         

Net cash provided by operating activities 74,492,703$        58,021,907$        

Non-cash capital and financing activities
Decrease in environmental liability and related regulatory asset 2,078,264$          -$                        
Impairment on Eckert Power Station 15,763,520          -                          
Write off of discontinued project 5,773,139            -                          
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Pension Trust Funds - Statements of Net Position 

As of June 30

2016 2015
Assets

Receivable - Investment interest receivable 530,155$             305,573$             

Investments at fair value:
Cash and money market trust fund 14,244,958          8,564,513            
U.S. government obligations 29,023,448          22,121,544          
Fixed income securities 39,216,076          32,582,122          
Mutual funds 154,854,298        138,830,601        
Stable value 34,193,741          31,844,948          
Partnership 1,101,086            1,098,790            
Common stock 114,508,909        162,370,016        
Self-directed brokerage account 1,551,450          1,376,730           
Participant notes receivable 3,749,371          3,888,351           

Total investments 392,443,337      402,677,615       

Net Position - Held in trust for pension 
and other employee benefits 392,973,492$      402,983,188$      
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Pension Trust Funds - Statements of Changes in Net Position 

For the Year Ended June 30
2016 2015

Increases

Investment income (loss):
Net appreciation (depreciation) 

in fair value of investments (11,813,954)$           886,489$                 
Interest and dividend income 11,303,751              11,816,649              

Net investment income (loss) (510,203)                 12,703,138              

Employer contributions 15,084,965              15,219,154              
Participant rollover contributions 2,026,588                1,345,481                
Interest from participant notes receivable 150,624                   155,010                   
Other -                              152,128                   

Total increases 16,751,974              29,574,911              

Decreases

Retiree benefits paid 25,264,964              28,168,455              
Loan defaults 186,801                   125,254                   
Participants' note and administrative fees 1,309,905                1,829,184                

Total decreases 26,761,670              30,122,893              

Change in Net Position Held in Trust (10,009,696)            (547,982)                 

Net Position Held in Trust for Pension 

and Other Employee Benefits
Beginning of year 402,983,188            403,531,170            

End of year 392,973,492$          402,983,188$          
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies 

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies used by the Board of 
Water and Light (the "BWL"): 

Reporting Entity - The BWL, a related organization of the City of Lansing, Michigan (the 
"City"), is an administrative board established by the City Charter. The City Charter 
grants the BWL full and exclusive management of the electric, water, steam, and chilled 
water services of the City. The commissioners of the governing board are appointed by 
the mayor with approval of the City Council. The BWL provides water, steam, chilled 
water, and electric services to the City and surrounding townships. The governing 
board (Board of Commissioners) has the exclusive authority to set rates for the services 
provided. The financial statements include the financial activities of the electric, water, 
steam, and chilled water operations of the BWL. The financial statements also include 
the financial activities of the BWL Pension Trust Funds. The BWL is exempt from taxes 
on income because it is a municipal entity. 

Fund Accounting - The BWL accounts for its activities in two different fund types. In 
order to demonstrate accountability for how it has spent certain resources, separate 
funds allow the BWL to show the particular expenditures that specific revenues were 
used for. The funds are aggregated into two fund types: 

Proprietary fund includes the enterprise fund (which provides goods or services to 
users in exchange for charges or fees). 

Fiduciary funds 

1. The Defined Contribution Plan and Defined Benefit Plan, which accumulate 
resources for benefit payments to retirees 

2. The VEBA, which accumulates resources for future retiree health care payments to 
retirees 

Basis of Accounting - Proprietary funds and fiduciary funds use the economic resources 
measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing 
of related cash flows. In addition, the utilities meet the criteria and, accordingly, on July 
1, 2012, the BWL adopted the accounting and reporting requirements of GASB 62, 
paragraphs 476-500. 
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

The BWL follows the accounting and reporting requirements of GASB 62, paragraphs 
476-500, which require that the effects of the ratemaking process be recorded in the 
financial statements. Such effects primarily concern the time at which various items 
enter into the determination of net income in order to follow the principle of matching 
costs and revenues. Accordingly, the BWL records various regulatory assets and 
liabilities to reflect the regulator's actions (see Note 6). Management believes that the 
BWL meets the criteria for continued application of GASB 62 paragraphs 476-500, but 
will continue to evaluate its applicability based on changes in the regulatory and 
competitive environment.  

In February 2015, the GASB issued statement No. 72 - Fair Value Measurement and 
Application.  The objective of this statement is to provide guidance for determining a 
fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes as well as to provide guidance 
for applying fair value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value 
measurements. This standard was implemented effective July 1, 2015. 

System of Accounts - The BWL's accounts are maintained substantially in accordance 
with the Uniform Systems of Accounts of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission for 
its electric and steam systems and in accordance with the Uniform Systems of Accounts 
of the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners for the water and 
chilled water systems. The chart of accounts dictates how the BWL classifies revenue 
and expense items in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 
as operating and nonoperating. 

Rate Matters - Rates charged to customers are established solely by the governing 
board. The BWL has agreed to set rates sufficient to meet certain requirements of the 
bond resolutions for the outstanding revenue bonds. 

Operating Classification - Operating revenues and expenses generally result from 
providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the principal 
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues are charges to customers for 
sales and services. Operating expenses include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses 
not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

Report Presentation - This report includes the fund-based statements of the BWL. In 
accordance with government accounting principles, a government-wide presentation 
with program and general revenues is not applicable to special purpose governments 
engaged only in business-type activities.  
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Specific Balances and Transactions 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The BWL considers demand deposits and current restricted 
funds, which consist of cash and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 
90 days or less, as cash and cash equivalents for financial statement purposes.  

Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could 
be exchanged in a current transaction between two willing parties. Fair values are 
based on quoted market prices. No investments are reported at amortized cost. 
Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value are recorded in the operating 
statement as increases or decreases in investment income. Market values may have 
changed significantly after year end. 

Investments - The BWL has established special purpose funds designated to meet 
anticipated operating requirements. In addition, BWL management has established a 
future construction fund designated to meet future construction requirements. These 
funds consist principally of commercial paper and United States government securities 
and are segregated as follows: 

Carrying Value

2016 2015

Designated purpose:
Coal inventory fluctuation 4,702,092$           4,598,714$          
Litigation, environmental, and uninsured losses 19,009,147           18,589,552          
Future water facilities 3,831,125             3,745,990            

Subtotal 27,542,364           26,934,256          

Special purpose - Future construction 80,378,838           64,651,385          

Total 107,921,202$       91,585,641$        
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable are stated at net invoice amounts. A general 
valuation allowance is established based on an analysis of the aged receivables and 
historical loss experience. All amounts deemed to be uncollectible are charged to 
expense in the period that determination is made. Accounts receivable are not deemed 
uncollectible until they are approximately 270 days past due and have remained 
completely unpaid throughout the BWL's collection policy. The components of accounts 
receivable for 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

2016 2015

Customer receivables 19,209,535$        18,491,745$        
Sewerage collections 2,295,881            2,159,867            
Miscellaneous 3,163,243            3,362,993            
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (1,500,000)          (2,000,000)          

Net 23,168,659$        22,014,605$        

 

Special Deposit - The BWL contracted with Consumer’s Energy to install a new gas 
pipeline in 2011 and at that time funded construction of this pipeline and incurred 
$15,900,000.  The BWL will subsequently be reimbursed for all but $1,675,000 of those 
costs provided minimum consumption requirements are met over the subsequent five-
year period beginning in 2015. Based on current projections, the actual consumption is 
expected to exceed the minimum requirements. The long-term other asset recorded 
was $8,535,000 and $11,380,000 in 2016 and 2015, respectively.  
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Inventories - Inventories are stated at weighted average cost and consist of the 
following at June 30: 

2016 2015

Coal 10,979,780$        11,275,408$        
Gas 706,758               936,671               
Materials and supplies 13,381,199          13,648,664          

Total 25,067,737$        25,860,743$        

 
Utility Plant - The utility plant is stated on the basis of cost, which includes 
expenditures for new facilities and those which extend the useful lives of existing 
facilities and equipment. Expenditures for normal repairs and maintenance are charged 
to maintenance expense as incurred. Interest incurred during the construction phase is 
reflected in the capitalized value of the capital assets constructed. Capital assets are 
generally defined as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $2,000 and an 
estimated life in excess of one year. 

Depreciation - Depreciation of the utility plant is computed using the straight-line 
method based on estimated useful lives, except for depreciation related to the Central 
Utilities Complex, which is computed in accordance with GASB 62 paragraphs 476-500. 
The resulting provisions for depreciation in 2016 and 2015, expressed as a percentage 
of the average depreciable cost of the related assets, are as follows: 

Average Rate (Percent)
Life 

(Years) 2016 2015
Classification of utility plant:

Water 4-100 1.8               1.8               
Electric 4-50 3.6               3.4               
Steam 5-50 3.5               3.5               
Chilled water 5-50 3.6               3.4               
Common facilities 4-50 4.8               4.1               
Central Utilities Complex 15 3.8               6.7               

 

When units of property are retired, their costs are removed from the utility plant and 
charged to accumulated depreciation. 



Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan 

Notes to Financial Statements 
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

  18

Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Accrued Compensated Absences - The BWL records a liability for estimated 
compensated absences that are attributable to services already rendered and that are 
not contingent on a specific event that is outside the control of the BWL and its 
employees. This liability is accrued as employees earn the rights to such benefits. The 
BWL estimates the total current and noncurrent portions of the liability to be 
$11,423,121 and $11,008,727 as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  

Capital Contributions - Capital contributions represent nonrefundable amounts 
received for the purpose of construction for the utility plant. These contributions are 
from third parties, including amounts from customers, grant programs, and insurance 
proceeds from damage.  Electric, water, and steam contributions are credited against 
the related assets or recorded as a separate regulatory liability and will offset the 
depreciation of the related assets over the estimated useful lives. This treatment is 
consistent with the BWL's ratemaking policy and is thus permitted under GASB 62 
paragraphs 476-500. 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - In addition to assets, the statement of net 
position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The BWL has 
two items that qualify for reporting in this category.  The deferred outflows of resources 
relate to deferred losses on refunding and pension relation deferrals under GASB 68. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, 
deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a 
future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that 
time. The BWL has the following items that qualify for reporting in this category: the 
deferred inflows of resources related to costs that have been incurred and will be billed 
to customers in the future related to the renewable energy plan and energy 
optimization, chiller plant, and Wise Road items described in Note 6, and pension 
related deferrals under GASB 68. 
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Net Position - Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components: 

 Net Investment in Capital Assets - Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation, and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds that are 
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

 Restricted for Debt Service - Consists of net position with constraints placed on 
their use by revenue bond resolution. 

 Unrestricted - All other net position that does not meet the definition of “restricted” 
or “net investment in capital assets.” 

Net Position Flow Assumption - Sometimes the BWL will fund outlays for a particular 
purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond) and unrestricted resources. In order 
to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net position and unrestricted net 
position in the proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made 
about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the BWL’s 
policy to consider restricted net position to have been depleted before unrestricted net 
position is applied. 

Net Pension Asset – A net pension asset is recorded in accordance with GASB Statement 
No. 68. The asset is the difference between the actuarial total pension asset and the 
Plan’s fiduciary net position as of the measurement date. See Note 8 for additional 
information.  

Other Assets – Other assets consists of the net OPEB asset described in Note 8 and a 
deposit held with the Michigan Public Power Agency (MPPA) related to the Belle River 
project.  

Long-Term Obligations - Long-term debt and other obligations are reported as 
liabilities. Bond premiums and discounts are amortized over the life of the bonds using 
the straight-line method. Gains or losses on prior refundings are amortized over the 
remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter. The 
balance at year end for premiums and discounts is shown as an increase or decrease in 
the liability section of the statement of net position. The balance at year end for the 
loss on refunding is shown as a deferred outflow in the balance sheet. 
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Unbilled Accounts Receivable and Revenue - Unbilled accounts receivable at June 30, 
2016 and 2015 represents the estimated amount of accounts receivable for services 
that have not been billed as of the balance sheet date. The amounts are a result of a 
timing difference between the end of the financial statement cycle (month end) and the 
billing cycle (various dates within the month for each billing period). Accordingly, the 
current year revenue from customers whose billing period ends after June 30 for 
services rendered prior to June 30 will be recognized in the current period.  

Interutility Transactions - The water, electric, steam, and chilled water operations of the 
BWL bill each other for services provided and these services are reported as revenue to 
the generating operation and expense to the consuming operation. Such internal 
billings aggregated $8,496,848 and $7,956,814 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, and 
are not eliminated in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets. 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

Reclassifications - Certain amounts presented in the prior year data may have been 
reclassified in order to be consistent with the current year's presentation.   

Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure 

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) 
authorizes local governmental units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of 
federally insured banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations that have 
offices in Michigan. A local unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other 
direct obligations of the United States or any agency or instrumentality of the United 
States; certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts, or depository 
receipts of an eligible financial institution; repurchase agreements; bankers' 
acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated within the two highest 
classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase; 
obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions, which are rated as 
investment grade; and mutual funds composed of investment vehicles that are legal for 
direct investment by local units of government in Michigan.  
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Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

The operating cash investment policy adopted by the BWL in accordance with Public Act 
20, as amended, and the Lansing City Charter has authorized investment in bonds and 
securities of the United States government, certificates of deposit, time deposits, and 
bankers' acceptances of qualified financial institutions, commercial paper rated A1 by 
Standard & Poor's and P1 by Moody's, repurchase agreements using bonds, securities, 
and other obligations of the United States or an agency or instrumentality of the United 
States, and liquid asset accounts managed by a qualified financial institution using any 
of these securities. The BWL's deposits and investment policies are in accordance with 
statutory authority. 

The BWL's cash and investments are subject to several types of risk, which are 
examined in more detail below: 

BWL’s Cash and Investments (exclusive of fiduciary funds) 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the 
event of a bank failure, the BWL's deposits may not be returned to it. The BWL requires 
that financial institutions must meet minimum criteria to offer adequate safety to the 
BWL. At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the BWL had $1,605,366 and $1,666,654, 
respectively, of bank deposits that were uninsured and uncollateralized. The BWL 
evaluates each financial institution with which it deposits funds and only those 
institutions meeting minimum established criteria are used as depositories. 

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments - Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event 
of the failure of the counterparty, the BWL will not be able to recover the value of its 
investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The 
BWL does not have a policy for custodial credit risk.  

At June 30, 2016, the following investment securities were uninsured and unregistered, 
with securities held by the counterparty or by its trust department or agent, but not in 
the BWL's name: 

Type of Investment Cost Basis How Held

U.S. government or agency bond or notes 92,921,202$      Counterparty  
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Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

At June 30, 2015, the following investment securities were uninsured and unregistered, 
with securities held by the counterparty or by its trust department or agent, but not in 
the BWL's name: 

Type of Investment Cost Basis How Held

U.S. government or agency bond or notes 91,596,540$      Counterparty  

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will 
decrease as a result of a rise in interest rates. The BWL's investment policy restricts 
investments to a maximum weighted average life of five years unless matched to a 
specific cash flow.  

At June 30, 2016, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value
Less than

1 year 1-5 years 6-10 years

Pooled investment funds 47,145,988$       47,145,988$       -$                       -$                       
U.S. treasury bonds 38,056,849          1,743,554            36,313,295        -                          
U.S. agency bonds/notes 45,283,538          7,822,012            36,381,417        1,080,109           
Commercial paper 7,447,318            7,447,318            -                         -                          
Supra national agency bonds 2,008,658            501,352               1,507,306          -                          
Mutual funds 124,840             124,840             -                        -                        

Totals 140,067,191$     64,785,064$       74,202,018$      1,080,109$        

 
At June 30, 2015, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value
Less than

1 year 1-5 years 6-10 years

Pooled investment funds 71,700,404$       71,700,404$       -$                       -$                       
Mutual funds 150,565             150,565             -                        -                        
U.S. government or agency
      bond or note 91,435,063        29,617,760        61,817,303       -                        

Totals 163,286,032$     101,468,729$     61,817,303$      -$                       
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Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

Credit Risk - State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings 
issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations.  

As of June 30, 2016, the credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. 
government) are as follows: 

Fair Value Rating
Rating 

Organization

Pooled investment funds 47,145,988$        AAA S&P
U.S. treasury bonds 38,056,849          AA+ S&P
U.S. agency bonds/notes 45,283,538          AA+ S&P
Commercial paper 7,447,318            A1/A1+ S&P
Supra national agency bonds 2,008,658            AAA S&P
Mutual funds 124,840               AAAM S&P

Investment

 
As of June 30, 2015, the credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. 
government) are as follows: 

Fair Value Rating
Rating 

Organization

Pooled investment funds 71,850,969$       AAA S&P
Mutual funds 150,565             AAAM S&P
U.S government or agency bonds/notes 91,435,063          AA+ S&P

Investment

 

Concentration of Credit Risk - As of June 30, 2016 and 2015 no more than 5 percent of 
the BWL's investments are invested in any one issuer or commercial paper or 
bonds/notes not guaranteed by the U.S. government.  

Fair Value 

The BWL categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy 
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the 
valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other 
observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. 
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Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

The following investments are recorded at fair value using the Matrix Pricing Technique.  

Enterprise funds

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

U.S. Treasury Bonds -$                         38,056,849$      -$                        38,056,849$     
Supra national agency bonds -                           2,008,659          -                          2,008,659         
Federal Agency Mortgage-Backed Security -                           1,080,107          -                          1,080,107         
Federal Agency Collateralized Mortgage Obligation -                           1,542,108          -                          1,542,108         
Federal Agency Bond/Note -                           42,661,321        -                          42,661,321       
Commercial Paper -                           7,447,318          -                          7,447,318         
Mutual funds -                         124,840           -                         124,840          

Total investments by fair value level -$                        92,921,202$     -$                       92,921,202$    

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

U.S. Treasury Bonds -$                         49,791,535$      -$                        49,791,535$     
Supra national agency bonds -                           503,519             -                          503,519            
Federal Agency Collateralized Mortgage Obligation -                           351,881             -                          351,881            
Federal Agency Bond/Note -                           40,788,128        -                          40,788,128       
Mutual funds -                         150,565           -                         150,565          

Total investments by fair value level -$                        91,585,628$     -$                       91,585,628$    

Investment
June 30, 2016

June 30, 2015

Investment
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Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

Fiduciary Fund Investments 

Interest Rate Risk – Pension Trust Funds 

At June 30, 2016, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value
Weighted Average 
Maturity (in years)

U.S. government or agency bond 29,023,448$          13.38
Money market trust funds 13,442,797            Less than 1 year
Corporate bonds 39,216,076            13.46

 

At June 30, 2015, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value
Weighted Average 
Maturity (in years)

U.S. government or agency bond 22,121,544$          11.91
Money market trust funds 7,958,648              Less than 1 year
Corporate bonds 32,582,122            14.13

 



Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan 

Notes to Financial Statements 
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

  26

Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

Credit Risk – Pension Trust Funds 

As of June 30, 2016, the credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. 
government) are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value  Rating 
 Rating 

Organization 
Mutual funds 124,001,268$    Not Rated Not Rated
Government or agency bond 7,565,160          Not Rated Not Rated
Stable value 34,193,741        AA S&P
Corporate bonds 1,885,055          AAA S&P
Corporate bonds 14,401,372        AA+ S&P
Corporate bonds 710,620             AA S&P
Corporate bonds 523,627             AA- S&P
Corporate bonds 1,313,047          A+ S&P
Corporate bonds 4,246,010          A S&P
Corporate bonds 3,606,010          A- S&P
Corporate bonds 7,510,323          BBB+ S&P
Corporate bonds 3,368,004          BBB S&P
Corporate bonds 1,426,684          BBB- S&P
Corporate bonds 8,185                 BB+ S&P
Corporate bonds 56,350               BB S&P
Corporate bonds 54,445               BB- S&P
Corporate bonds 106,344             CCC S&P
Money market trust funds 13,442,797        Not Rated Not Rated  



Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan 

Notes to Financial Statements 
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

  27

Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

As of June 30, 2015, the credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. 
government) are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value  Rating 
 Rating 

Organization 
Mutual funds 138,830,601$    Not Rated Not Rated
Government or agency bond 22,121,544        Not Rated Not Rated
Stable value 31,844,948        AA S&P
Corporate bonds 3,509,599          AAA S&P
Corporate bonds 12,528,632        AA+ S&P
Corporate bonds 709,117             AA S&P
Corporate bonds 441,815             AA- S&P
Corporate bonds 1,424,862          A+ S&P
Corporate bonds 2,614,518          A S&P
Corporate bonds 3,513,111          A- S&P
Corporate bonds 2,559,638          BBB+ S&P
Corporate bonds 1,982,318          BBB S&P
Corporate bonds 1,195,013          BBB- S&P
Corporate bonds 262,236             BB+ S&P
Corporate bonds 109,150             BB S&P
Corporate bonds 279,092             BB- S&P
Corporate bonds 102,069             B+ S&P
Corporate bonds 141,348             B S&P
Corporate bonds 574,676             B- S&P
Corporate bonds 508,305             CCC S&P
Corporate bonds 126,625             CC S&P

 

Fair Value – Pension Trust Funds 

The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3). The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy under authoritative guidance are described as follows: 

Level 1 -  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted market prices 
for identical assets in active markets that the Plan has the ability to 
access. 
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Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

> quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
> quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive 

markets; 
> inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 

liability; 
> inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable 

market data by correlation or other means. 
> If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the level 2 

input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or 
liability 

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to 
the fair value measurement. 

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is 
based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
Valuation techniques maximize the use of relevant observables and minimize the use 
of unobservable inputs. 

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured 
at fair value. There have been no changes in the methodologies used at June 30, 2016 
and 2015: 

Money market fund, growth funds, and international funds:  Valued at the quoted net 
asset value ("NAV") of shares held by the Plan at year end. 

Partnership:  Valued using either NAV, valuations provided by management reflecting 
the partnership’s share of capital account balance, or the income and market approach. 

Common stock, corporate bonds and notes, U.S. government obligations, and fixed 
income securities: Valued at the most recent closing price reported on the market on 
which individual securities are traded. 

Mutual funds:  Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Mutual funds 
held by the Plan are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. These funds are required to publish their daily NAV and to 
transact at that price. The mutual funds held by the Plan are deemed to be actively 
traded. 
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Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

Stable value fund: The Plus Fund is a collective fund that seeks to maintain a stable net 
asset value.  It invests primarily in a diversified portfolio of stable-value investments, 
including traditional guaranteed investment contracts (traditional GICs), separate 
account GICs, synthetic GICs backed by fixed income securities or investments, and 
short-term investment funds, including money market mutual funds.   

Guaranteed Lifetime Income fund: The Retirement Income Advantage Fund seeks both 
moderate capital growth and current income. It invests in a separate account under a 
group variable annuity. The separate account, in turn, invests in a mix of registered 
funds and a collective trust fund with an allocation of approximately 60% domestic and 
foreign equities and 40% fixed income. 

Self-directed brokerage account: The self-directed brokerage account allows 
participants of the Plan the option of selecting a more personalized and broad range of 
investment choices. The investments within the account consist of corporate stocks, 
which are valued at the most recent closing price reported on the market on which 
individual securities are traded. 

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative 
of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Plan 
believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market 
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair 
value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement 
at the reporting date. 
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Note 2 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Value Disclosure (Continued) 

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Plan’s assets 
at fair value as of June 30, 2016 and 2015: 

 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and money market trust fund 798,902$           13,446,056$            -$                  14,244,958$               
U.S. government obligations -                         29,023,448              -                    29,023,448                 
Fixed income securities -                         39,216,076              -                    39,216,076                 
Mutual funds 124,001,268      23,117,545              -                    147,118,813               
Partnership -                         -                               1,101,086     1,101,086                   
Common Stocks 114,508,909      -                               -                    114,508,909               
Self-directed brokerage account 1,551,450          -                               -                    1,551,450                   

Total investments by fair value level 240,860,529      104,803,125            1,101,086     346,764,740               

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)
Stable value 34,193,741                 
Guaranteed Lifetime Income 7,735,485                   

Total investments measured at fair value 388,693,966$             

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and money market trust fund 193,939$           8,370,574$              -$                  8,564,513$                 
U.S. government obligations -                         22,121,544              -                    22,121,544                 
Fixed income securities -                         32,582,122              -                    32,582,122                 
Mutual funds 130,790,091      2,819,994                -                    133,610,085               
Partnership -                         -                               1,098,790     1,098,790                   
Common Stocks 162,370,016      -                               -                    162,370,016               
Self-directed brokerage account 1,376,730          -                               -                    1,376,730                   

Total investments by fair value level 294,730,776      65,894,234              1,098,790     361,723,800               

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)
Stable value 31,844,948                 
Guaranteed Lifetime Income 5,220,516                   

Total investments measured at fair value 398,789,264$             

June 30, 2016

June 30, 2015
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Note 3 - Restricted Assets 

Restricted assets are required under the 2008A, 2011A, 2012A, and 2013A Revenue 
Bond resolutions and the related Nonarbitrage and Tax Compliance Certificates. These 
assets, which consist of cash, commercial paper, and United States government 
securities, are segregated into the following funds: 

Carrying Value
Required at

June 30, 2016 2016 2015

Current:
Operations and Maintenance Fund 27,416,700$         80,922,920$         88,301,618$         
Bond and Interest Redemption Fund 19,169,626           19,301,123           19,689,041           

Total current 46,586,326           100,224,043         107,990,659         

Noncurrent:
Bond Reserve Fund 24,263,950           25,319,385           24,951,608           

Total noncurrent 24,263,950           25,319,385           24,951,608           

Total 70,850,276$         125,543,428$       132,942,267$       

 
The carrying value in excess of the required value for the current portion is reported as 
cash and cash equivalents or investments for the year ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. 
The restrictions of the various funds are as follows: 

 Operations and Maintenance Fund - By the end of each month, this fund shall 
include sufficient funds to provide for payment of the succeeding month's 
expenses. 
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Note 3 - Restricted Assets (Continued) 

 Bond and Interest Redemption Fund - Restricted for payment of the current portion 
of bond principal and interest on the 2008A, 2009A, 2011A, 2012A, and 2013A 
Revenue Bonds. 

 Bond Reserve Fund - Shall include sufficient funds to cover the maximum annual 
principal and interest requirements of the 2008A, 2011A, 2012A, and 2013A 
Revenue Bonds. The Nonarbitrage and Tax Compliance Certification stipulates that 
the amount in the fund shall be valued at amortized cost to meet this requirement. 
As of June 30, 2016, the cost basis in the fund was $24,936,608. 

Note 4 – Utility Plant 

The tables below reflect the capital asset activity of the utility plant categories for the 
years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015: 

 Capital Assets 

FY Start  Transfers Acquisition  Retirement 

 Capital Assets

 FY End 

Water 296,802,952$         (17,925)$                7,034,735$            (1,653,985)$           302,165,777$         
Electric 804,947,799           270,959                31,723,805          (62,513,349)         774,429,214          
Steam 67,510,134             -                            1,962,134            (914,937)              68,557,331            
Chilled 33,622,140             -                            376,000               -                            33,998,140            
Common 87,132,519             (253,034)               2,320,478            (447,531)              88,752,432            
CUC 76,079,000             -                            -                           -                            76,079,000            

Total 1,366,094,544$      -$                           43,417,152$          (65,529,802)$         1,343,981,894$      

Capital Asset Activity for Year Ended June 30, 2016

 



Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan 

Notes to Financial Statements 
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

  33

Note 4 – Utility Plant (Continued) 

 Accum. Depr.

FY Start 

 Depreciation 

Transfer 

 Depr. / Amort. 

and Impairment 

for Year 

 Depreciation 

Retirement 

 Accum. Depr.     

FY End 

Water (89,634,586)$          22,137$                 (7,266,780)$           1,375,121$            (95,504,108)$          
Electric (445,376,095)          (143,371)                (28,379,813)           43,306,278            (430,593,001)          
Steam (14,777,519)            -                             (2,377,839)             542,937                 (16,612,421)            
Chilled (9,027,683)              -                             (1,203,561)             -                             (10,231,244)            
Common (41,098,115)            121,234                 (4,255,352)             311,397                 (44,920,836)            
CUC (65,935,132)            -                             (5,071,933)             -                             (71,007,065)            

Total (665,849,130)$        -$                           (48,555,278)$         45,535,733$          (668,868,675)$        

Accumulated Depreciation for Year Ended June 30, 2016

Non-depreciable assets - Included in the table above are non-depreciable assets of $1,196,847 
for water, $11,171,356 for electric, $124,224 for steam and $412,339 for common facilities. 

Eckert Power Station Impairment - In 2016, the Board approved to close the Eckert Power 
Station by 2020 due to increasing operating costs, pending environmental regulations, and an 
uncertain future for coal-fired plants. As a result, BWL recorded an impairment of $15,763,520 
in 2016 using the service units approach to measure the impairment. 
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Note 4 – Utility Plant (Continued) 

 Capital Assets 

FY Start  Transfers Acquisition  Retirement 

 Capital Assets

 FY End 

Water 288,627,287$         25,014$                 9,096,693$            (946,042)$              296,802,952$         
Electric 773,262,520           51,658                  34,925,022          (3,291,401)           804,947,799          
Steam 64,685,056             -                            3,136,196            (311,118)              67,510,134            
Chilled 32,917,461             -                            704,679               -                            33,622,140            
Common 75,026,577             (76,672)                 12,628,678          (446,064)              87,132,519            
CUC 76,079,000             -                            -                           -                            76,079,000            

Total 1,310,597,901$      -$                           60,491,268$          (4,994,625)$           1,366,094,544$      

Capital Asset Activity for Year Ended June 30, 2015

 

 Accum. Depr.

FY Start 

 Depreciation 

Transfer 

 Depr. / Amort. for 

Year 

 Depreciation 

Retirement 

 Accum. Depr.     

FY End 

Water (84,984,612)$          (25,014)$                (5,147,689)$           522,729$               (89,634,586)$          
Electric (420,474,747)          3,099                     (27,158,634)           2,254,187              (445,376,095)          
Steam (12,551,842)            -                             (2,313,839)             88,162                   (14,777,519)            
Chilled (7,887,640)              -                             (1,140,043)             -                             (9,027,683)              
Common (37,987,471)            21,915                   (3,344,139)             211,580                 (41,098,115)            
CUC (60,863,199)            -                             (5,071,933)             -                             (65,935,132)            

Total (624,749,511)$        -$                           (44,176,277)$         3,076,658$            (665,849,130)$        

Accumulated Depreciation for Year Ended June 30, 2015

Non-depreciable assets - Included in the table above are non-depreciable assets of $1,193,788 
for water, $6,793,620 for electric, $124,224 for steam and $412,339 for common facilities. 
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Note 5 - Long-term Debt 

Long-term debt as of June 30 consists of the following: 

2016 2015

Water Supply, Steam, Chilled Water, and Electric Utility
System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2013A, due in
annual principal installments beginning July 1, 2013 through
July 1, 2026, plus interest at rates ranging from 2.00% to
5.00%. Original amount of issue $21,085,000. 19,450,000$     20,830,000$      

Water Supply, Steam, Chilled Water, and Electric Utility
System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012A, due in
annual principal installments beginning July 1, 2013 through
July 1, 2018, plus interest at rates ranging from 2.00% to
5.00%. Original amount of issue $17,370,000. 15,735,000       16,355,000        

Water Supply, Steam, Chilled Water, and Electric Utility
System Revenue Bonds, Series 2011A, due in annual
principal installments beginning July 1, 2015 through July 1,
2041, plus interest at rates ranging from 3.00% to 5.50%.
Original amount of issue $250,000,000. 249,995,000     250,000,000      
Water Supply, Steam, Chilled Water, and Electric Utility
System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009A, due in
annual principal installments due serially through July 1, 2016,
plus interest at a rate of 5.34%. Original amount of issue
$46,255,000. 3,030,000         11,215,000        

Water Supply Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2008A,
due serially beginning July 1, 2012 and continuing through
July 1, 2032, plus interest at rates ranging from 3.00% to
5.00%. Original amount of issue $40,000,000. 39,165,000       39,985,000        
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Note 5 - Long-term Debt (Continued) 
2016 2015

Promissory note, due to the City of Lansing in semi-annual
installments through October 1, 2024, plus interest at a rate of
2.50%. Orignial amount of issue $13,225,385. 8,932,605$       9,554,048$        

Granger III Corporation for ash hauling services due in
monthly installments ranging from $150,000 to $250,000 -                        1,650,712          

City of Lansing Agreement for the Enhancement of the Flood
warning system $10,000 annually with final payment in 2016. -                        10,000               

Charter Township of Lansing Special Assessment pertaining
to the Groesbeck II Park Drain. Due in annual installments
ranging from $132,000 to $291,000 with final payment in
2044. 3,662,856         -                        

Total 339,970,461     349,599,760      

Less current portion (11,642,389)      (13,299,345)      

Plus unamortized premium 9,777,301       10,743,879       

Total long-term portion 338,105,373$   347,044,294$    

 

The unamortized premium and deferral on refunded bonds is being amortized over the 
life of the bonds, using the straight-line method. 
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Note 5 - Long-term Debt (Continued) 

Aggregate principal and interest payments applicable to long-term debt are as follows: 

Principal Interest Total

2017 11,642,389$          16,650,196$          28,292,585$          
2018 8,986,310              16,184,020            25,170,330            
2019 9,371,241              15,777,019            25,148,260            
2020 7,839,147              15,391,183            23,230,330            
2021 8,183,523              15,047,557            23,231,080            
2022-2026 46,499,053            69,094,488            115,593,541          
2027-2031 58,932,557            56,516,580            115,449,137          
2032-2036 73,110,103            40,293,976            113,404,079          
2037-2041 93,251,527            19,231,686            112,483,213          
2042-2044 22,154,611            5,951,755              28,106,366            

Total 339,970,461$        270,138,460$        610,108,921$        

 

The 2008A, 2011A, 2012A, and 2013A bonds require the BWL to establish a reserve 
account equal to the highest annual principal and interest requirements of such issues. 
As of June 30, 2016, the balance of this reserve account was $25,319,385 (see Note 3).  
The 2009A bonds were a private placement issue and have no reserve requirement. 

All Water Supply and Electric Utility System Revenue Bonds were issued by authority of 
the BWL.  Except for the Series 2009A Subordinate Lien Revenue Refunding Bond, all 
bonds were issued on a parity basis and are payable solely from the net revenue of the 
combined water, electric, chilled water, and steam operations of the BWL. 
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Note 5 - Long-term Debt (Continued) 

The 2012A Bond is payable in annual installments in the years 2013 to 2018, inclusive, 
and shall not be subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.  

The Series 2011A Bond is payable in annual installments in the years 2015 to 2022, 
inclusive, and shall not be subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.  The Bonds 
maturing on or after July 1, 2022 shall be subject to redemption at the option of the 
BWL on or after July 1, 2021 as a whole or in part at any time and by lot within a 
maturity at par plus interest accrued to the redemption date. 

The Series 2009A Bond is payable in annual installments in the years 2010 to 2016, 
inclusive, and shall not be subject to optional redemption prior to maturity. 

The Series 2008A Bonds maturing in the years 2012 to 2028, inclusive, shall not be 
subject to optional redemption prior to maturity. The bonds, or portions of bonds in 
multiples of $5,000 maturing in the years 2019 to 2032, inclusive, shall be subject to 
redemption at the option of the BWL in such order of maturity as the BWL shall 
determine and within a single maturity by lot on any date on or after July 1, 2018, at 
par plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

The long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 is as follows: 

Revenue
Bonds

Other
Notes Total

Beginning balance 349,128,869$        11,214,770$          360,343,639$        

Additions -                             3,789,161              3,789,161              
Reductions (11,976,578)           (2,408,460)             (14,385,038)           

Ending balance 337,152,291$        12,595,471$          349,747,762$        

Due within one year 10,885,000$          757,389$               11,642,389$           
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Note 5 - Long-term Debt (Continued) 

The BWL has pledged substantially all revenue, net of operating expenses, to repay the 
revenue bonds. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the construction of the 
utility plant. The bonds are payable solely from the net revenues of the BWL. The 
remaining principal and interest to be paid on the bonds total $593,866,251. During 
the current year, net revenues of the BWL were $57,353,974 compared to the annual 
debt requirements of $25,871,300. 

The long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2015 is as follows: 

Revenue
Bonds

Other
Notes Total

Beginning balance 364,250,463$        14,884,003$          379,134,466$        

Additions -                             -                             -                             
Reductions (15,121,594)           (3,669,233)             (18,790,827)           

Ending balance 349,128,869$        11,214,770$          360,343,639$        

Due within one year 11,010,000$          2,289,345$            13,299,345$           

Note 6 - Costs/Credits Recoverable in Future Years 

Central Utilities Complex 

The BWL accounts for amortization of its Central Utilities Complex (CUC), which is a 
separate operating unit of the BWL, under the regulatory basis of accounting as per 
GASB 62. The BWL has recorded recoverable (revenue) amortization of $(5,071,934) and 
$(7,241,153) at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Under an agreement with a BWL 
customer, the bonded debt related to the construction of the CUC will be reimbursed 
through payments to be received from this customer through 2017. The recoverable 
(revenue) amortization balance represents the difference between calculated straight-
line amortization expense and the reimbursement payments received from the 
customer at year end.  
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Note 6 - Costs/Credits Recoverable in Future Years (Continued) 

Environmental Remediation 

The GASB 49 environmental remediation liability related to a landfill site operated by 
the BWL was approved for regulated entity accounting under GASB 62 during the year 
ended June 30, 2004.  As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, $20,848,000 in total costs has 
been recoverable as a regulatory asset.   

As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, the amounts remaining to be recovered in rates were $0 
and $37,756, respectively. The BWL reviews the adequacy of its rates to recover its cost 
of service on an annual basis. 

During the year ended June 30, 2006, the GASB 49 environmental remediation liability 
related to a second landfill was approved for regulated entity accounting under GASB 
62.  The balance of the regulatory asset at June 30, 2016 and 2015 was $7,076,982 
and $14,176,684 respectively. The BWL reviews the adequacy of its rates to recover its 
cost of service on an annual basis. During the year ended June 30, 2009, regulatory 
accounting as per GASB 62 was authorized by the Board of Commissioners to collect 
rates for all environmental remediation sites. The balance as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 
for additional sites was $4,406,587 and $4,401,565, respectively. 

Recoverable Cost Adjustments 

During the year ended June 30, 2005, the Board of Commissioners approved the use of 
regulatory accounting as per GASB 62 in accounting for the BWL's energy cost 
adjustment (ECA), power chemical adjustment (PCA), and fuel cost adjustment (FCA). 
These affect the amount to be billed to retail electricity, water, and steam customers to 
reflect the difference between the BWL's actual material costs and the amounts 
incorporated into rates. This resulted in recoverable assets of $2,302,845 and 
$4,652,068 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. This amount represents costs to 
be billed to customers in future years because actual costs of providing utilities were 
higher than the costs incorporated into the BWL's rates.  
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Note 6 - Costs/Credits Recoverable in Future Years (Continued) 

Renewable Energy Plan (REP) and Energy Optimization (EO) 

During the year ended June 30, 2010, the Board of Commissioners approved the 
implementation of regulatory accounting as per GASB 62 to account for Public Act 295 
of 2008 (PA. 295). PA. 295 set forth requirements for all Michigan utilities to meet the 
new renewable energy standards and undertake energy optimization programs.  As a 
municipally owned electric utility, the BWL was required to file a proposed energy plan 
with the Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) and this plan was approved on July 
1, 2009.  These changes will affect the amount to be billed to electric customers.  This 
resulted in deferred inflow of resources of $6,217,249 and $6,953,049 as of June 30, 
2016 and 2015, respectively.  

Chiller Plant 

During the year ended June 30, 2010, the BWL chose to use regulatory accounting as 
per GASB 62 to recognize the contribution in aid of construction (CIAC) for the 
development of a new chilled water plant.  This resulted in recoverable inflow of 
resources of $1,982,444 and $2,202,716 as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  
The BWL will recognize this as revenue monthly over the life of the new chilled water 
plant to offset depreciation expense. 

Wise Road 

During the year ended June 30, 2012, the BWL chose to use regulatory accounting as per 
GASB 62 to recognize the insurance proceeds for the damaged equipment at the Wise 
Road Water Conditioning Plant (see Note 13).  The remaining recoverable inflow of 
resources as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 was $12,692,245 and $13,511,589 
respectively. 



Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan 

Notes to Financial Statements 
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

  42

Note 7 - Transactions with the City of Lansing, Michigan 

Operations - The BWL recognized revenue of $8,445,860 and $9,834,276 in 2016 and 
2015, respectively, for water, electric, and steam services provided to the City. The BWL 
incurred expenses for sewerage services purchased from the City of $849,884 and 
$964,302 in 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Additionally, the BWL bills and collects sewerage fees for the City. In connection with 
these services, the BWL received sewerage collection fees of $929,243 and $1,087,668 
in 2016 and 2015, respectively, included in other income. 

Return on Equity - Effective July 1, 1992, the BWL entered into an agreement with the 
City to provide an annual payment of a return on equity in accordance with a formula 
based on net billed retail sales from its water, steam heat, and electric utilities for the 
preceding 12-month period ending May 31 of each year. Effective March 1, 2002, the 
formula to calculate the amount owed to the City for return on equity will also include 
wholesale revenue generated from the BWL's electric, water, steam, and chilled water 
utilities for the preceding 12-month period ending May 31 of each year. Subject to the 
provisions of Act 94 Public Acts of 1933, as amended, and the BWL's various bond 
covenants, this amount is payable to the City no later than June 30 of each year. Under 
terms of this agreement, the BWL paid to the City $21,033,531 in 2016 and 
$20,840,065 in 2015 of operational cash flow in excess of debt service requirements. 

Note 8 - Retirement Plans 

The BWL has three retirement plans. The BWL administers a tax-qualified, single-
employer, noncontributory, defined benefit public employee retirement pension plan 
(the “Defined Benefit Plan”), and the BWL has a tax-qualified, single-employer, 
noncontributory, defined contribution public employee retirement pension plan (the 
“Defined Contribution Plan”). The BWL also has a tax-qualified, single-employer, 
defined benefit plan to administer and fund retiree healthcare benefits (the “Retiree 
Benefit Plan and Trust”). 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Defined Benefit Plan  

Plan Description - The BWL Board administers the Defined Benefit Plan - a 
noncontributory single-employer defined benefit pension plan for employees of the 
BWL.  The benefit terms were established by the BWL and may be amended by future 
BWL actions. 

The Plan for Employees' Pensions of the Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, 
Michigan - Defined Benefit Plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes 
financial statements and required supplementary information. That report may be 
obtained by writing to the Board of Water and Light, Chief Financial Officer, P.O. Box 
13007, Lansing, Michigan 48901-3007. 

Management of the Plan is vested in the BWL, which consists of eight members 
appointed by the mayor of the City of Lansing, Michigan. 

Effective July 1, 1999, the Defined Benefit Plan was amended to include a medical 
benefit component, in addition to the normal retirement benefits, to fund a portion of 
the postretirement obligations for certain retirees and their beneficiaries. The funding 
of the medical benefit component is limited to the amount of excess pension plan 
assets available for transfer, as determined by the actuary. No medical benefits were 
paid by the Defined Benefit Plan during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms - At February 28, 2016 and 2015 (the most recent 
actuarial valuation for funding purposes), Defined Benefit Plan membership consisted of 
the following: 

2016 2015

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries 
     currently receiving benefits 382                      398                      

Inactive plan members entitled to but not 
     yet receiving benefits 7                          8                          

Active plan members 11                        14                        

Total 400                      420                      
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

The Defined Benefit Plan, by resolution of the board of commissioners, was closed to 
employees hired subsequent to December 31, 1996, and a defined contribution plan 
was established for employees hired after December 31, 1996. Effective December 1, 
1997, all active participants in this plan were required to make an irrevocable choice to 
either remain in this plan (defined benefit) or move to the newly established defined 
contribution plan. Those participants who elected to move to the defined contribution 
plan received lump-sum distributions from this plan that were rolled into their 
accounts in the newly established defined contribution plan. Of the 760 employees who 
were required to make this election, 602 elected to convert their retirement benefits to 
the newly established defined contribution plan. As a result of this action, effective 
December 1, 1997, the board of commissioners transferred $75,116,470 to the newly 
established defined contribution plan, reflecting the plan participants’ accumulated 
benefits as of said date. 

Benefits Provided - The Defined Benefit Plan provides retirement, early retirement, 
disability, termination, and death benefits.  The Plan provides for an annual benefit 
upon normal retirement age equal to the product of the total number of years of 
credited service multiplied by a percentage equal to 1.80 percent of the highest annual 
pay during the last 10 years of service, paid in equal monthly installments. 

Payments will either be non-increasing or increase only as follows: (a) By an annual 
percentage increase that does not exceed the annual percentage increase in a cost-of-
living index that is based on prices of all items and issued by the Bureau of Labor 
Statistics; (b) To the extent of the reduction in the amount of the employee's payments 
to provide for a survivor benefit upon death, but only if the beneficiary whose life was 
being used to determine the distribution period described in subsection 8 dies or is no 
longer the employee's beneficiary pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order 
within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code Section 414(p); (c) To provide cash 
refunds of employee contributions upon the employee's death; or (d) To pay increased 
benefits that result from a plan amendment. 

Contributions - Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan constitution requires that 
financial benefits arising on account of employee service rendered in each year be 
funded during that year. Accordingly, the BWL Pension Board retains an independent 
actuary to determine the annual contribution. The actuarially determined rate is the 
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by plan members 
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  
There was no contribution required for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2016.  Plan 
documents do not require participant contributions. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Net Pension Asset - The components of the net pension asset of the BWL at June 30, 
2016 and June 30, 2015 were as follows (in thousands): 

2016 2015

Total pension liability 61,178$           65,395$           

Plan fiduciary net position 65,442             73,679             

Plan's net pension asset (4,264)$            (8,284)$            

Plan fiduciary net position, as a percentage of 
     the total pension liability 106.97%          112.67%           

The BWL has chosen to use June 30, 2016 as its measurement date for fiscal year 2016.  
The June 30, 2016 reported net pension asset was determined using a measure of the 
total pension liability and the pension net position as of June 30, 2016. The June 30, 
2016 total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of February 29, 
2016, which used update procedures to roll forward the estimated liability to June 30, 
2016.  

The BWL has chosen to use June 30, 2015 as its measurement date for fiscal year 2015.  
The June 30, 2015 reported net pension asset was determined using a measure of the 
total pension liability and the pension net position as of June 30, 2015. The June 30, 
2015 total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of February 28, 
2015, which used update procedures to roll forward the estimated liability to June 30, 
2015. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Changes in the net pension asset during the measurement years were as follows: 

    Changes in Net Pension Asset
Total Pension 

Liability 
Plan Net 
Position 

Net Pension 
Asset 

Balance at June 30, 2014  $           69,341  $          80,530  $          (11,189)

Changes for the year:
Service cost 274                  ‐                             274                   
Interest 4,919               ‐                             4,919                
Differences between expected ‐                              ‐                             ‐                             

    and actual experience (1,093)              ‐                             (1,093)               

Net investment income ‐                              1,771               (1,771)               
Benefit payments, including
     refunds (8,046)              (8,046)              -                        

Administrative expenses ‐                              (576)                 576                   
Miscellaneous other changes ‐                              ‐                             ‐                             

Net changes               (3,946)               (6,851)                  2,905 

Balance at June 30, 2015  $           65,395  $          73,679  $            (8,284)

Changes for the year:
Service cost 223                  ‐                             223                   
Interest 4,625               ‐                             4,625                
Differences between expected ‐                              ‐                             ‐                             

    and actual experience 299                  ‐                             299                   
Changes in assumptions (1,468)              ‐                             (1,468)               
Net investment income ‐                              47                    (47)                    
Benefit payments, including
     refunds (7,896)              (7,896)              ‐                             

Administrative expenses ‐                              (388)                 388                   
Miscellaneous other changes ‐                              ‐                             ‐                             

Net changes               (4,217)               (8,237)                  4,020 

Balance at June 30, 2016  $           61,178  $          65,442  $            (4,264)

Increase (Decrease) 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions - For the year ended June 30, 2016, the BWL recognized 
pension expense of $(1,111,385). At June 30, 2016, the BWL reported deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the 
following sources: 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources

Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
on pension plan investments  $         2,930,218  $                      - 

 

For the year ended June 30, 2015, the BWL recognized pension expense of 
$(2,037,327). At June 30, 2015, the BWL reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources

Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
on pension plan investments  $                        -  $      (2,201,407)
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 Years Ending  
June 30

 2017 $              586,044 

 2018                 586,044 

 2019                 586,044 

 2020                 586,044 
 2021                 586,042 

 Thereafter -$                           

 
Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the June 30, 2016 and June 30, 
2015 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, 
applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Inflation 3.00%                                              
Salary increases 2016 - 3.5%; 2015 - 6.44 - 10.26%
Investment rate of return 7.50%                                               

Mortality rates were based on the Healthy and Disabled, RP-2014 Mortality Table with 
MP-2015 Improvement Scale. 

The most recent experience review was completed in 2014. Since the Defined Benefit 
Plan covered 11 active participants in fiscal year 2016 and 14 active participants in fiscal 
year 2015, assumptions like termination, retirement, and disability have an immaterial 
impact on the results and have not been changed.   
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5 
percent.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
that BWL contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined 
contribution rates. 

Projected Cash Flows 

Based on those assumptions, the Defined Benefit Plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active 
and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the 
Defined Benefit Plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension asset.  

The long-term expected rate of return on Defined Benefit Plan investments was 
determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected 
future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense 
and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real 
rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 
for each major asset class included in the Defined Benefit Plan's target asset allocation, 
as disclosed in the Defined Benefit Plan’s financial statements, are summarized in the 
following table: 

Asset Class
Long-term Expected 
Real Rate of Return

Fixed Income 2.00%                      
Domestic equity 6.40%                      
International equity 6.80%                       
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following 
presents the net pension asset of the BWL at June 30, 2016, calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.5 percent, as well as what the BWL's net pension asset would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (6.5 percent) or 
1 percentage-point higher (8.5 percent) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease 
(6.50 %)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.50 %)
1% Increase 

(8.50%)

Net pension asset of the BWL
(in thousands) 334$              (4,264)$           (8,541)$                

The following presents the net pension asset of the BWL at June 30, 2015, calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.5 percent, as well as what the BWL's net pension asset 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower 
(6.5 percent) or 1 percentage-point higher (8.5 percent) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease 
(6.50 %)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.50 %)
1% Increase 

(8.50%)

Net pension asset of the BWL
(in thousands) (3,053)$          (8,284)$           (13,128)$              

Defined Benefit Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the Defined 
Benefit Plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued financial report. 
For the purpose of measuring the net pension asset, deferred outflows of resources, 
and deferred inflows or resources related to pension and pension expense, information 
about the Defined Benefit Plan’s fiduciary net position and addition to/deduction from 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 
the Defined Benefit Plan. The Defined Benefit Plan uses the economic resources 
measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. Investments are stated at 
fair value. Contribution revenue is recorded as contributions are due, pursuant to legal 
requirements. Benefit payments and refunds of employee contributions are recognized 
as expense when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Defined Contribution Plan  

The Defined Contribution Plan was established by the BWL in 1997 under Section 5-203 
of the City Charter. The Defined Contribution Plan covers substantially all full-time 
employees hired after December 31, 1996. In addition, 602 employees hired before 
January 1, 1997 elected to convert their retirement benefits from the Defined Benefit 
Plan effective December 1, 1997. 

The Plan for Employees' Pensions of the Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, 
Michigan - Defined Contribution Plan issues a publicly available financial report. That 
report may be obtained by writing to the Board of Water and Light, Chief Financial 
Officer, P.O. Box 13007, Lansing, Michigan 48901-3007. 

The Defined Contribution Plan operates as a money purchase pension plan and meets 
the requirements of Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the IRC of 1986, as amended from 
time to time. 

For employees hired before January 1, 1997, the BWL is required to contribute 15.0 
percent of the employees' compensation. For employees hired after January 1, 1997, 
the BWL is required to contribute 8.1 percent of the employees' compensation. In 
addition, the BWL is required to contribute 3.0 percent of the employees' compensation 
for all employees who are not eligible to receive overtime pay and 0.5 percent of the 
employees' compensation for all nonbargaining employees. No participant 
contributions are required. 

During the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the BWL contributed $5,661,884 and 
$5,548,360, respectively. The BWL’s contributions are recognized in the period that the 
contributions are due. 

Basis of Accounting - The Defined Contribution Plan’s financial statements are 
prepared using the accrual method of accounting in accordance with Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension 
Plans. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Valuation of Investments and Income Recognition - The Defined Contribution Plan 
investments are stated at market value based on closing sales prices reported on 
recognized securities exchanges on the last business day of the year, or, for listed 
securities having no sales reported and for unlisted securities, upon the last reported 
bid prices on that date. The mutual funds are valued at quoted market prices, which 
represent the net asset values of shares held by the Defined Contribution Plan at year 
end. 

Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income 
is accrued when earned. Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. 

Regulatory Status - The Defined Contribution Plan is not subject to the reporting 
requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) as it has 
been established for the benefit of a governmental unit. 

Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust 

The Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust (the “Plan”) is a single-employer defined benefit 
healthcare plan. The Plan provides medical, dental, and life insurance benefits in 
accordance with Section 5-203 of the City Charter. Substantially all of the BWL's 
employees may become eligible for healthcare benefits and life insurance benefits if 
they reach normal retirement age while working for the BWL. There were 715 
participants eligible to receive benefits at June 30, 2016 and 725 participants eligible at 
June 30, 2015.  

In October 1999, the BWL formed a Voluntary Employee Benefit Administration (VEBA) 
trust for the purpose of accumulating assets sufficient to fund retiree healthcare 
insurance costs in future years. During the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the 
cost to BWL of maintaining the Retiree Benefit Plan was $9,423,081 and $9,670,794, of 
which respectively, was incurred as direct costs of benefits. 

The Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust of the Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, 
Michigan issues a publicly available financial report. That report may be obtained by 
writing to the Board of Water and Light, Chief Financial Officer, P.O. Box 13007, 
Lansing, Michigan 48901-3007. 

Basis of Accounting - The plan statements are prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Investment Valuation and Income Recognition - Plan investments are reported at fair 
value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last 
reported sales price. Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on a trade-date 
basis. Appreciation or depreciation of investments is calculated based on the beginning 
of the period’s fair value of investments. 

Funding Policy - The BWL adopted a process for funding the retiree benefits using both 
a VEBA trust and, to the extent permitted by law, excess pension assets in the Defined 
Benefit Pension Plan. Additional contributions to the VEBA trust from BWL operating 
funds to supplement Section 420 transfers will not exceed the recommended annual 
contribution amount required to cover current service of active participants and 
amortize the unfunded accrued liability over 30 years. The required contribution is 
based on a projected pay-as-you-go financing requirement with an additional amount 
to prefund benefits. The pay-as-you-go retire benefits paid was more than the annual 
required contribution (ARC) and therefore, expensed on the statement of changes in 
trust net position. 

The Plan's annual other postemployement benefit (OPEB) cost is calculated based on the 
ARC, an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB 
Statement 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, 
is projected to cover normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial 
liabilities over a period of 30 years. The annual OPEB contributions are on a pay-as-
you-go accounting method because the Plan is overfunded.  

Actuarial Assumptions - Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of 
the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of the occurrence 
of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, 
mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded 
status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to 
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as 
required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, 
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is 
increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for 
benefits. 



Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan 

Notes to Financial Statements 
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

  54

Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive 
plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the 
types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of 
sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The 
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to 
reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities, consistent with 
the long-term perspective of the calculations. 

The Plan has calculated the accrued actuarial liability and required contribution using 
certain methods and assumptions. Benefit payments have been computed using the 
individual entry age normal method. The assets have been valued in the actuary report 
using the fair market value. The healthcare cost trend rates used range from 2.5 to 9.0 
percent for the year ended June 30, 2016 and 5.0 to 9.0 percent for the year ended 
June 30, 2015. 

Contribution trend information is as follows (in thousands): 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 Annual OPEB 

Cost 
 Annual OPEB 

Contributed 

Percentage of 
Annual OPEB 

Cost Contributed 
 Net OPEB 

Obligation (Asset) 

6/30/14 9,202$               9,268$                   101%                  (267)$                  
6/30/15 5,765                 9,671                     168%                  (4,186)                 
6/30/16 5,828                 9,423                     162%                  (7,781)                 

 
The net OPEB asset is included in other assets on the statement of net position.  
 
Funded Status and Funding Progress - Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve 
estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of 
the occurrence of events far into the future. Significant actuarial assumptions used in 
determining the annual OPEB cost include (a) rate of return on the investments of 
present and future assets of 7.5 percent, compounded annually, (b) projected 
healthcare trend rates ranging from 5.0 percent to 9.0 percent, (c) amortization method 
level dollar over a 30-year period, and (d) RP – 2014 mortality table fully generational 
using scale MP – 2015 and RP – 2014 Mortality Table fully generational using scale MP-
2014, respectively.  
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Funding status and funding progress trend information is as follows (in thousands): 

 Valuation Date 
 Actuarial

Asset Value   

 Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability  

Unfunded 
Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability  

 Funded 
Ratio 

Covered 
Payroll

UAAL as % of 
Covered 
Payroll

2/28/14 148,307$      194,365$     46,058$           76.30% 47,012$    98.0%             
2/28/15 157,565        200,196       42,631             78.71% 50,613      84.2%             
2/29/16 145,274        205,215       59,941             70.79% 53,540      112.0%           

 
Other Postretirement Benefits 

The BWL offers its employees a deferred compensation plan, created in accordance with 
IRC 457, which is administered by a trustee, the ICMA Retirement Corporation. The BWL 
makes contributions of $1,000 annually for the employees as of January 1 of each year, 
during the month of January. The BWL also will match employee contributions at one 
dollar for every one dollar up to $1,250 in a calendar year. 

Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies 

At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the BWL has two letters of credit in the amounts of 
$1,000,000 and $817,220 issued to the Michigan Department of Natural Resources. 
The letters of credit were issued to satisfy requirements of the Michigan Department of 
Natural Resources to provide financial assurance to the State of Michigan for the cost of 
closure and postclosure monitoring and maintenance of a landfill site operated by the 
BWL.   
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Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 

Through monitoring tests performed on the landfill sites operated by the BWL, it has 
been discovered that the sites are contaminating the groundwater. The contamination 
does not pose a significant health risk, but does lower the quality of the groundwater. 
The BWL is currently in the process of applying for approval from the State of Michigan 
to remediate the sites. The BWL has estimated the total cost for remediation, including 
closure and postclosure cost of the landfills, and has recorded a liability of $7,853,780 
and $10,172,203 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Certain 
remediation activities have commenced and are in progress. The landfill sites are no 
longer receiving waste products. Landfill closure and postclosure requirements are 
associated with the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality. Annual postclosure 
costs of these landfill sites are not expected to exceed $380,000 annually and are 
included in the liability above.  Estimates will be revised as approvals are received from 
the State. In accordance with the regulatory basis of accounting as per GASB 62 (see 
Note 1), the BWL recorded a corresponding regulatory asset (see Note 6). 

The BWL is subject to various laws and regulations with respect to environmental 
matters such as air and water quality, soil contamination, solid waste disposal, handling 
of hazardous materials, and other similar matters. Compliance with these various laws 
and regulations could result in substantial expenditures. The BWL has established a 
Designated Purpose Fund (see Note 1), of which one of the purposes of the fund is to 
meet extraordinary expenditures resulting from responsibilities under environmental 
laws and regulations. Management believes that all known or expected responsibilities 
to these various laws and regulations by the BWL will be sufficiently covered by the 
Designated Purpose Fund and the environmental remediation liability.  

The BWL is involved in various other legal actions which have arisen in the normal 
course of business. Such actions are usually brought for claims in excess of possible 
settlement or awards, if any, that may result. After taking into consideration legal 
counsel's evaluation of pending actions, management has recorded an adequate 
reserve as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 in regard to specific pending legal cases. 

The BWL has entered into contracts to purchase coal totaling $11,858,000 through 
December 31, 2018. In addition, the BWL has entered into contracts for the rail services 
related to shipping the coal. Commitments for future rail services to be purchased are 
approximately $5,380,000 through December 2016.  
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Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 

Construction in progress consists of projects for expansion or additions to the utility 
plant. The estimated additional cost to complete various projects is approximately 
$131,593,000 and $75,074,000 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, including 
commitments on existing construction contracts approximating $5,449,000 and 
$9,173,000 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. These projects will be funded 
through operational cash flow, including the project funds reported as other assets.  
There are additional commitments on projects in the process of being constructed that 
are not included above.   

Sierra Club v BWL & Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Notice of Violation 

In June of 2014, the Sierra Club, an environmental special interest group, provided 
written notice to the BWL of their intent to file a complaint against the BWL asserting 
violation of the Clean Air Act (Act). Similar to the Sierra Club’s allegations, the EPA 
served the BWL with a Notice of Violation.  

As of the date of the financial statements, the claims alleged have no specific dollar 
figure claimed, nor has the resolution of the same been finalized. The amount of an 
anticipated loss, if any, cannot be reasonably estimated. 

Note 10 - Power Supply Purchase 

In 1983, the BWL entered into 35-year power supply and project support contracts with 
MPPA, of which the BWL is a member. Under the agreement, the BWL has the ability to 
purchase power from MPPA, will sell power to MPPA at an agreed-upon rate, and will 
purchase 64.29 percent of the energy generated by MPPA's 37.22 percent ownership in 
Detroit Edison's Belle River Plant (Belle River), which became operational in August 
1984.  
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Note 10 - Power Supply Purchase (Continued) 

Under the terms of its contract, the BWL must make minimum annual payments equal 
to its share of debt service and its share of the fixed operating costs of Belle River. The 
estimated required payments presented below assume no early calls or refinancing of 
existing revenue bonds and a 3.0 percent annual inflation of fixed operating costs, 
which include expected major maintenance projects. 

Year
Debt Service        
and Capital

Estimated
Fixed

Operating Costs
Total

Required

2017 24,957,228$            15,005,514$            39,962,742$            
2018 16,603,644              15,466,998              32,070,642              

Total 41,560,872$            30,472,512$            72,033,384$            

In addition to the above required payments, the BWL must pay for fuel, other operating 
costs, and transmission costs related to any kilowatt hours (KWHs) purchased under 
these contracts. 

The BWL recognized expenses for 2016 and 2015 of $50,425,873 and $53,051,047, 
respectively, to purchase power under the terms of this contract. The price of this 
power was calculated on a basis, as specified in the contracts, to enable MPPA to 
recover its production, transmission, and debt service costs. 

In connection with the Belle River purchase, in December 2002, MPPA issued 
$280,180,000, principal amount, of its Belle River Project Refunding Revenue Bonds, 
2002 Series A, with rates ranging from 2.125 percent to 5.25 percent to advance 
refund $330,850,000 of outstanding 1993A and B bonds.  

The BWL has entered into agreements with Granger Electric Company to purchase 
power generated from landfill gases. The agreements will expire as of June 30, 2028 
and September 30, 2028. The minimum power to be purchased in the contract is 3.2 
megawatts, with the option to purchase up to 12 megawatts depending on capacity. 
The price of the electricity is based on the BWL's cost of electricity generation. The total 
amount of electricity expected to be purchased for the remainder of these contracts is 
estimated at $94,000,000. 
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Note 11 - Estimated Liability for Excess Earnings on Water Supply and Electric Utility 
System Revenue Bonds 

In accordance with Section 148(f)(2) of the IRC of 1986, as amended, the BWL is 
required on each anniversary date (July 1) of the Water Supply, Electric Utility, and 
Steam Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2008A, 2011A, 2012A, and 2013A to 
compute amounts representing the cumulative excess earnings on such bonds. That 
amount essentially represents a defined portion of any excess of interest earned on 
funds borrowed over the interest cost of the tax-exempt borrowings. Expense is 
charged (credited) annually in an amount equal to the estimated increase (decrease) in 
the cumulative excess earnings for the year. On every fifth anniversary date and upon 
final maturity of the bonds, the BWL is required to remit to the Internal Revenue Service 
the amount of any cumulative excess earnings computed on the date of such maturity 
plus an amount equal to estimated interest earned on previous years' segregated funds. 

The estimated liability for excess earnings was $0 at June 30, 2016 and 2015. In 
accordance with the requirements of the bond indenture, the BWL is required to set 
aside any current year additions to this estimated liability in a rebate fund within 60 
days of the anniversary date of the bonds. 

Note 12 - Risk Management and Insurance 

The BWL is exposed to various risks of loss related to property loss, torts, errors and 
omissions, and employee injuries (workers' compensation), as well as medical benefits 
provided to employees. The BWL has purchased commercial insurance for certain 
general liability, business auto, excess liability, property and boiler and machinery, 
public officials and employee liability claims, specific excess health insurance claims, 
and specific excess workers' compensation claims, subject to policy terms, limits, 
limitations, and deductibles. The BWL is self-insured for most workers' compensation 
and health insurance claims. Settled claims relating to the commercial insurance have 
not exceeded the amount of insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 
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Note 12 - Risk Management and Insurance (Continued) 

The BWL estimates the liability for self-insured workers’ compensation and health 
insurance claims that have been incurred through the end of the fiscal year, including 
claims that have been reported as well as those that have not yet been reported.  
Changes in the estimated liability for the past two fiscal years were as follows: 

2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014

 Unpaid claims -  
Beginning of year 2,200,000$   2,000,000$   2,000,000$   1,188,172$    1,637,276$    1,590,814$    

 Incurred claims, 
including claims incurred 
but not reported 348,038        554,773        864,854        13,797,887    20,853,299    18,340,955    

Claim payments (348,038)       (354,773)       (864,854)       (13,818,593)   (21,302,403)   (18,294,493)   

Unpaid claims -
End of year 2,200,000$   2,200,000$   2,000,000$   1,167,466$    1,188,172$    1,637,276$    

Workers' Compensation Health Insurance

 

The liability for health insurance is included with accounts payable on the statement of 
net position. 
 
 

Note 13 - Wise Road Reconstruction Project 

In July 2011, the Wise Road water treatment plant was damaged by a chemical spill. The 
piping and electrical systems were damaged and are being replaced or repaired. The 
reconstruction costs were $19,492,299, of which $18,151,549 was recouped from the 
insurance carrier. 
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Note 14 - Upcoming Pronouncements 

In June 2015, the GASB issue two new standards addressing accounting and financial 
reporting by state and local governments for postemployment benefits other than 
pensions (OPEB). GASB Statement No. 74 Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefit Plans other than Pension Plans, addresses reporting by OPEB plans whereas 
GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions, addresses accounting and reporting by employer 
governments that provide OPEB benefits to their employees. Along with the currently 
requirement statement of fiduciary net position and statement of changes in fiduciary 
net position, OPEB plans will now be require to include in the financial statement more 
extensive footnote disclosures and requirement supplementary information related to 
the measurement of the OPEB liabilities for which assets have been accumulated. In 
addition, the BWL will, after adoption of GASB 75, recognize on the face of the financial 
statements its net OPEB liability. The BWL is currently evaluating the impact these 
standards will have on the financial statements when adopted. GASB 74 is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016 whereas GASB 75 is effective one year later. 



 

  62

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
Required Supplemental Information 

 



Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan 

  63

 Required Supplemental Information (unaudited) 
Defined Benefit Plan – Schedule of Changes in the  

BWL Net Pension Asset and Related Ratios  
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

(in thousands) 
 

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012* 2011* 2010* 2009* 2008* 2007*
Total Pension Liability

Service cost 224$              274$              349$              407$         -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            
Interest 4,625             4,919             4,751             5,085        -              -              -              -              -              -              
Changes in benefit terms -                     -                     -                     -                -              -              -              -              -              -              
Differences between expected and actual experience 299                (1,093)            964                (1,716)       -              -              -              -              -              -              
Changes in assumptions ** (1,468)            -                     4,538             -                -              -              -              -              -              -              
Benefit payments, including refunds (7,896)          (8,046)          (8,541)          (7,777)       -            -            -            -            -            -             

Net Change in Total Pension Liability (4,217)            (3,946)            2,061             (4,001)       -              -              -              -              -              -              
Total Pension Liability - Beginning of year 65,395         69,341         67,280         71,281      -            -            -            -            -            -             
Total Pension Liability - End of year 61,178           65,395           69,341           67,280      -              -              -              -              -              -              

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer -                     -                     -                     -                -              -              -              -              -              -              
Contributions - Member -                     -                     -                     -                -              -              -              -              -              -              
Net investment income 47                  1,771             14,243           10,170      -              -              -              -              -              -              
Administrative expenses (388)               (576)               (596)               (536)          -              -              -              -              -              -              
Benefit payments, including refunds (7,896)            (8,046)            (8,541)            (7,777)       -              -              -              -              -              -              
Other -                   -                   -                   -               -            -            -            -            -            -             

Net change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position (8,237)            (6,850)            5,106             1,857        -              -              -              -              -              -              
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of year 73,679         80,529         75,424         73,567      -            -            -            -            -            -             
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - End of year 65,442         73,679         80,530         75,424      -            -            -            -            -            -             

BWL Net Pension Asset - Ending (4,264)$          (8,284)$          (11,189)$        (8,144)$     -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a % of Total Pension Liability 106.97%        112.67%        116.14%        112.10%   - %      - %      - %      - %      - %      - %      

Covered Employee Payroll 772                1,018             1,225             1,684        -              -              -              -              -              -              
BWL's Net Pension Asset as a % of Covered Employee Payroll (552%)            (814%)            (913%)            (484%)       - %      - %      - %      - %      - %      - %      

*GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented as of June 30, 2015.  Information from 2006 - 2012 is not available and this schedule will be presented on a prospective basis.
**Related to change in the mortality assumption from the RP2000CH table projected to 2018 with Scale AA to the RP-2014 table projected generationally with Scale MP-2015  
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 Required Supplemental Information (unaudited) 
Defined Benefit Plan – Schedule of Employer Contributions  

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(in thousands) 

 
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Actuarially determined contribution -$                   -$                   -$                   -$              -$            86$          2,109$     -$            -$            -$            
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution -                   -                   -                   -               -            86          2,109     -            -            -             
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$                   -$                   -$                   -$              -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Covered Employee Payroll 772                1,018             1,225             1,684        2,101       2,398       2,660       3,089       3,162       3,391       
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Employee Payroll - %             - %             - %             - %        - %      3.59%     79.29%   - %      - %      - %      
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 Required Supplemental Information (unaudited)  
Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust Schedule 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

The schedule of funding progress is as follows: 
 

 Valuation Date 
 Actuarial

Asset Value   

 Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability  

Unfunded 
Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability  

 Funded 
Ratio 

Covered 
Payroll

UAAL as % of 
Covered 
Payroll

2/28/14 148,307$      194,365$     46,058$           76.30% 47,012$    98.0%             
2/28/15 157,565        200,196       42,631             78.71% 50,613      84.2%             
2/29/16 145,274        205,215       59,941             70.79% 53,540      112.0%           
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Income Available for Revenue Bond Debt Retirement 

2016 2015

Income - Before capital contributions per statement
of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 900,064$          12,627,295$     

Adjustments to Income
Depreciation and impairment 57,305,081       39,104,343       
Interest on long-term debt:

Notes 51,049              49,691              
Revenue bonds 14,861,300     14,995,574       

Total additional income 72,217,430     54,149,608       

Income Available for Revenue Bonds and Interest
Redemption 73,117,494$    66,776,903$     

Debt Retirement Pertaining to Revenue Bonds
Principal 10,885,000$     11,010,000$     
Interest 16,569,252     17,095,181       

Total 27,454,252$    28,105,181$     

Percent Coverage of Revenue Bonds and Interest
Requirements 266                  238                  

For the Year Ended June 30
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Combined Water

2016 2015 2016 2015

Operating Revenues
Water 38,730,602$        37,910,106$        38,730,602$    37,910,106$    
Electric:

Retail 278,489,705        266,878,053        -                       -                       
Sales for resale 24,756,061          28,169,851          -                       -                       

Steam 12,683,463          14,959,212          -                       -                       
Chilled water 6,275,583          5,568,287          -                      -                      

Total operating revenues 360,935,414        353,485,509        38,730,602      37,910,106      

Operating Expenses
Production:

Fuel, purchased power, and
other operating expenses 159,118,150        163,336,653        8,026,915        8,104,909        

Maintenance 19,839,991          24,415,690          3,239,156        3,134,979        
Transmission and distribution:

Operating expenses 7,404,258            7,006,002            1,535,532        1,419,800        
Maintenance 14,189,340          13,864,024          2,651,954        3,582,512        

Administrative and general 64,007,040          61,297,460          10,271,709      10,875,024      
Depreciation 41,541,561        39,104,343        6,607,984       6,155,947       

Total operating expenses 306,100,340      309,024,172      32,333,250     33,273,171     

Operating Income 54,835,074          44,461,337          6,397,352        4,636,935        

Nonoperating Income (Expenses)
Investment income 1,913,873            1,351,006            291,934           219,281           
Other (expense) income (4,588,160)           1,534,922            (831,206)          921,168           
Impairment on Eckert Plant (15,763,520)         -                           -                       -                       
System capacity fee 3,351,392            9,223,075            293,582           807,942           
Bonded debt interest expense (14,861,300)         (14,995,574)         (1,973,434)       (1,858,926)       
Amortization - Central Utilities Complex (2,902,715)           (8,057,715)           (254,278)          (705,856)          
Payment in lieu of taxes (21,033,531)         (20,840,065)         (2,298,643)       (2,248,922)       
Other interest expense (51,049)              (49,691)              (2,838)             (4,366)             

Total nonoperating expense (53,935,010)       (31,834,042)       (4,774,883)      (2,869,679)      

Net Income (Loss) 900,064$            12,627,295$       1,622,469$      1,767,256$      
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Detail of Statements of Revenues and Expenses 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

Electric Steam Chilled Water

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

-$                     -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                   -$                   

278,489,705    266,878,053     -                       -                       -                     -                     
24,756,061      28,169,851       -                       -                       -                     -                     

-                       -                        12,683,463      14,959,212      -                     -                     
-                       -                        -                     -                     6,275,583     5,568,287       

303,245,766    295,047,904     12,683,463      14,959,212      6,275,583       5,568,287       

144,516,334    147,658,997     4,862,084        6,103,489        1,712,817       1,469,258       
15,599,674      20,499,896       767,751           544,181           233,410          236,634          

5,515,861        5,235,380         352,865           350,822           -                     -                     
11,136,141      9,979,670         401,245           301,536           -                     306                 
52,476,238      49,245,600       1,011,070        984,240           248,023          192,596          
30,949,620      29,178,160       2,553,160      2,451,617      1,430,797     1,318,619       

260,193,868    261,797,703     9,948,175      10,735,885    3,625,047     3,217,413       

43,051,898      33,250,201       2,735,288        4,223,327        2,650,536       2,350,874       

1,484,122        1,023,221         79,313             58,070             58,504            50,434            
(5,909,578)       586,071            1,928,331        (186,030)          224,293          213,713          

(15,763,520)     -                        -                       -                       -                     -                     
2,802,434        7,712,335         255,376           702,798           -                     -                     

(10,242,601)     (10,744,870)      (1,984,250)       (2,044,620)       (661,015)        (347,158)        
(2,427,250)       (6,737,861)        (221,187)          (613,998)          -                     -                     

(17,667,200)     (17,386,779)      (687,791)          (871,399)          (379,897)        (332,965)        
(48,174)            (45,153)             (37)                 (172)               -                    -                    

(47,771,767)     (25,593,036)      (630,245)        (2,955,351)     (758,115)      (415,976)        

(4,719,869)$     7,657,165$       2,105,043$     1,267,976$     1,892,421$    1,934,898$      
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Detail of Statements of Changes in Net Position 

Combined Water Electric Steam Chilled Water

Net Position - June 30, 2014 582,563,111$      93,647,830$     493,911,634$      (4,853,301)$      (143,052)$         

Income (loss) before contributions 12,627,295          1,767,256         7,657,165            1,267,976         1,934,898         

Net Position - June 30, 2015 595,190,406        95,415,086       501,568,799        (3,585,325) 1,791,846         

Income (loss) before contributions 900,064               1,622,469         (4,719,869)          2,105,043         1,892,421         

Net Position - June 30, 2015 596,090,470$      97,037,555$     496,848,930$      (1,480,282)$      3,684,267$       
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Pension Trust Funds - Detail of Statements of Net Position  

Defined Contribution 
Plan

Defined Benefit 
Plan VEBA Total

Assets

Receivable - Investment interest receivable -$                             143,225$              386,930$                 530,155$                
Investments at fair value:

Cash and money market trust fund -                               746,554                13,498,404              14,244,958             
U.S. government obligations -                               7,565,160             21,458,288              29,023,448             
Fixed income securities -                               10,491,022           28,725,054              39,216,076             
Mutual funds 131,736,753            7,908,757             15,208,788              154,854,298           
Stable value 34,193,741              -                            -                               34,193,741             
Partnership -                               1,101,086             -                               1,101,086               
Common stock -                               37,486,031           77,022,878              114,508,909           
Self-directed brokerage account 1,551,450                -                            -                               1,551,450               
Participant notes receivable 3,749,371                -                            -                               3,749,371               

Total investments 171,231,315          65,298,610         155,913,412           392,443,337         

Net Position - Held in trust for pension 
and other employee benefits 171,231,315$         65,441,835$        156,300,342$          392,973,492$        

As of June 30, 2016

Defined Contribution 
Plan

Defined Benefit 
Plan VEBA Total

Assets

Receivable - Investment interest receivable -$                             104,768$              200,805$                 305,573$                
Investments at fair value:

Cash and money market trust fund -                               2,321,310             6,243,203                8,564,513               
U.S. government obligations -                               6,659,203             15,462,341              22,121,544             
Fixed income securities -                               11,312,551           21,269,571              32,582,122             
Mutual funds 136,010,607            925,065                1,894,929                138,830,601           
Stable value 31,844,948              -                            -                               31,844,948             
Partnership -                               1,098,790             -                               1,098,790               
Common stock -                               51,257,647           111,112,369            162,370,016           
Self-directed brokerage account 1,376,730                -                            -                               1,376,730               
Participant notes receivable 3,888,351                -                            -                               3,888,351               

Total investments 173,120,636            73,574,566           155,982,413            402,677,615           

Net Position - Held in trust for pension 
and other employee benefits 173,120,636$          73,679,334$         156,183,218$          402,983,188$         

As of June 30, 2015
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Pension Trust Funds - Detail of Statement of  
Changes in Net Position 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2016 

Defined
Contribution Plan

Defined
Benefit Plan VEBA Total

Increases

Investment income (loss):
Net appreciation (depreciation) 

in fair value of investments (8,061,276)$           (1,459,436)$           (2,293,242)$          (11,813,954)$          
Interest and dividend income 6,555,315            1,506,198             3,242,238             11,303,751           

Net investment income (loss) (1,505,961)             46,762                    948,996                (510,203)                 

Employer contributions 5,661,884              -                             9,423,081             15,084,965             
Participant rollover contributions 2,026,588              -                             -                            2,026,588               
Interest from participant notes receivable 150,624               -                           -                           150,624                

Total increases 6,333,135            46,762                  10,372,077           16,751,974           

Decreases

Retiree benefits paid 7,946,117              7,895,766               9,423,081             25,264,964             
Loan defaults 186,801                 -                             -                            186,801                  
Participants' note and administrative fees 89,538                   388,495                  831,872                1,309,905               

Total decreases 8,222,456            8,284,261             10,254,953           26,761,670           

Change in Net Position Held in Trust (1,889,321)             (8,237,499)             117,124                (10,009,696)            

Net Position Held in Trust for Pension

and Other Employee Benefits
Beginning of year 173,120,636        73,679,334           156,183,218         402,983,188         

End of year 171,231,315$       65,441,835$          156,300,342$       392,973,492$        
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Pension Trust Funds - Detail of Statement of 
 Changes in Net Position 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

Defined
Contribution Plan

Defined
Benefit Plan VEBA Total

Increases

Investment income (loss):
Net appreciation (depreciation) 

in fair value of investments 21,201$                 215,209$                650,079$              886,489$                
Interest and dividend income 7,295,819            1,556,214             2,964,616             11,816,649           

Net investment income (loss) 7,317,020              1,771,423               3,614,695             12,703,138             

Employer contributions 5,548,360              -                             9,670,794             15,219,154             
Participant rollover contributions 1,345,481              -                             -                            1,345,481               
Interest from participant notes receivable 155,010               -                            -                           155,010                
Other 152,128               -                            -                           152,128                

Total increases 14,517,999            1,771,423               13,285,489           29,574,911             

Decreases

Retiree benefits paid 10,451,713            8,045,948               9,670,794             28,168,455             
Loan defaults 125,254                 -                             -                            125,254                  
Participants' note and administrative fees 100,135                 576,122                  1,152,927             1,829,184               

Total decreases 10,677,102          8,622,070             10,823,721           30,122,893           

Change in Net Position Held in Trust 3,840,897              (6,850,647)             2,461,768             (547,982)                 

Net Position Held in Trust for Pension
and Other Employee Benefits

Beginning of year 169,279,739        80,529,981           153,721,450         403,531,170         

End of year 173,120,636$       73,679,334$          156,183,218$       402,983,188$        
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City
Council, and Commissioners of the Board of
Water and Light 

Plan for Employees' Pension of the Board of Water
and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan - Defined
Benefit Plan 

City of Lansing, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Plan for Employees' Pension of the Board of
Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan - Defined Benefit Plan (the "Plan"), which comprise the statement of
plan net position as of June 30, 2016 and the related statement of changes in plan net position for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Plan management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Plan's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Page 1
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To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City
Council, and Commissioners of the Board of
Water and Light 

Plan for Employees' Pension of the Board of Water
and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan - Defined
Benefit Plan 

City of Lansing, Michigan

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net position
of the Plan as of June 30, 2016 and the changes in plan net position for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Prior Period Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Plan as of June 30, 2015, were audited by other auditors whose report dated
August 28, 2015, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

Other Matter

Report on Required Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 5 and the schedule of changes in the BWL's net pension asset and
related ratios, schedule of employer contributions, and schedule of investment returns on pages 27 through 30
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economical, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required management's
discussion and analysis in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Madison, Wisconsin
September 6, 2016

Page 2
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Using this Annual Report 

This annual report consists of two parts: (1) management’s discussion and analysis (this 
section) and (2) the basic financial statements.  The financial statements also include notes that 
explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide more detailed data. 

Condensed Financial Information 

The table below compares key financial information in a condensed format between the current 
year and the prior two years: 

2016 2015 2014

Assets held in trust:
Money market collective trust fund 746,554$              2,321,310$           3,192,936$           
U.S. government obligations 7,565,160             6,659,203             7,354,686             
Fixed income securities 10,491,022           11,312,551           11,844,906           
Mutual funds 7,908,757             925,065                1,260,129             
Partnership 1,101,086             1,098,790             1,082,059             
Common stocks 37,486,031           51,257,647           55,688,109           
Interest and dividend receivable 143,225                104,768                120,156                

Total assets held in trust 65,441,835$         73,679,334$         80,542,981$         

Liabilities - Accrued liabilities -   $                     -   $                     13,000$                

Net position restricted for pensions 65,441,835           73,679,334           80,529,981           

Total liabilities and net position 65,441,835$         73,679,334$         80,542,981$         

Changes in net position:
Net investment income (loss) 46,762$                1,771,423$           14,243,164$         
Benefits payments (7,895,766)            (8,045,948)            (8,541,275)            
Administrative fees (388,495)              (576,122)              (595,925)              

Net change in net position (8,237,499)$          (6,850,647)$          5,105,964$           
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

During fiscal year 2016, net investment gain was $47,000. We believe this performance is 
consistent with the experience of similarly situated employee benefit funds. 

Employer contributions were $0 in fiscal year 2016 according to the Board of Water and Light - 
City of Lansing, Michigan’s (the “BWL”) annual required contribution (ARC) as determined by the 
BWL’s actuary.  

Benefit payments in fiscal year decreased by $0.1 million to $7.9 million. This was due to a 
decrease in funds distributed in the form of lump-sum payouts upon retirement in fiscal year 
2016 as compared to fiscal year 2015. 

The BWL reimburses itself for the cost of retiree healthcare benefits pursuant to Internal 
Revenue Code Section 420. Reimbursement from the defined benefit pension plan assets is 
allowed to the extent that excess funds are available for transfer.  In fiscal years 2016, 2015, 
and 2014, there were no excess funds available for transfer. 
 
Investment Objectives and Asset Allocation 

The Plan’s assets shall be invested in accordance with sound investment practices that 
emphasize long-term investment fundamentals. In establishing the investment objectives of the 
Plan, the BWL has taken into account the time horizon available for investment, the nature of 
the Plan’s cash flows and liabilities, and other factors that affect the Plan’s risk tolerance.  

In consideration of the Plan’s investment goals, demographics, time horizon available for 
investment, and the overall risk tolerance of the BWL, a long-term investment objective of income 
and growth has been adopted for the Plan’s assets.  The primary objectives of the Plan’s assets are 
to fund all disbursements as they are due to meet the actuarial rate of return of 7.5 percent, and to 
earn returns in excess of a passive set of market indexes representative of the Plan’s asset 
allocation. 

Consistent with the advice of the investment advisor, the BWL has selected the following target 
asset allocation strategy: 

 Domestic Large Capitalization Stocks  45.0% 
 Domestic Small Capitalization Stocks  10.0% 
 International Stocks    14.2% 
 U.S. Core Fixed Income   30.8% 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Future Events 

The Plan is currently overfunded, with a funded ratio (actuarial asset value divided by actuarial 
accrued liability) of 107 percent.  This funding level results in an annual pension cost of $0 for fiscal 
year 2016.  The board does not expect to make contributions to the trust in fiscal year 2017. 

The Plan expects to make annual withdrawals of approximately $7,000,000 to cover participant 
benefits. 

Contacting the Plan’s Management 

This financial report is intended to provide a general overview of the Plan’s finances and to 
show accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need 
additional information, we welcome you to contact the office of Heather Shawa-DeCook, Chief 
Financial Officer, at P.O. Box 13007, Lansing, Michigan 48901-3007. 
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Statement of Plan Net Position 

2016 2015

Assets
Investments at fair value:

Cash and money market trust fund 746,554$                2,321,310$             
U.S. government obligations 7,565,160               6,659,203               
Fixed income securities 10,491,022             11,312,551             
Mutual funds 7,908,757               925,065                  
Partnership 1,101,086               1,098,790               
Common stocks 37,486,031             51,257,647             

Total investments at fair value 65,298,610             73,574,566             

Receivable - Investment interest receivable 143,225                  104,768                  

Net Position Restricted for Pensions 65,441,835$           73,679,334$           

As of June 30
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See Notes to Financial Statements. 7

Statement of Changes in Plan Net Position 
 

2016 2015

Additions
Investment income:

Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair 
 value of investments (1,459,436)$           215,209$               

Interest and dividend income 1,506,198              1,556,214              

Total investment income 46,762                   1,771,423              

Deductions

Retiree benefits paid 7,895,766              8,045,948              
Administrative expenses 388,495                 576,122                 

Total deductions 8,284,261              8,622,070              

Net Decrease in Net Position held in trust (8,237,499)             (6,850,647)             

Net Position Restricted for Pensions
Beginning of year 73,679,334            80,529,981            

End of year 65,441,835$          73,679,334$          

For the Year Ended June 30
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Reporting Entity 

The Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan (BWL) sponsors the Plan for 
Employees' Pension of the Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan - 
Defined Benefit Plan (the "Plan"), which is a noncontributory single-employer defined 
benefit, public employee retirement system established and administered by the BWL 
under Section 5-203 of the City Charter.  An employee becomes a participant of the 
Plan when hired. A participant’s interest shall be fully vested when the participant has 
been credited with seven years of vesting service. The Plan was established in 1939 and 
has been amended several times, with the latest amendment taking effect on July 1, 
2010.  Participants should refer to the plan agreement for a more complete description 
of the Plan’s provisions. 

Accounting and Reporting Principles 

The Plan follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. Accounting and financial reporting 
pronouncements are promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis of Accounting 

Fiduciary funds use the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual 
basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when 
a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Plan member 
contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer 
contributions to the plan are recognized when due pursuant to legal requirements. 
Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of the plan. 

In February 2015, the GASB issued statement No. 72 – Fair Value Measurement and 
Application. The objective of this statement is to provide guidance for determining a 
fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes as well as to provide guidance 
for applying fair value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value 
measurements. This standard was implemented effective July 1, 2015. 

Report Presentation 

This report includes the fund-based statements of the Plan.  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Report Presentation (Continued) 

Investment Valuation and Income Recognition - Investments are reported at fair value. 
Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported 
sales prices. Investments that do not have an established market are reported at 
estimated fair value. 

Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. 

Appreciation or depreciation of investments is calculated based on the beginning of 
year fair value of investments. 

Expenses - Substantially all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the 
operation and administration of the Plan are paid by the BWL, the plan sponsor. The 
Plan does pay all expenses incurred in connection with the custodial safekeeping 
account and investment advisor fees.  Beginning in fiscal year 2008, the Plan began to 
pay the fees associated with the actuarial evaluation. 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

Regulatory Status - The Plan is not subject to the reporting requirements of the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) as it has been established for 
the benefit of a governmental unit. 

Note 2 - Plan Description 

Plan Administration - The BWL Pension Board administers the Plan - a noncontributory 
single-employer defined benefit pension plan for employees of the BWL. The benefit 
terms were established by the BWL and may be amended by future BWL actions. 

Management of the Plan is vested in the BWL, which consists of eight members 
appointed by the mayor of the City of Lansing, Michigan. 
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Note 2 - Plan Description (Continued) 

Plan Membership - At February 29, 2016 and February 28, 2015 (the most recent 
actuarial valuation for funding purposes), plan membership consisted of the following:  

2016 2015
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries 
     currently receiving benefits 382                     398                     

Inactive plan members entitled to but not 
     yet receiving benefits 7                        8                        

Active plan members 11                      14                      

Total 400                     420                     

 

The Plan, by resolution of the board of commissioners, was closed to employees hired 
subsequent to December 31, 1996, and a defined contribution plan was established for 
employees hired after December 31, 1996. Effective December 1, 1997, all active 
participants in this plan were required to make an irrevocable choice to either remain in 
this plan (defined benefit) or move to the newly established defined contribution plan. 
Those participants who elected to move to the defined contribution plan received 
lump-sum distributions from this plan that were rolled into their accounts in the newly 
established defined contribution plan. Of the 760 employees who were required to 
make this election, 602 elected to convert their retirement benefits to the newly 
established defined contribution plan. As a result of this action, effective December 1, 
1997, the board of commissioners transferred $75,116,470 to the newly established 
defined contribution plan, reflecting the plan participants’ accumulated benefits as of 
said date. 

Benefits Provided - The Plan provides retirement, early retirement, disability, 
termination, and death benefits.  The Plan provides for an annual benefit upon normal 
retirement age equal to the product of the total number of years of credited service 
multiplied by a percentage equal to 1.80 percent of the highest annual pay during the 
last 10 years of service, paid in equal monthly installments. 
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Note 2 - Plan Description (Continued) 

Payments will either be nonincreasing or increase only as follows: (a) by an annual 
percentage increase that does not exceed the annual percentage increase in a cost-of-
living index that is based on prices of all items and issued by the Bureau of Labor 
Statistics; (b) to the extent of the reduction in the amount of the employee's payments 
to provide for a survivor benefit upon death, but only if the beneficiary whose life was 
being used to determine the distribution period described in subsection 8 dies or is no 
longer the employee's beneficiary pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order 
within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code Section 414(p); (c) to provide cash refunds 
of employee contributions upon the employee's death; or (d) to pay increased benefits 
that result from a plan amendment. 

Contributions - Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan constitution requires that 
financial benefits arising on account of employee service rendered in each year be 
funded during that year. Accordingly, the BWL Pension Board retains an independent 
actuary to determine the annual contribution. The actuarially determined rate is the 
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by plan members 
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  
There was no contribution required for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015.  Plan 
documents do not require participant contributions. 

Plan Termination - Although the BWL Pension Board has not expressed any intent to 
terminate the Plan, the BWL Pension Board has the right to do so at any time. If the Plan 
is terminated, each employee who has a pension benefit under the Plan will be fully 
vested in that benefit. Those benefits shall be calculated on Plan termination as though 
each person had elected to receive his or her accrued benefit as a lump sum amount, 
although no employee would be required to accept his or her Plan termination 
distribution in the form of a lump sum. The lump sum amount to be paid to each 
individual in any of the forms permitted by the Plan would be calculated in accordance 
with the Plan document. On termination of the Plan, each employee would have 
recourse toward satisfaction of his or her nonforfeitable benefit from the Plan assets 
and from the general assets of the BWL and its successor. 

The pension trust fund is also authorized by Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965, as 
amended, to invest in certain reverse repurchase agreements, stocks, diversified 
investment companies, annuity investment contracts, real estate leased to public 
entities, mortgages, real estate, debt or equity of certain small businesses, certain state 
and local government obligations, and certain other specified investment vehicles. 
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Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure 

The Plan’s deposits and investment policies are in accordance with PA 196 of 1997; the 
Plan has authorized the investments according to Michigan PA 314 of 1965, as 
amended. 

Risks at June 30, 2016 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the 
event of a bank failure, the Plan’s deposits may not be returned to it. The Plan requires 
that financial institutions must meet minimum criteria to offer adequate safety to the 
Plan. The Plan evaluates each financial institution with which it deposits funds and only 
those institutions meeting minimum established criteria are used as depositories. 

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments - Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event 
of the failure of the counterparty, the Plan will not be able to recover the value of its 
investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The 
Plan does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, all investments of the 
Plan were held in the name of the Board of Water and Light and are therefore not 
subject to custodial credit risk.  

Concentrations – As of June 30, 2016, the plan had investments of $7,908,757 that 
were concentrated in one fund. 

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will 
decrease as a result of a rise in interest rates. The Plan’s investment policy does not 
restrict investment maturities, other than commercial paper, which can only be 
purchased with a 270-day maturity. At year end, the average maturities of investments 
are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value
Weighted

Average Maturity

U.S. government obligations 7,565,160$            14.26 years
Fixed income securities 10,491,022            13.56 years
Money market trust fund 743,295                Less than 1 year
Portfolio weighted average maturity 13.33 years
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Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure (Continued) 

Credit Risk - State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings 
issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The Plan has no 
investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of year end, the 
credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. government) are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value Rating
Rating

Organization

U.S. government obligations 7,565,160$           Not rated Not rated
Fixed income securities 348,392               AAA S&P
Fixed income securities 4,684,590             AA+ S&P
Fixed income securities 154,460               AA S&P
Fixed income securities 82,918                 AA- S&P
Fixed income securities 397,026               A+ S&P
Fixed income securities 1,020,452             A S&P
Fixed income securities 959,554               A- S&P
Fixed income securities 1,536,681             BBB+ S&P
Fixed income securities 932,173               BBB S&P
Fixed income securities 235,907               BBB- S&P
Fixed income securities 8,185                   BB+ S&P
Fixed income securities 18,900                 BB S&P
Fixed income securities 5,440                   BB- S&P
Fixed income securities 106,344               CCC S&P
Money market trust fund 746,554               Not rated Not rated

Concentration of Credit Risk - The board of commissioners places no limit on the 
amount the Plan may invest in any one issuer. As of year end, the Plan does not hold 
more than 5 percent of its investments in any one issuer. 
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Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure (Continued) 

Risks at June 30, 2015 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the 
event of a bank failure, the Plan’s deposits may not be returned to it. The Plan requires 
that financial institutions must meet minimum criteria to offer adequate safety to the 
Plan. The Plan evaluates each financial institution with which it deposits funds and only 
those institutions meeting minimum established criteria are used as depositories. 

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments - Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event 
of the failure of the counterparty, the Plan will not be able to recover the value of its 
investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The 
Plan does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, all investments of the 
Plan were held in the name of the Board of Water and Light and are therefore not 
subject to custodial credit risk.  

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will 
decrease as a result of a rise in interest rates. The Plan’s investment policy does not 
restrict investment maturities, other than commercial paper, which can only be 
purchased with a 270-day maturity. At year end, the average maturities of investments 
are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value
Weighted

Average Maturity

U.S. government obligations 6,659,203$            12.97 years
Fixed income securities 11,312,551            14.59 years
Money market trust fund 1,906,792             Less than 1 year
Portfolio weighted average maturity 12.65 years
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Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure (Continued) 

Credit Risk - State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings 
issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The Plan has no 
investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of year end, the 
credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. government) are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value Rating
Rating

Organization

U.S. government obligations 6,659,203$           Not Rated Not Rated
Fixed income securities 1,040,057             AAA S&P 
Fixed income securities 4,637,184             AA+ S&P 
Fixed income securities 261,047               AA S&P 
Fixed income securities 118,461               AA- S&P 
Fixed income securities 488,182               A+ S&P 
Fixed income securities 927,872               A S&P 
Fixed income securities 1,296,826             A- S&P 
Fixed income securities 892,810               BBB+ S&P 
Fixed income securities 698,087               BBB S&P 
Fixed income securities 333,191               BBB- S&P 
Fixed income securities 10,250                 BB S&P 
Fixed income securities 105,867               BB+ S&P 
Fixed income securities 17,786                 BB- S&P 
Fixed income securities 38,325                 B+ S&P 
Fixed income securities 390,595               CCC S&P 
Fixed income securities 56,011                 D S&P 
Money market trust fund 2,321,310             Not Rated Not Rated

 
Concentration of Credit Risk - The board of commissioners places no limit on the 
amount the Plan may invest in any one issuer. As of year end, the Plan does not hold 
more than 5 percent of its investments in any one issuer. 
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Note 4 - Net Appreciation or Depreciation of Investments  
 

The net appreciation (depreciation) of the Plan's investments is as follows: 

2016 2015

Investments at fair value as determined by
quoted market price:

U.S. government obligations 369,377$                  119,270$                  
Fixed income securities (131,230)                   (192,596)                   
Mutual funds (584,872)                   (133,224)                   
Common stocks and mutual funds (1,112,711)                332,467                    
Alternative investments -                              89,292                      

Total (1,459,436)$              215,209$                  

 
Note 5 - 401(h) Account 

Effective July 1, 1999, the Plan was amended to include a medical-benefit component, 
in addition to the normal retirement benefits, to fund a portion of the postretirement 
obligations for certain retirees and their beneficiaries in accordance with Section 401(h) 
of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). A separate account has been established and 
maintained in the Plan for the net assets related to the medical-benefit component 
401(h) account. In accordance with IRC Section 401(h), the Plan’s investments in the 
401(h) account may not be used for, or diverted to, any purpose other than providing 
health benefits for retirees and their beneficiaries. Employer contributions or qualified 
transfers to the 401(h) account are determined annually and are at the discretion of the 
plan sponsor. At June 30, 2016 and 2015, there were no excess pension plan assets 
available for transfer.   
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Note 6 - Tax Status 

The Plan obtained its determination letter dated November 4, 2011, in which the 
Internal Revenue Service stated that the Plan, as then designed, was in compliance with 
the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan has since been 
amended. Management believes the Plan continues to operate as a qualified plan.  

Note 7 - Plan Investments - Policy and Rate of Return 

Investment Policy - The Plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is 
established and may be amended by the BWL by a majority vote of its members. It is the 
policy of the board to pursue an investment strategy that manages risk through the 
prudent diversification of the portfolio across a broad selection of distinct asset 
classes. The Plan’s investment policy discourages the use of cash equivalents, except 
for liquidity purposes, and aims to refrain from dramatically shifting asset class 
allocations over short time spans. The following was the BWL’s adopted asset allocation 
policy as of June 30, 2016 and 2015: 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Fixed Income 30.80%                 
Domestic equity 55.00%                 
International equity 14.20%                 

 
Rate of Return - For the year ended June 30, 2016, the annual money-weighted rate of 
return on plan investments, net of plan investment expense, was (0.49) percent. For the 
year ended June 30, 2015, the annual money-weighted rate of return on plan 
investments, net of plan investment expense, was 1.55 percent. The money-weighted 
rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted 
for the changing amounts actually invested. 
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Note 8 - Net Pension Asset of the BWL 

The components of the net pension asset of the BWL at June 30, 2016 and 2015 were 
as follows (in thousands):  

2016 2015

Total pension liability 61,178$           65,395$           

Plan fiduciary net position 65,442             73,679             

Plan's net pension asset (4,264)$            (8,284)$            

Plan fiduciary net position, as a percentage of 
     the total pension liability 106.97%          112.67%           

Actuarial Assumptions - The June 30, 2016 total pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of February 29, 2016, which used update procedures to roll 
forward the estimated liability to June 30, 2016. The June 30, 2015 total pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of February 28, 2015, which used 
update procedures to roll forward the estimated liability to June 30, 2015. The total 
pension liability is determined by the Plan’s independent actuary and is that amount 
that results from applying actuarial assumptions to adjust the total pension liability to 
reflect the time value of money (through discounts for interest) and the probability of 
payment (by means of decrements such as for death, disability, withdrawal, or 
retirement) between the valuation date and the expected date of payment. Nyhart 
Actuary & Employee Benefits was the actuary for the February 29, 2016 and February 
28, 2015 valuations. The valuations used the following actuarial assumptions, applied 
to all periods included in the measurement: 

Inflation 3.00%                                              
Salary increases 2016 - 3.5%; 2015 - 6.44 - 10.26%
Investment rate of return 7.50%                                               

The most recent experience review was completed in 2014. Since the Plan only covered 
17 active participants in fiscal year 2014, assumptions like termination, retirement, and 
disability have an immaterial impact on the results and have not been changed.  

The mortality table was based on the RP-2014 mortality table with MP-2015 
Improvement Scale.   
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Note 8 - Net Pension Asset of the BWL (Continued) 

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5 
percent.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
that BWL contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined 
contribution rates.  

Projected Cash Flows Section - Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected 
rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected 
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined 
using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real 
rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) 
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the 
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return 
by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best 
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 for each major 
asset class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation, as disclosed in Note 7, 
are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class

Long-term 
Expected Real Rate 

of Return

Fixed income 2.00%                  
Domestic equity 6.40%                  
International equity 6.80%                   
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Note 8 - Net Pension Asset of the BWL (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following 
presents the net pension asset of the BWL at June 30, 2016, calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.5 percent, as well as what the BWL's net pension asset would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.5 percent) or 
1 percentage point higher (8.5 percent) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease 
(6.50 %)

Current Discount 
Rate (7.50 %)

1% Increase 
(8.50 %)

Net pension liability (asset) of the BWL
(in thousands) 334$                  (4,264)$               (8,541)$             

 
The following presents the net pension asset of the BWL at June 30, 2015, calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.5 percent, as well as what the BWL's net pension asset 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower 
(6.5 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (8.5 percent) than the current rate: 

 
1% Decrease 

(6.50 %)
Current Discount 

Rate (7.50 %)
1% Increase 

(8.50 %)

Net pension liability (asset) of the BWL
(in thousands) (3,053)$              (8,284)$               (13,128)$            
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Note 9 – Fair Value Measurements 

The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3). The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy under authoritative guidance are described as follows: 

Level 1 -  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted market prices 
for identical assets in active markets that the Plan has the ability to 
access. 

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

> quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
> quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive 

markets; 
> inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 

liability; 
> inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable 

market data by correlation or other means. 
> If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the level 2 

input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or 
liability 

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to 
the fair value measurement. 

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is 
based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
Valuation techniques maximize the use of relevant observables and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs.  
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Note 9 – Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured 
at fair value. There have been no changes in the methodologies used at June 30, 2016 
and 2015: 

Money market fund:  Valued at the quoted net asset value ("NAV") of shares held by the 
Plan at year end. 

U.S. government obligations, common stock and fixed income securities: Valued at the 
most recent closing price reported on the market on which individual securities are 
traded. 

Mutual funds:  Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Mutual funds 
held by the Plan are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. These funds are required to publish their daily NAV and to 
transact at that price. The mutual funds held by the Plan are deemed to be actively 
traded. 

Partnership:  Valued using either NAV, valuations provided by management reflecting 
the partnership’s share of capital account balance, or the income and market approach. 

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative 
of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Plan 
believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market 
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair 
value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement 
at the reporting date. 
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Note 9 – Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Plan’s assets 
at fair value as of June 30, 2016 and 2015: 

 
Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and money market trust fund -$                    746,554$       -$                746,554$       
U.S. government obligations -                     7,565,160      -                 7,565,160      
Fixed income securities -                     10,491,022    -                 10,491,022    
Mutual funds -                     7,908,757      -                 7,908,757      
Partnership -                     -                   1,101,086    1,101,086      
Common stocks 37,486,031      -                   -                 37,486,031    

Total 37,486,031$     26,711,493$   1,101,086$  65,298,610$   

June 30, 2016

 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and money market trust fund -$                    2,321,310$    -$                   2,321,310$    
U.S. government obligations -                     6,659,203      -                     6,659,203      
Fixed income securities -                     11,312,551    -                     11,312,551    
Mutual funds -                     925,065         -                     925,065         
Partnership -                     -                   1,098,790        1,098,790      
Common stocks 51,257,647      -                   -                     51,257,647    

Total 51,257,647$     21,218,129$   1,098,790$      73,574,566$   

June 30, 2015
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Note 9 – Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Plan’s level 
3 assets for the year ended: 

   Level 3 Assets
 

Balance, July 1, 2014  $ 1,082,059
Unrealized gains (losses) relating to instruments still held at the 

reporting date   16,731
  
Balance, June 30, 2015  1,098,790
Unrealized gains (losses) relating to instruments still held at the 

reporting date   2,296
  
Balance, June 30, 2016  $ 1,101,086
  
The amount of total gains or losses for the period attributable 

to the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets 
still held at the reporting date   $ 2,296

 

Sensitivity to Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs 

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Plan’s 
Level 3 investments consist of forecasted cash flows, market value, and underlying 
discount rates adjusted for the expected timing of future cash flows.  Significant 
changes in any of those inputs in isolation would result in a change in the fair value 
measurement. 
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Note 10 – Risks and Uncertainties 

The total pension liability is reported based on certain assumptions pertaining to 
interest rates, inflation rates, and employee demographics, all of which are subject to 
change. Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimations and assumptions process, it is 
at least reasonably possible that changes in these estimates and assumptions in the 
near term would be material to the financial statements. 

In addition, the Plan invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are 
exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level 
of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible 
that changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and that 
such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the Statement of Plan Net 
Position. 

Note 11 – Subsequent Events 

The Plan has evaluated subsequent events occurring through September 6, 2016, which 
is the date that the Plan's financial statements were approved and available to be 
issued, for events requiring recording or disclosure in the Plan's financial statements. 
There are no subsequent events warranting disclosures. 
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Schedule of Changes in the BWL's 
Net Pension Asset and Related Ratios 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(in thousands) 

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012* 2011* 2010* 2009* 2008* 2007*

Total Pension Liability

Service cost 223$                  274$                  349$                  407$             -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                
Interest 4,625                 4,919                 4,751                 5,085            -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Changes in benefit terms -                        -                        -                        -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Differences between expected and actual experience 299                    (1,093)                964                    (1,716)           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Changes in assumptions ** (1,468)                -                        4,538                 -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Benefit payments, including refunds (7,896)                (8,046)                (8,541)                (7,777)           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Net Change in Total Pension Liability (4,217)                (3,946)                2,061                 (4,001)           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Total Pension Liability - Beginning of year 65,395                69,341                67,280                71,281          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Total Pension Liability - End of year 61,178                65,395                69,341                67,280          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Plan Net Position

Contributions - Employer -                        -                        -                        -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Contributions - Member -                        -                        -                        -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Net investment income 47                      1,771                 14,243                10,170          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Administrative expenses (388)                   (576)                   (596)                   (536)              -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Benefit payments, including refunds (7,896)                (8,045)                (8,541)                (7,777)           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Other -                        -                        -                        -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Net change in Net Position Held in Trust (8,237)                (6,850)                5,106                 1,857            -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Net Position Retricted for Pensions - Beginning of year 73,679                80,529                75,424                73,567          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Net Position Restricted for Pensions - End of year 65,442                73,679                80,530                75,424          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

BWL Net Pension Asset - Ending (4,264)$               (8,284)$               (11,189)$             (8,144)$         -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                

Plan Net Position as a % of Total Pension Liability 106.97%             112.67%             116.14%             112.10%       - %          - %          - %          - %          - %          - %          

Covered Employee Payroll 772                    1,018                 1,225                 1,684            -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
BWL's Net Pension Asset as a % of Covered Employee Payroll (552%)                (814%)                (913%)                (484%)           - %          - %          - %          - %          - %          - %          

*GASB Statement No. 67 was implemented as of June 30, 2014.  Information from 2007 - 2012 is not available and this schedule will be presented on a prospective basis.
**Related to change in the mortality assumption from the RP2000CH table projected to 2018 with Scale AA to the RP-2014 table projected generationally with Scale MP-2014 in 2014.
**Related to change in the mortality assumption from the RP-2014 Mortality Table with MP-2015 Improvement Scale in 2016.
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Schedule of Employer Contributions 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

(in thousands) 

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Actuarially determined contribution -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                86$             2,109$         -$                -$                -$                
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 86               2,109          -                 -                 -                 

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                

Covered Employee Payroll 772             1,018          1,225          1,684          2,101          2,398          2,660          3,089          3,162          3,391          
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Employee Payroll - %          - %          - %          - %          - %          3.59%         79.29%       - %          - %          - %          
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Note to Required Supplemental Information 
Year Ended June 30, 2016 

Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions: 

Valuation date June 30, 2016, based on roll-forward of March 1, 2016 valuation

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial cost method Entry age method
Amortization method Level dollar over a 15-year period
Remaining amortization period 15 years
Asset valuation method Market value of the assets 
Inflation 3.0 percent
Salary increases 3.5 percent per year
Investment rate of return 7.5 percent per year compounded annually
Mortality RP-2014 Mortality Table with MP-2015 Improvement Scale
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Schedule of Investment Returns 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 
2016 2015 2014 2013* 2012* 2011* 2010* 2009* 2008* 2007*

 Annual money-weighted rate of return,
     net of investment expense (0.49%)          1.55%           19.18%       - %         - %         - %         - %         - %         - %         - %             

*GASB 67 was implemented as of June 30, 2014.  Information from 2007 - 2013 is not available and this schedule will be presented on a prospective basis
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City
Council, and Commissioners of the Board of
Water and Light

Lansing Board of Water and Light Retiree Benefit
Plan and Trust

City of Lansing, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Lansing Board of Water and Light Retiree
Benefit Plan and Trust (the "Plan"), a trust fund of Lansing Board of Water and Light, which comprise the
statement of trust net position as of June 30, 2016, and the related statement of changes in trust net position for
the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Plan management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Plan's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City
Council, and Commissioners of the Board of
Water and Light

Lansing Board of Water and Light Retiree Benefit
Plan and Trust

City of Lansing, Michigan

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the trust net
position of the Plan as of June 30, 2016 and the changes in trust net position for the year then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Prior Period Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Plan as of June 30, 2015, were audited by other auditors whose report dated
August 28, 2015, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

Other Matter

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 4 and the required supplemental information listed in the table of
contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economical, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required management's
discussion and analysis in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Madison, Wisconsin
September 6, 2016
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Using this Annual Report 
This annual report consists of two parts: (1) management’s discussion and analysis (this 
section) and (2) the basic financial statements. The financial statements also include notes that 
explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide more detailed data.  

Condensed Financial Information 
The table below compares key financial information in a condensed format between the current 
year and the prior two years: 
 

 2016  2015  2014 

Assets held in trust:
Cash and money market trust funds 13,498,404$        6,243,203$       5,711,439$        
Fixed income securities 28,725,054          21,269,571       20,713,869        
U.S. government obligations 21,458,288          15,462,341       16,284,339        
Equities 77,022,878          111,112,369     108,540,537      
Mutual funds and other 15,208,788          1,894,929         2,259,641          
Interest and dividend receivable 386,930               200,805            211,625             

Total plan assets 156,300,342$      156,183,218$   153,721,450$    

Changes in net position:
Net investment income (loss) 948,997$             3,614,695$       25,667,779$      
Employer contributions 9,423,081            9,670,794         9,266,529          
Retiree benefits paid (9,423,081)           (9,670,794)        (9,266,529)         
Administrative fees (831,872)              (1,152,927)        (1,050,771)         

Net change in net position 117,125$             2,461,768$       24,617,008$       
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Investment Objectives and Asset Allocation 
The Lansing Board of Water and Light Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust (the “Plan”) assets shall be 
invested in accordance with sound investment practices that emphasize long-term investment 
fundamentals. In establishing the investment objectives of the Plan, the BWL has taken into 
account the time horizon available for investment, the nature of the Plan’s cash flows and 
liabilities, and other factors that affect the Plan’s risk tolerance. Consistent with this, the BWL 
has determined that the investment objective is income and growth. This investment objective 
is a balanced approach that emphasizes a stable and substantial source of current income and 
some capital appreciation over the long term.  

Consistent with the advice of the investment advisor, the BWL has selected the following target 
asset allocation strategy: 

 Domestic large capitalization stocks 43.2% 
 Domestic small capitalization stocks 10.0% 
 International stocks 10.7% 
 U.S. core fixed income 31.1% 
 Private equity 5.0% 

Investment Results 

The fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 saw a net investment income, net of administrative 
expenses, of $0.1 million.  We believe this performance is in line with the overall level of 
recovery experienced by the stock and bond markets. 

Future Events 

The BWL is funding its other postemployment benefits (OPEBs) and is intending to meet its annual 
required contributions (ARC) in part by making contributions into the VEBA Trust Fund.  

Contacting the Plan’s Management 

This financial report is intended to provide a general overview of the Plan’s finances and to 
show accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need 
additional information, we welcome you to contact the office of Heather Shawa-DeCook, Chief 
Financial Officer, at P.O. Box 13007, Lansing, Michigan 48901-3007. 
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Statement of Trust Net Position 

 2016  2015 

Assets

Investments - Fair value:
Cash and money market trust funds 13,498,404$       6,243,203$            
Fixed income securities 28,725,054         21,269,571            
U.S. government obligations 21,458,288         15,462,341            
Equities 77,022,878         111,112,369          
Mutual funds 15,208,788         1,894,929              

Total investments at fair value 155,913,412       155,982,413          

Investment interest and dividend receivable 386,930              200,805                 

Trust Net Position 156,300,342$     156,183,218$        

 As of June 30 
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Statement of Changes in Trust Net Position 

 2016  2015 
 

Increase
 Investment income: 

Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments (2,293,242)$                650,079$                    
Interest and dividend income 3,242,238                   2,964,616                   

Total investment income 948,996                      3,614,695                   

Employer contributions 9,423,081                   9,670,794                   

Total increase 10,372,077                 13,285,489                 

Decrease

Retiree benefits paid 9,423,081                   9,670,794                   
Administrative expenses 831,872                      1,152,927                   

Total decrease 10,254,953                 10,823,721                 

Net Increase in Trust Net Position 117,124                      2,461,768                   

Trust Net Position

Beginning of year 156,183,218               153,721,450               

End of year 156,300,342$             156,183,218$             

 For the Year Ended June 30 
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Note 1 - Description of the Plan 

The following description of the Plan, a trust fund of the BWL, provides only general 
information. Participants should refer to the plan agreement for a more complete 
description of the Plan’s provisions. 

General - The Plan was established on October 20, 1999, effective as of July 1, 1999, to 
constitute a voluntary employee beneficiary association (VEBA) under Section 501(c)(9) 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The Plan was formed for the 
purpose of accumulating assets sufficient to fund retiree healthcare insurance costs in 
future years.  

The Plan is a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan. The Plan provides 
medical, dental, and life insurance benefits in accordance with Section 5-203 of the 
City Charter. Substantially all of the BWL’s employees may become eligible for 
healthcare benefits and life insurance benefits if they reach normal retirement age while 
working for the BWL. There were 715 participants eligible to receive benefits at June 30, 
2016 and 725 participants eligible at June 30, 2015.   

Benefits - Benefits shall not be paid from this Plan to participants or their beneficiaries 
during a plan year in which there has been a “qualified transfer” pursuant to Internal 
Revenue Code Section 420(e)(1)(8) from the Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined 
Benefit Plan for the Employees' Pensions, except that once the “qualified transfer” has 
been exhausted for the purpose of paying qualified current retiree health liabilities, 
benefit payments may be made under this Plan consistent with Internal Revenue Code 
Section 420(e)(1)(B). After “qualified transfers” have been exhausted, benefits paid 
under this Plan shall be those benefits described in the relevant sections of the 
Postretirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of the Lansing Board of Water and 
Light. 

Trustees - Each member of the Lansing Board of Water and Light board of 
commissioners is a trustee during the term of office as a commissioner. The trustees 
have appointed Fifth Third Bank as custodian of the Plan’s assets. 
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Note 1 - Description of the Plan (Continued) 

Contributions – The retiree benefits are paid by BWL’s general cash flow to the third 
party administrators who process participant claims. These payments represent 
contributions to the Plan. Employer contributions in the statement of changes in trust 
net position are equal to the retiree benefits paid because the annual required 
contribution (ARC) for the year ended June 30, 2016 was less than the pay-as-you-go 
amount. During the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the cost to BWL of 
maintaining the Retiree Benefit Plan was $9,423,081 and $9,670,794 of which 
respectively, was incurred as retiree benefit payments. The Lansing Board of Water and 
Light may make additional contributions in such a manner and at such times as 
appropriate. All contributions received, together with the income thereon, are held, 
invested, reinvested, and administered by the trustees pursuant to the terms of the 
plan agreement. Additional contributions are only made to the Plan if the ARC is more 
than the pay-as-you-go amount. No employee contributions are allowed under this 
Plan. Contributions are recognized when due and when the amount to be contributed is 
committed by the BWL. 

Participation - Participation in this Plan is determined in accordance with the terms of 
the Postretirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of the Lansing Board of Water and 
Light. At June 30, 2016, there were 715 active participants (not eligible to receive 
benefits), 78 disabled participants, 431 retired participants, 489 active spouses (not 
eligible to receive benefits), and 138 surviving spouses participating in the Plan. At June 
30, 2015, there were 725 active participants (not eligible to receive benefits), 80 
disabled participants, 485 retired participants, 491 active spouses (not eligible to 
receive benefits), and 152 surviving spouses participating in the Plan. 

Vesting - Benefits become payable in accordance with the terms of the Postretirement 
Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light. At no time will 
benefits of the Postretirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of 
Water and Light be vested. The BWL may reduce or eliminate any or all plan benefits at 
any time, subject to the requirements of any collective bargaining agreement. 

Termination - In the event of plan termination, all plan assets shall be used to purchase 
additional eligible benefits in accordance with the terms of the plan agreement. In the 
event of dissolution, merger, consolidation, or reorganization of the BWL, the Plan shall 
terminate and liquidate in a manner consistent with the plan agreement unless the Plan 
is continued by a successor to the BWL. 
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Accounting and Reporting Principles 

The Plan follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. Accounting and financial reporting 
pronouncements are promulgated by the Government Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis of Accounting 

Fiduciary funds use the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual 
basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when 
a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Employer 
contributions to the Plan are recognized when due pursuant to legal requirements.  

Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of the Plan. 

In February 2015, the GASB issued statement No. 72 – Fair Value Measurement and 
Application. The objective of this statement is to provide guidance for determining a 
fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes as well as to provide guidance 
for applying fair value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value 
measurements. This standard was implemented effective July 1, 2015. 

Report Presentation 

This report includes the fund-based statements of the Plan. 

Investment Valuation and Income Recognition - Plan investments are reported at fair 
value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last 
reported sales price.  

Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on a trade-date basis. 

Appreciation or depreciation of investments is calculated based on the beginning of the 
period’s fair value of investments. 

Expenses - Substantially all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the 
operation and administration of the Plan are paid by the BWL, the plan sponsor. The 
Plan pays all transaction expenses incurred in connection with the investment accounts. 
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Report Presentation (Continued) 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

Funding Policy - The BWL adopted a process for funding the retiree benefits using both 
a VEBA trust and, to the extent permitted by law, excess pension assets in the Defined 
Benefit Pension Plan. Additional contributions to the VEBA trust from BWL operating 
funds to supplement Section 420 transfers will not exceed the recommended annual 
contribution amount required to cover current service of active participants and 
amortize the unfunded accrued liability over 30 years. The required contribution is 
based on a projected pay-as-you-go financing requirement with an additional amount 
to prefund benefits. The pay-as-you-go retiree benefits paid was more than the ARC 
and therefore, expensed on the statement of changes in trust net position. 

The BWL’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost is calculated based on the 
ARC, an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB 
Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing 
basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial 
liabilities over a period of 30 years. The annual OPEB contributions are on a pay-as-
you-go accounting method because the Plan is overfunded. 

Contribution trend information is as follows (in thousands): 

 Fiscal Year Ended  Annual OPEB Cost 
 Annual OPEB 

Contributed 

 Percentage of 
Annual OPEB Cost 

Contributed 

6/30/2014 9,202$                     9,268$                        101%
6/30/2015 5,765                       9,671                          168%
6/30/2016 5,828                       9,423                          162%  
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Report Presentation (Continued) 

Funded Status and Funding Progress - Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve 
estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of 
occurrence of events far into the future. Significant actuarial assumptions used in 
determining the annual OPEB cost at June 30, 2016 and 2015 include (a) rate of return 
on the investments of present and future assets of 7.5 percent, compounded annually, 
(b) projected healthcare trend rates ranging from 3.0 percent to 9.0 percent, (c) 
amortization method level dollar over an open 30-year period, and (d) RP-2014 
mortality table fully generational using scale MP-2015 and RP-2014 Mortality Table 
fully generational using scale MP-2014, respectively. 

Funding status and funding progress trend information is as follows (in thousands): 

 Valuation Date 
 Actuarial

Asset Value        
 Actuarial Accrued 

Liability  
 Unfunded Actuarial 

Accrued Liability  

AAV as a
Percentage

of AAL 

2/28/2014 148,307$                 194,365$                    46,058$                   76.30%
2/28/2015 157,565                   200,196                      42,631                     78.71%
2/29/2016 145,274                   205,215                      59,941                     70.79%

 

Actuarial Assumptions - Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of 
the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of 
events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, 
mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded 
status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to 
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as 
required supplemental information following the notes to the financial statements, 
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is 
increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for 
benefits.  
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Report Presentation (Continued) 

Actuarial Assumptions (continued) - Projections of benefits for financial reporting 
purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer 
and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each 
valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer 
and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include 
techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial 
accrued liabilities consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.  

The Plan has calculated the accrued actuarial liability and required contribution using 
certain methods and assumptions. Benefit payments have been computed using the 
individual entry age normal method. The assets have been valued in the actuary report 
using the fair market value. The healthcare cost trend rates used range from 3.0 to 9.0 
percent for the year ended June 30, 2016, and 5.0 to 9.0 percent for the year ended 
June 30, 2015. 

Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure 

The Lansing Board of Water and Light Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust has adopted GASB 
No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures. The modified disclosures required by 
GASB No. 40 are reflected below. 

The Plan is authorized through Public Act 149 of 1999 to invest in accordance with 
Public Act 314. Public Act 314 of 1965, as amended, allows the Plan to invest in certain 
reverse repurchase agreements, stocks, diversified investment companies, annuity 
investment contracts, real estate leased to public entities, mortgages, real estate, debt 
or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and local government obligations, 
and certain other specified investment vehicles. 

The Plan’s deposits and investment policies are in accordance with PA 196 of 1997 and 
have authorized the investments according to Michigan PA 314 of 1965, as amended. 

The Plan’s cash and investments are subject to several types of risk, which are 
examined in more detail below: 
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Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure (Continued) 

Risks at June 30, 2016 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Plan’s deposits 
may not be returned to it. The Plan requires that financial institutions must meet 
minimum criteria to offer adequate safety to the Plan. The Plan evaluates each financial 
institution with which it deposits funds and only those institutions meeting minimum 
established criteria are used as depositories.   

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments  

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the 
Plan will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party. The Plan does not have a policy for custodial 
credit risk. At year end, all investments of the Plan were held in the name of the Board 
of Water and Light and are therefore not subject to custodial credit risk.  

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will decrease as a result of a 
rise in interest rates. The Plan’s investment policy does not restrict investment 
maturities.  At year end, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value  Weighted Average Maturity 

U.S. government obligations 21,458,288$               13.43 years 
Fixed income securities 28,725,054                 13.07 years 
Money market trust funds 12,699,502                 Less than 1 year 
Portfolio weighted average maturity 13.33 years  
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Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure (Continued) 

Credit Risk 

State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by 
nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The Plan has no investment policy 
that would further limit its investment choices. As of yearend, the credit quality ratings 
of debt securities (other than the U.S. government) are as follows:  

Investment Fair Value Rating Rating Organization

Fixed income securities 1,536,663$              AAA S&P
Fixed income securities 9,716,782                AA+ S&P
Fixed income securities 556,160                   AA S&P
Fixed income securities 440,709                   AA- S&P
Fixed income securities 916,021                   A+ S&P
Fixed income securities 3,225,558                A S&P
Fixed income securities 2,646,456                A- S&P
Fixed income securities 5,973,642                BBB+ S&P
Fixed income securities 2,435,831                BBB S&P
Fixed income securities 1,190,777                BBB- S&P
Fixed income securities 37,450                     BB S&P
Fixed income securities 49,005                     BB- S&P
Money market trust funds 12,699,502               Not rated  Not rated 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Board of Commissioners places no limit on the amount the Plan may invest in any 
one issuer.  

Risks at June 30, 2015 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Plan’s deposits 
may not be returned to it. The Plan requires that financial institutions must meet 
minimum criteria to offer adequate safety to the Plan. The Plan evaluates each financial 
institution with which it deposits funds and only those institutions meeting minimum 
established criteria are used as depositories. 



Lansing Board of Water and Light 
Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust 

Notes to Financial Statements 
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 

 15

Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure (Continued) 

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments  

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the 
Plan will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party. The Plan does not have a policy for custodial 
credit risk. At year end, all investments of the Plan were held in the name of the Board 
of Water and Light and, therefore, are not subject to custodial credit risk. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will decrease as a result of a 
rise in interest rates. The Plan’s investment policy does not restrict investment 
maturities. At year end, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value  Weighted Average Maturity 

U.S. government obligations 15,462,341$               11.87 years 
Fixed income securities 21,269,571                 14.12 years 
Money market trust funds 6,051,856                   Less than 1 year 
Portfolio weighted average maturity 11.31 years  
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Note 3 - Cash, Investments, and Fair Disclosure (Continued) 

Credit Risk 

State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by 
nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The Plan has no investment policy 
that would further limit its investment choices. As of yearend, the credit quality ratings 
of debt securities (other than the U.S. government) are as follows:  

Investment Fair Value Rating Rating Organization

Fixed income securities 2,469,542$              AAA S&P
Fixed income securities 7,891,448                AA+ S&P
Fixed income securities 448,070                   AA S&P
Fixed income securities 323,354                   AA- S&P
Fixed income securities 936,680                   A+ S&P
Fixed income securities 1,686,646                A S&P
Fixed income securities 2,216,285                A- S&P
Fixed income securities 1,666,828                BBB+ S&P
Fixed income securities 1,284,231                BBB S&P
Fixed income securities 861,822                   BBB- S&P
Fixed income securities 156,369                   BB+ S&P
Fixed income securities 98,900                     BB S&P
Fixed income securities 261,306                   BB- S&P
Fixed income securities 63,744                     B+ S&P
Fixed income securities 141,348                   B- S&P
Fixed income securities 574,676                   CCC S&P
Fixed income securities 117,710                   D S&P
Fixed income securities 70,612                      Not rated  Not rated 
Money market trust funds 6,051,856                 Not rated  Not rated 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Board of Commissioners places no limit on the amount the Plan may invest in any 
one issuer.  
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Note 4 – Net Appreciation of Investments 

Net (depreciation) appreciation of the Plan's investments is as follows:

 2016  2015 

Investments at fair value as determined by
  quoted market price:

Fixed income securities 517,281$               (257,174)$             
U.S. government obligations 671,566                 160,377                 
Equities (2,471,834)            970,370                 
Alternative investments 193,224                 24,418                   
Mutual funds (1,203,479)          (247,912)              

Total (2,293,242)$          650,079$                

 
Note 5 - Tax Status 

The Plan is exempt under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(9) and received an 
exemption letter as of February 9, 2000. The Plan has since been amended. 
Management believes the Plan continues to operate as a qualified plan.  

 

Note 6 – Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements 

GASB Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other 
Than Pension Plans, was issued in June 2015. This new accounting standard addresses 
reporting by postemployment benefit plans other than pensions (OPEB) that administer 
defined benefit OPEB benefits on behalf of governments. Along with the currently 
required statement of fiduciary net position and statement of changes in fiduciary net 
position, OPEB plans will now be required to include in the financial statements more 
extensive footnote disclosures and required supplemental information related to the 
measurement of the OPEB liabilities for which assets have been accumulated. The 
provisions of this new standard are effective for the Plan’s June 30, 2017 year end. 
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Note 7 – Fair Value Measurements 

The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3). The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy under authoritative guidance are described as follows: 

Level 1 -  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted market prices 
for identical assets in active markets that the Plan has the ability to 
access. 

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

> quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
> quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive 

markets; 
> inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 

liability; 
> inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable 

market data by correlation or other means; and 
> if the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the level 2 

input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or 
liability. 

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to 
the fair value measurement. 
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Note 7 – Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is 
based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
Valuation techniques maximize the use of relevant observables and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs.  

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured 
at fair value. There have been no changes in the methodologies used at June 30, 2016 
and 2015: 

Money market fund:  Valued at the quoted net asset value ("NAV") of shares held by the 
Plan at year end. 

Fixed income securities, U.S. government obligations, and equities: Valued at the most 
recent closing price reported on the market on which individual securities are traded. 

Mutual funds:  Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Mutual funds 
held by the Plan are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. These funds are required to publish their daily NAV and to 
transact at that price. The mutual funds held by the Plan are deemed to be actively 
traded. 

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative 
of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Plan 
believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market 
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair 
value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement 
at the reporting date. 
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Note 7 – Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Plan’s assets 
at fair value as of June 30, 2016 and 2015: 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and money market trust fund 798,902$          12,699,502$     -$                 13,498,404$     
Fixed income securities -                        28,725,054       -                   28,725,054       
U.S. government obligations -                        21,458,288       -                   21,458,288       
Equities 77,022,878       -                        -                   77,022,878       
Mutual funds -                        15,208,788       -                   15,208,788       

Total 77,821,780$     78,091,632$     -$                 155,913,412$   

June 30, 2016

 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and money market trust fund 193,939$          6,049,264$       -$               6,243,203$       
Fixed income securities -                        21,269,571       -                 21,269,571       
U.S. government obligations -                        15,462,341       -                 15,462,341       
Equities 111,112,369     -                        -                 111,112,369     
Mutual funds -                        1,894,929         -                 1,894,929         

Total 111,306,308$   44,676,105$     -$               155,982,413$   

June 30, 2015

 

Note 8 – Risks and Uncertainties 

Plan contributions are made and the accrued actuarial liability is reported based on 
certain assumptions pertaining to interest rates, inflation rates, and employee 
demographics, all of which are subject to change. Due to uncertainties inherent in the 
estimations and assumptions process, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in 
these estimates and assumptions in the near term would be material to the financial 
statements. 
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Note 8 – Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)  

In addition, the Plan invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are 
exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level 
of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible 
that changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and that 
such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the Statement of Trust 
Net Position. 

Note 9 – Subsequent Events 

The Plan has evaluated subsequent events occurring through September 6, 2016, which 
is the date that the Plan's financial statements were approved and available to be 
issued, for events requiring recording or disclosure in the Plan's financial statements. 
There are no subsequent events warranting disclosures. 
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Schedule of Funding Progress  
(in thousands) 

 Valuation
Date 

 Actuarial
Asset Value  AAL  UAAL 

 Funded
Ratio 

2/29/2008 57,246$                               236,102$                178,856$               24.25%
2/28/2009 45,320                                 256,888                  211,568                 17.64%
2/28/2010 76,117                                 252,142                  176,025                 30.19%
2/28/2011 100,604                               260,097                  159,493                 38.68%
2/28/2012 110,029                               245,418                  135,389                 44.83%
2/28/2013 123,195                               207,864                  84,669                   59.27%
2/28/2014 148,307                               194,365                  46,058                   76.30%
2/28/2015 157,564                               200,196                  42,632                   78.70%
2/29/2016 145,274                               205,215                  59,941                   70.79%

 
AAL - Actuarial accrued liability (projected unit credit accrued liability) 
UAAL - Unfunded actuarial accrued liability and negative UAAL indicate a funding excess. 



Lansing Board of Water and Light 
Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust 

 24

Schedule of Employer Contributions  
(in thousands) 

 Fiscal Year
Ended  Required  Actual 

6/30/2008 14,797$              14,962$              101%
6/30/2009 18,132                17,866                99%
6/30/2010 21,291                21,318                100%
6/30/2011 17,300                17,236                100%
6/30/2012 15,744                15,854                101%
6/30/2013 13,994                14,045                100%
6/30/2014 9,200                  9,268                  101%
6/30/2015 5,762                  9,671                  168%
6/30/2016 5,788                  9,423                  163%

 Employer Contributions  Percentage of 
ARC 

Contributed 

 

ARC - Annual required contribution 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City
Council, and Commissioners of the Board of
Water and Light 

Lansing Board of Water and Light Employees'
Defined Contribution Pension Plan

City of Lansing, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Lansing Board of Water and Light Employees'
Defined Contribution Pension Plan (the "Plan"), which comprise the statement of plan net position as of June 30,
2016 and the related statement of changes in plan net position for the year then ended, and the related notes to
the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Plan management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Plan's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City
Council, and Commissioners of the Board of
Water and Light 

Lansing Board of Water and Light Employees'
Defined Contribution Pension Plan

City of Lansing, Michigan

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net position
of the Plan as of June 30, 2016 and the changes in plan net position for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Prior Period Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Plan as of June 30, 2015, were audited by other auditors whose report dated
August 28, 2015, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

Other Matters

Report on Required Management's Discussion and Analysis

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages 3 and 4 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economical, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required management's discussion and analysis in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The
statement of changes in net position by fund is presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Madison, Wisconsin
September 6, 2016

Page 2
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Using this Annual Report 

This annual report consists of two parts: (1) management’s discussion and analysis (this 
section) and (2) the basic financial statements.  The financial statements also include notes that 
explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide more detailed data.   

Condensed Financial Information 

The table below compares key financial information in a condensed format between the current 
year and the prior two years: 

2016 2015 2014

Assets held in trust:
Mutual funds 124,001,268$           130,790,091$           127,907,621$           
Stable value 34,193,741              31,844,948              33,607,203              
Guaranteed income fund 7,735,485                5,220,516                2,535,165                
Participant notes receivable and other 5,300,821                5,265,081                5,229,750                

Net position 171,231,315$           173,120,636$           169,279,739$           

Changes in plan assets:
Net investment income/(loss) (1,505,961)$             7,317,020$              23,453,570$             
Employer and participant contributions 7,688,472                6,893,841                6,521,703                
Benefits paid to participants (7,946,117)               (10,451,713)             (7,645,116)               
Loan defaults and other changes (125,715)                  81,749                     55,140                     

Changes in net position (1,889,321)$             3,840,897$              22,385,297$              
 

Investment Objectives  

The principal purpose of the Lansing Board of Water and Light Employees’ Defined Contribution 
Pension Plan (the “Plan”) is to provide benefits at a normal retirement age; the Plan’s funds are 
selected to optimize return on a risk-adjusted basis within each asset class, to provide an 
opportunity to create a well-diversified portfolio, to control administrative and management 
cost, and to comply with relevant Michigan and federal law. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

The Plan allows each participant to direct the investment of the funds in his or her plan 
accounts.  The Lansing Board of Water and Light (the “BWL”) will offer various investment 
options (consistent with the investment policy statement), among which participants may 
choose to invest their respective interests in the Plan.  The BWL periodically reviews the 
performance of investment options available to participants to ensure that each such option is 
meeting its investment objectives.   

Investment Results 

The fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 saw a net investment loss of $1.5 million. Total assets held 
in trust at the end of the fiscal year were $171.2 million.    

Future Events 

The BWL has no current plans to revise the terms of its defined contribution pension plan. 

Contacting the Plan’s Management 

This financial report is intended to provide a general overview of the Plan’s finances and to 
show accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need 
additional information, we welcome you to contact the office of Heather Shawa-DeCook, Chief 
Financial Officer, at P.O. Box 13007, Lansing, Michigan 48901-3007. 
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Statement of Net Position 

2016 2015

Assets
Participant-directed investments (Note 1):

Mutual funds:
Money market 675,272$               228,799$               
Bond and equity funds 17,070,664            17,657,647            
Stock funds 60,866,409            64,962,538            
Balanced funds 24,859,849            24,993,891            
Growth funds 6,212,755              6,269,076              
International funds 14,316,319            16,678,140            

Total mutual funds 124,001,268          130,790,091          

Stable value 34,193,741            31,844,948            
Guaranteed income fund 7,735,485              5,220,516              
Self-directed brokerage account 1,551,450              1,376,730              

Total participant-directed investments 167,481,944          169,232,285          

Participant notes receivable 3,749,371              3,888,351              

Net Position Restricted for Pensions 171,231,315$        173,120,636$        

As of June 30
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Statement of Changes in Net Position 

2016 2015

Increase
Investment income (loss):

Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair 
 value of investments (8,061,276)$           21,201$                 

Dividend income 6,555,315              7,295,819              

Total investment income (loss) (1,505,961)             7,317,020              

Employer contributions (Note 1) 5,661,884              5,548,360              
Participant rollover contributions 2,026,588              1,345,481              
Interest from participant notes receivable 150,624                 155,010                 
Other -                             152,128                 

Total increase 6,333,135              14,517,999            

Decrease
Benefits paid to participants 7,946,117              10,451,713            
Loan defaults 186,801                 125,254                 
Participants' note and administrative fees 89,538                   100,135                 

Total decrease 8,222,456              10,677,102            

Change in Net Position Held in Trust (1,889,321)             3,840,897              

Net Position Restricted for Pensions
Beginning of year 173,120,636          169,279,739          

End of year 171,231,315$        173,120,636$        

For the Year Ended June 30
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Note 1 - Description of the Plan 

The following description of Lansing Board of Water and Light Employees’ Defined 
Contribution Pension Plan (the “Plan”) provides only general information. Participants 
should refer to the plan agreement for a more complete description of the Plan‘s 
provisions. 

General - The Plan was established by the BWL in 1997 under Section 5-203 of the City 
Charter. Prior to its establishment, the BWL sponsored a defined benefit plan (Plan for 
Employees’ Pensions of the Board of Water and Light - City of Lansing, Michigan - 
Defined Benefit Plan) in which substantially all employees of the BWL were participants. 
Effective December 1, 1997, all active participants of the defined benefit plan were 
required to make an irrevocable choice to either remain in the defined benefit plan or 
move to the newly established defined contribution plan (Lansing Board of Water and 
Light Employees’ Defined Contribution Plan). Those participants who elected to move to 
the defined contribution plan received lump-sum distributions from the defined benefit 
plan, which were rolled into their accounts in the new defined contribution plan. Of the 
760 active participants who were required to make this election, 602 elected to convert 
their retirement benefits to the newly established defined contribution plan. As a result 
of this action, effective December 1, 1997, the Board of Commissioners transferred 
$75,116,470 to the newly established defined contribution plan, reflecting the plan 
participants’ accumulated benefits as of said date. 

ICMA-RC, the plan administrator, controls and manages the operation and 
administration of the Plan. 

Contributions - For employees hired before January 1, 1997, the BWL is required to 
contribute 15 percent of the employees’ compensation. For employees hired on or after 
January 1, 1997, the BWL is required to contribute 8.1 percent of the employees’ 
compensation. In addition, the BWL is required to contribute an additional 3.0 percent 
of the employees’ compensation for all employees who are not eligible to receive 
overtime pay and 0.5 percent of the employees’ compensation for all non-bargaining 
employees. The Board of Commissioners of the Board of Water and Light - City of 
Lansing may amend the Plan’s provisions and contribution requirements. 
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Note 1 - Description of the Plan (Continued) 

Participant Accounts - Each participant’s account is credited with the participant’s 
rollover contributions and withdrawals, as applicable, and allocations of the BWL’s 
contributions and plan earnings. Allocations are based on participants’ earnings or 
account balances, as defined in the plan document. Forfeited balances of terminated 
participants’ non-vested accounts are used to reduce future BWL contributions. The 
benefit to which a participant is entitled is the benefit that can be provided from the 
participant’s account. 

As of June 30, 2016, there were 915 participants in the Plan, of which 705 were active 
employees. As of June 30, 2015, there were 878 participants in the Plan, of which 725 
were active employees. 

Vesting - Participants start to become vested in the BWL contribution and related 
earnings after completing three years of service, at a rate of 25 percent each year.  
Participants become fully vested after six years of service. 

Investment Options - Participants may direct contributions in any of the following 
investment options, which are administered by ICMA-RC. Since ICMA-RC is the 
custodian as defined by the Plan, transactions in the ICMA funds qualify as transactions 
with parties in interest. 

Stable Value - Seeks safety of principal, adequate liquidity, and returns superior to 
shorter maturity alternatives by actively managing a diversified portfolio of assets 
issued by highly rated financial institutions and corporations as well as obligations of 
the U.S. government or its agencies.  

Balanced - Seeks both current income and capital appreciation by investing in a 
combination of stocks, bonds, and money market instruments.  

Growth - Seeks long-term capital appreciation by investing primarily in equity 
securities of companies with above-average growth prospects. Current income is a 
secondary concern.  
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Note 1 - Description of the Plan (Continued) 

International - Seeks long-term capital appreciation by investing primarily in equity 
securities of issuers located outside of the U.S.  

Stock Funds - Seeks long-term growth through capital gains, although historically 
dividends have been an important source of total return.  These funds primarily invest 
in the common stocks of companies based in the United States. There are many options 
for diversification within this category. 

Bond and Equity Funds - Seeks to maximize current income with capital appreciation as 
a secondary consideration by investing primarily in debt securities issued by the U.S. 
government or its agencies and domestic and foreign corporations.  They are not fixed-
income investments. Even when a mutual fund’s portfolio is composed entirely of 
bonds, the fund itself has neither a fixed yield nor a contractual obligation to give 
investors back their principal at some later maturity date - the two key fixed 
characteristics of individual bonds. 

Guaranteed Lifetime Income fund: The Retirement Income Advantage Fund seeks both 
moderate capital growth and current income. It invests in a separate account under a 
group variable annuity. The separate account, in turn, invests in a mix of registered 
funds and a collective trust fund with an allocation of approximately 60% domestic and 
foreign equities and 40% fixed income. 

Self-directed Brokerage Account - Participants with a minimum account balance of 
$35,000 may transfer from their fund accounts a minimum of $5,000 to a self-directed 
brokerage account. Eligible investments are equity securities traded on U.S. exchanges 
valued at greater than $5 and over 400 mutual funds from 18 investment management 
companies. Participants pay a one-time set-up fee of $50. 

Participant Notes Receivable - Participants may borrow from their fund accounts a 
minimum of $1,000 up to a maximum of the lesser of $50,000 or 50 percent of their 
account balances. Notes receivable are treated as transfers between the investment 
fund and the notes receivable fund. Note terms range from one to five years or up to 20 
years for the purchase of a primary residence. The notes receivable are secured by the 
balance in the participant’s account and bear interest at a rate commensurate with 
prevailing rates as determined periodically by the plan administrator. Principal and 
interest are paid ratably through payroll deductions. 
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Note 1 - Description of the Plan (Continued) 

Payment of Benefits - Upon termination of service, a participant may elect to receive 
either a lump-sum amount equal to the value of the participant’s vested interest in his 
or her account, or choose from a variety of periodic payment options. 

Reclassifications - Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to 
conform with current year presentations except for the Supplemental Information. The 
reclassifications have no effect on net income. 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Accounting - The financial statements of the Plan have been prepared using 
the accrual method of accounting in accordance with Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans. 

In February 2015, the GASB issued statement No. 72 - Fair Value Measurement and 
Application.  The objective of this statement is to provide guidance for determining a 
fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes as well as to provide guidance 
for applying fair value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value 
measurements. This standard was implemented effective July 1, 2015. 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of additions and deductions during 
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Valuation of Investments and Income Recognition - The investments are stated at 
market value based on closing sales prices reported on recognized securities 
exchanges on the last business day of the year, or for listed securities having no sales 
reported, and for unlisted securities, upon the last reported bid prices on that date. The 
mutual funds are valued at quoted market prices, which represent the net asset values 
of shares held by the Plan at year end. 

Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income 
is accrued when earned. Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. 
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Participant Notes Receivable - Participant notes receivable are recorded at their unpaid 
principal balances plus any accrued interest.  Participant notes receivable are written off 
when deemed uncollectible. 

Expenses - The Plan’s expenses are paid by the BWL as provided by the plan document. 

Regulatory Status - The Plan is not subject to the reporting requirements of the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) as it has been established for 
the benefit of a governmental unit. 

Note 3 - Investments 

The pension trust fund is authorized by Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965, as amended, 
to invest in certain reverse repurchase agreements, stocks, diversified investment 
companies, annuity investment contracts, real estate leased to public entities, 
mortgages, real estate, debt or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and 
local government obligations, and certain other specified investment vehicles. 

The Plan’s deposits and investment policies are in accordance with PA 196 of 1997 and 
has authorized the investments according to Michigan PA 314 of 1965, as amended. 

Risks at June 30, 2016 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits - At the end of the year, the Plan has no bank 
deposits. 

Concentrations – As of June 30, 2016, the plan had stable value investments of 
$34,193,741 that were concentrated in one fund. 
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Note 3 – Investments (Continued) 

Credit Risk - State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings 
issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The Plan has no 
investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of year end, the 
credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. government) are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value Rating
Rating

Organization

Mutual funds 124,001,268$             Not rated Not rated
Stable value 34,193,741                AA S&P

 

Risks at June 30, 2015 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits - At the end of the year, the Plan has no bank 
deposits. 

Concentrations – As of June 30, 2015, the plan had stable value investments of 
$31,844,948 that were concentrated in one fund. 

Credit Risk - State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings 
issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The Plan has no 
investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of year end, the 
credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. government) are as follows: 

Investment Fair Value Rating
Rating

Organization

Mutual funds 130,790,091$             Not rated Not rated
Stable value 31,844,948                AA S&P

 

Note 4 - Plan Termination 

Although it has not expressed any intention to do so, the BWL has the right under the 
Plan to terminate the Plan subject to the provisions set forth in Article 14 of the Plan. In 
the event of any termination of the Plan, or upon complete or partial discontinuance of 
contributions, the accounts of each affected participant shall become fully vested. 
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Note 5 - Tax Status 

The Plan is a prototype plan.  The prototype plan has received a favorable opinion letter 
from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that the prototype plan, as designed, is qualified 
for federal income tax-exempt status.  The Plan has not individually sought its own 
determination letter. 

Note 6 – Fair Value Measurements 

The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3). The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy under authoritative guidance are described as follows: 

Level 1 -  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted market prices 
for identical assets in active markets that the Plan has the ability to 
access. 

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

> quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
> quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive 

markets; 
> inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 

liability; 
> inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable 

market data by correlation or other means. 
> If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the level 2 

input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or 
liability 

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to 
the fair value measurement. 
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Note 6 – Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is 
based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
Valuation techniques maximize the use of relevant observables and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs.  

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured 
at fair value. There have been no changes in the methodologies used at June 30, 2016 
and 2015: 

Money market fund, growth funds, and international funds:  Valued at the quoted net 
asset value ("NAV") of shares held by the Plan at year end. 

Common stock and bond and equity funds: Valued at the most recent closing price 
reported on the market on which individual securities are traded. 

Mutual funds:  Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Mutual funds 
held by the Plan are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. These funds are required to publish their daily NAV and to 
transact at that price. The mutual funds held by the Plan are deemed to be actively 
traded. 

Stable value fund: The Plus Fund is a collective fund that seeks to maintain a stable net 
asset value.  It invests primarily in a diversified portfolio of stable-value investments, 
including traditional guaranteed investment contracts (traditional GICs), separate 
account GICs, synthetic GICs backed by fixed income securities or investments, and 
short-term investment funds, including money market mutual funds.   

Guaranteed Lifetime Income fund: The Retirement Income Advantage Fund seeks both 
moderate capital growth and current income. It invests in a separate account under a 
group variable annuity. The separate account, in turn, invests in a mix of registered 
funds and a collective trust fund with an allocation of approximately 60% domestic and 
foreign equities and 40% fixed income. 
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Note 6 – Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

Self-directed brokerage account: The self-directed brokerage account allows 
participants of the Plan the option of selecting a more personalized and broad range of 
investment choices. The investments within the account consist of corporate stocks, 
which are valued at the most recent closing price reported on the market on which 
individual securities are traded.  

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative 
of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Plan 
believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market 
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair 
value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement 
at the reporting date. 

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Plan’s assets 
at fair value as of June 30, 2016 and 2015: 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Mutual funds:

Money market 675,272$       -$               -$             675,272$       
Bond and equity funds 17,070,664     -                 -               17,070,664     
Stock funds 60,866,409     -                 -               60,866,409     
Balanced funds 24,859,849     -                 -               24,859,849     
Growth funds 6,212,755      -                 -               6,212,755      
International funds 14,316,319     -                 -               14,316,319     

Self-directed brokerage account 1,551,450      -                 -               1,551,450      
Total investments by fair value level 125,552,718$ -$               -$             125,552,718$ 

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)
Stable value 34,193,741     
Guaranteed Lifetime Income 7,735,485      
         Total investments measured at fair value 167,481,944$ 

June 30, 2016
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Note 6 – Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Mutual funds:

Money market 228,799$        -$                -$             228,799$         
Bond and equity funds 17,657,647     -                  -               17,657,647      
Stock funds 64,962,538     -                  -               64,962,538      
Balanced funds 24,993,891     -                  -               24,993,891      
Growth funds 6,269,076       -                  -               6,269,076        
International funds 16,678,140     -                  -               16,678,140      

Self-directed brokerage account 1,376,730       -                  -               1,376,730        
Total investments by fair value level 132,166,821$  -$                -$             132,166,821$   

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)
Stable value 31,844,948      
Guaranteed Lifetime Income 5,220,516        
         Total investments measured at fair value 169,232,285$   

June 30, 2015

 
Investments Measured Using NAV per Share Practical Expedient: The stable value fund 
and guaranteed lifetime income fund use NAV per share as a practical expedient to 
measuring fair value. The stable value fund had a fair value of $34,193,741 and 
$31,844,948 as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively and the guaranteed lifetime 
income fund had a fair value of $7,735,485 and $5,220,516, respectively. These funds 
have no unfunded commitments, the redemption frequency is daily, and there is no 
redemption notice period. 

Note 7 – Risks and Uncertainties 

The Plan invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to 
various risks such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk 
associated with certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that 
changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and that such 
changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the Statement of Net Position. 
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Note 8 – Subsequent Events 

The Plan has evaluated subsequent events occurring through September 6, 2016, which 
is the date that the Plan's financial statements were approved and available to be 
issued, for events requiring recording or disclosure in the Plan's financial statements. 
There are no subsequent events warranting disclosures. 
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Statement of Changes in Net Position by Fund 

2016 2015 2016 2015
Increase

Investment income:
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value of investments -$                       410$                   (319,980)$            (845,789)$            
Interest income -                         -                         -                         -                         
Dividend income 22                      -                         810,705              813,414              

Employer contributions 34,540                13,977                529,792              477,593              
Participant rollover contributions -                         -                         8,532                  25,541                
Loan repayments 5,074                  21,638                193,306              197,715              
Interest from participant notes receivable -                         -                         -                         -                         
Other -                         -                         (385,742)             (2,216)                 

Total increase, net of 
realized and 
unrealized gains
and losses 39,636                36,025                836,613              666,258              

Decrease
Benefits paid to participants 43,376                150,217              1,091,421            660,545              
Loans to participants 33,845                2,210                  187,775              197,409              
Loan defaults -                         -                         -                         -                         
Participants' note and

administrative fees 510                     327                     24,262                24,358                

Total decrease 77,731                152,754              1,303,458            882,312              

Net (Decrease) Increase Prior to
Interfund Transfers (38,095)               (116,729)             (466,845)             (216,054)             

Interfund Transfers 484,568              227,735              (120,138)             1,316,824            

Net (Decrease) Increase 446,473              111,006              (586,983)             1,100,770            

Beginning of year 228,799              117,793              17,657,647          16,556,877          

End of year 675,272$             228,799$             17,070,664$        17,657,647$        

Money Market

Year Ended June 30

Bond Funds

Year Ended June 30

Net Position Restricted for Pensions
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Statement of Changes in Net Position by Fund (Continued) 

2016 2015 2016 2015
Increase

Investment income:
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value of investments (6,007,342)$         530,586$             (991,563)$            (122,553)$            
Interest income -                         -                         -                         -                         
Dividend income 4,282,319            5,067,314            922,976              972,450              

Employer contributions 1,766,531            1,689,400            1,952,650            1,588,916            
Participant rollover contributions 73,093                246,359              180,578              643,541              
Loan repayments 553,734              635,470              428,538              405,918              
Interest from participant notes receivable -                         -                         -                         -                         
Other 9,779                  87                      10                      40,549                

Total increase, net of 
realized and 
unrealized gains
and losses 678,114              8,169,216            2,493,189            3,528,821            

Decrease
Benefits paid to participants 2,689,987            3,269,915            898,284              1,639,212            
Loans to participants 473,779              496,175              466,829              353,843              
Loan defaults -                         -                         -                         -                         
Participants' note and

administrative fees 27,779                29,869                11,212                14,811                

Total decrease 3,191,545            3,795,959            1,376,325            2,007,866            

Net (Decrease) Increase Prior to
Interfund Transfers (2,513,431)           4,373,257            1,116,864            1,520,955            

Interfund Transfers (1,582,698)           (28,034)               (1,250,906)           (3,487,477)           

Net Increase (Decrease) (4,096,129)           4,345,223            (134,042)             (1,966,522)           

Beginning of year 64,962,538          60,617,315          24,993,891          26,960,413          

End of year 60,866,409$        64,962,538$        24,859,849$        24,993,891$        

Balanced Funds

Year Ended June 30

Stock Funds

Year Ended June 30

Net Position Restricted for Pensions
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Statement of Changes in Net Position by Fund (Continued) 

2016 2015 2016 2015
Increase

Investment income:
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value of investments (143,888)$            115,442$             (1,409,383)$         (279,065)$            
Interest income -                         -                         -                         -                         
Dividend income -                         -                         539,293              432,105              

Employer contributions 555,780              568,790              499,889              514,289              
Participant rollover contributions -                         71,130                4,804                  44,996                
Loan repayments 192,185              235,807              169,473              201,380              
Interest from participant notes receivable -                         -                         -                         -                         
Other -                         -                         9,748                  50                      

Total increase, net of 
realized and 
unrealized gains 
and losses 604,077              991,169              (186,176)             913,755              

Decrease
Benefits paid to participants 13,370                160,116              440,001              605,388              
Loans to participants 167,821              280,581              109,981              205,341              
Loan defaults -                         -                         -                         -                         
Participants' note and

administrative fees 3,550                  3,972                  11,794                15,306                

Total decrease 184,741              444,669              561,776              826,035              

Net (Decrease) Increase Prior to
Interfund Transfers 419,336              546,500              (747,952)             87,720                

Interfund Transfers (475,657)             (422,184)             (1,613,869)           (920,041)             

Net Increase (Decrease) (56,321)               124,316              (2,361,821)           (832,321)             

Beginning of year 6,269,076            6,144,760            16,678,140          17,510,461          

End of year 6,212,755$          6,269,076$          14,316,319$        16,678,140$        

Year Ended June 30

Growth Funds

Net Position Restricted for Pensions

Year Ended June 30

International Funds
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Statement of Changes in Net Position by Fund (Continued) 

2016 2015
Increase

Investment income:
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value of investments (8,872,156)$         (600,969)$            
Interest income -                         -                         
Dividend income 6,555,315            7,285,283            

Employer contributions 5,339,182            4,852,965            
Participant rollover contributions 267,007              1,031,567            
Loan repayments 1,542,310            1,697,928            
Interest from participant notes receivable -                         -                         
Other (366,205)             38,470                

Total increase, net of 
realized and 
unrealized gains
and losses 4,465,453            14,305,244          

Decrease
Benefits paid to participants 5,176,439            6,485,393            
Loans to participants 1,440,030            1,535,559            
Loan defaults -                         -                         
Participants' note and

administrative fees 79,107                88,643                

Total decrease 6,695,576            8,109,595            

Net (Decrease) Increase Prior to
Interfund Transfers (2,230,123)           6,195,649            

Interfund Transfers (4,558,700)           (3,313,177)           

Net Increase (Decrease) (6,788,823)           2,882,472            

Beginning of year 130,790,091        127,907,619        

End of year 124,001,268$      130,790,091$      

Net Position Restricted for Pensions

Total Mutual Funds

Year Ended June 30
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Statement of Changes in Net Position by Fund (Continued) 

2016 2015 2016 2015
Increase

Investment income:
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value of investments 555,204$             580,681$             -$                       -$                    
Interest income -                         -                         42,977                10,536             
Dividend income -                         -                         -                         -                      

Employer contributions 643,972              631,503              -                         -                      
Participant rollover contributions 1,461,825            313,914              -                         -                      
Loan repayments 162,931              177,673              -                         -                      
Interest from participant notes receivable -                         -                         -                         -                      
Other 114,020              113,632              -                         -                      

Total increase, net of 
realized and 
unrealized gains
and losses 2,937,952            1,817,403            42,977                10,536             

Decrease
Benefits paid to participants 2,719,980            3,947,408            -                         -                      
Loans to participants 184,103              136,331              -                         -                      
Loan defaults -                         -                         -                         -                      
Participants' note and

administrative fees 10,331                11,373                -                         -                      

Total decrease 2,914,414            4,095,112            -                         -                      

Net Increase (Decrease) Prior to
Interfund Transfers 23,538                (2,277,709)           42,977                10,536             

Interfund Transfers 2,325,255            515,454              131,743              219,153            

Net Increase (Decrease) 2,348,793            (1,762,255)           174,720              229,689            

Beginning of year 31,844,948          33,607,203          1,376,730            1,147,041         

End of year 34,193,741$        31,844,948$        1,551,450$          1,376,730$       

Brokerage Account

Year Ended June 30

Stable Value Fund

Year Ended June 30

Net Position Restricted for Pensions
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Statement of Changes in Net Position by Fund (Continued) 
 

2016 2015 2016 2015
Increase

Investment income:
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value of investments -$                       -$                       79,128$              41,489$            
Interest income -                         -                         -                         -                      
Dividend income -                         -                         -                         -                      

Employer contributions -                         -                         64,473                63,892             
Participant rollover contributions -                         -                         297,756              -                      
Loan repayments (1,726,936)           (1,896,004)           21,695                20,403             
Interest from participant notes receivable 150,624              155,010              -                         -                      
Other -                         -                         13                      26                    

Total increase, net of 
realized and 
unrealized gains
and losses (1,576,312)           (1,740,994)           463,065              125,810            

Decrease
Benefits paid to participants -                         -                         49,698                18,912             
Loans to participants  (1,624,133)           (1,671,890)           -                         -                      
Loan defaults 186,801              125,254              -                         -                      
Participants' note and

administrative fees -                         -                         103                     119                  

Total decrease (1,437,332)           (1,546,636)           49,801                19,031             

Net Increase (Decrease) Prior to
Interfund Transfers (138,980)             (194,358)             413,264              106,779            

Interfund Transfers -                         -                         2,101,702            2,578,570         

Net Increase (Decrease) (138,980)             (194,358)             2,514,966            2,685,349         

Beginning of year 3,888,351            4,082,709            5,220,519            2,535,167         

End of year 3,749,371$          3,888,351$          7,735,485$          5,220,516$       

Net Position Restricted for Pensions

Participant Notes Receivable

Year Ended June 30

Guaranteed Lifetime Income

Year Ended June 30
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Statement of Changes in Net Position by Fund (Continued) 

Year Ended June 30

2016 2015 2016 2015
Increase

Investment income:
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value of investments 133,571$             -$                       (8,104,253)$         21,201$              
Interest income -                         -                         42,977                10,536                
Dividend income -                         -                         6,555,315            7,285,283            

Employer contributions (385,743)             -                         5,661,884            5,548,360            
Participant rollover contributions -                         -                         2,026,588            1,345,481            
Loan repayments -                         -                         -                         -                         
Interest from participant notes receivable -                         -                         150,624              155,010              
Other 252,172              -                         -                         152,128              

Total increase, net of 
realized and 
unrealized gains
and losses -                         -                         6,333,135            14,517,999          

Decrease
Benefits paid to participants -                         -                         7,946,117            10,451,713          
Loans to participants  -                         -                         -                         -                         
Loan defaults -                         -                         186,801              125,254              
Participants' note and

administrative fees -                         -                         89,538                100,135              

Total decrease -                         -                         8,222,456            10,677,102          

Net Increase (Decrease) Prior to
Interfund Transfers -                         -                         (1,889,321)           3,840,897            

Interfund Transfers -                         -                         -                         -                         

Net Increase (Decrease) -                         -                         (1,889,321)           3,840,897            

Beginning of year -                         -                         173,120,636        169,279,739        

End of year -$                       -$                       171,231,315$      173,120,636$      

TotalReclassifications

Net Position Restricted for Pensions

Year Ended June 30

 



 

RESOLUTION 2016-_____ 
 

Amendments of Pension Plans and Trusts; Revised Investment Policy Statements; Creation 
of Retirement Plan Committee; and Delegation of Authority. 

 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Water and Light (the “Sponsor”) sponsors the Lansing Board of Water 
and Light Defined Benefit Plan for Employees’ Pensions (the “Defined Benefit Plan”) and the 
Post-Retirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light (the 
“Retiree Medical Benefit Plan”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sponsor has decided to create a formal committee to which the Sponsor will 
delegate discretionary authority and responsibility for the discharge of certain of its duties 
relating to the Defined Benefit Plan and the Retiree Medical Benefit Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sponsor has legal authority pursuant to the Defined Benefit Plan and to the 
Retiree Medical Benefit Plan to create the committee and to delegate certain duties to the 
committee; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sponsor wants to amend the Pension Plan Trust relating to the Defined Benefit 
Plan for the purpose of implementing the terms of the Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined 
Benefit Plan for Employees’ Pensions Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and 
Objectives; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sponsor wants to amend the Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust Agreement relating 
to the Retiree Medical Benefit Plan for the purpose of implementing the terms of the Post-
Retirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water & Light Statement of 
Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives. 
 
THEREFORE, it is: 
 
RESOLVED, that the Sponsor approves and adopts the First Amendment to the Pension Plan 
Trust relating to the Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined Benefit Plan for Employees’ 
Pensions effective as indicated therein. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Sponsor approves and adopts the First Amendment to the 
Lansing Board of Water and Light Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust Agreement relating to the 
Post-Retirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light 
effective as indicated therein. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that, after its review, and based on a recommendation from 
management, the Sponsor adopts and approves: (i) the attached Lansing Board of Water & Light 
Defined Benefit Plan for Employees’ Pensions Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and 
Objectives; and (ii) the attached Post-Retirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of Lansing 
Board of Water & Light Statement of Investment Policies, Procedures and Objectives. 
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FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Sponsor hereby creates a committee effective September 27, 
2016 the name of which shall be the “Retirement Plan Committee,” and the Sponsor appoints the 
following individuals to serve on the Retirement Plan Committee: Chief Financial Officer, 
Executive Director of Human Resources, and the Manager of Finance.  The Sponsor appoints the 
Chief Financial Officer to serve as chair of the Committee.  Each Retirement Plan Committee 
member shall serve on the Committee until his or her resignation or removal from the 
Committee.  The presence of a majority of Committee members shall constitute a quorum and 
will be sufficient to conduct the business of the Committee.  Actions of the Committee shall be 
authorized by a vote of a majority of the Committee members present at a meeting at which a 
quorum is present.  Any action which may be taken at a Committee meeting may be taken 
without such meeting if consent to the action in writing (including by electronic mail), setting 
forth the action so taken, is signed by all of the then-serving members of the Committee. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Sponsor acknowledges that the Trustees intend to delegate to 
the Retirement Plan Committee certain duties relating to the investment of Defined Benefit Plan 
assets and to the investment of Retiree Medical Benefit Plan assets.  The Sponsor does not 
delegate to the Committee authority to amend, freeze or terminate the Defined Benefit Plan or 
the Retiree Medical Benefit Plan. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Sponsor indemnifies and holds harmless each member of the 
Committee from and against all liability of any kind, including, without limitation, court costs, 
attorneys’ fees and other expenses that arise from any legal or administrative proceeding of any 
kind that is brought by any person, entity or government agency in connection with the 
Committee’s discharge of its duties relating to the Defined Benefit Plan and to the Retiree 
Medical Benefit Plan; provided, however, that this indemnification shall not apply with regard to 
any proceeding in which a Committee member is found to have been grossly negligent or to have 
violated a law or committed a crime. 
 
 
 
 



To: Board of Commissioners, Finance Committee 
From: Heather Shawa-DeCook, Chief Financial Officer  
Date: September 9, 2016 
Re: Investment Policy Statement Revisions and Accompanying Resolutions 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Attached are several documents which require the Board of Commissioners’ approval: 
1. Revised Investment Policy Statement for Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined 

Benefit Plan for Employees’ Pensions (the “Defined Benefit Plan”); 
2. Revised Investment Policy Statement Post-Retirement Benefit Plan for Eligible 

Employees of Lansing Board of Water and Light (the “Retiree Medical Benefit Plan”); 
3. First Amendment to the Defined Benefit Plan Trust; 
4. First Amendment to the Retiree Medical Benefit Plan Trust; and 
5. Resolution which captures the above 4 documents and creates a Retirement Plan 

Committee. 
 

In essence there is only one substantive change, revision of investment policy. The other 
resolutions formalize and better define current roles and responsibilities amongst Senior 
Management, Commissioners and the Commissioners as Trustees.   
 
Background:  

The Lansing Board of Water and Light sponsors the Defined Benefit Plan and Retiree 
Medical Benefit Plan.  The assets of the Defined Benefit Plan and the assets of the Retiree 
Medical Benefit Plan are held in trust and invested pursuant to a set of investment guidelines by 
an investment manager.  The General Manager, Chief Financial Officer, and certain staff 
members currently have authority to hire an investment manager, provide investment instructions 
to the investment manager, and oversee the investment manager’s actions (hereinafter known as 
the “Current Investment Structure”) pursuant to resolutions previously approved by the Board of 
Commissioners.   
 
 Senior Management consulted with its outside investment advisor, The Bogdahn Group, 
and legal counsel (both internal and external benefit expert) in order to formalize the Current 
Investment Structure with regard to the investment of Defined Benefit Plan and Retiree Medical 
Benefit Plan assets.  After considering current industry practices and trends, Senior Management 
recommends formally documenting the Current Investment Structure so that the allocation of 
fiduciary responsibility relating to the Defined Benefit Plan Trust and to the Retiree Medical 
Benefit Plan Trust is clearly defined.  To that end, Senior Management’s recommendation 
involves the Board of Commissioners creating a formal Retirement Plan Committee to which the 
Trustees of the Defined Benefit Plan Trust and the Trustees of the Retiree Medical Benefit Plan 
Trust will delegate certain investment-related authority.  The attached (i) Lansing Board of 
Water & Light Defined Benefit Plan for Employees’ Pensions Statement of Investment Policies, 
Procedures, and Objectives (the “Defined Benefit IPS”); (ii) Post-Retirement Benefit Plan for 
Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water & Light Statement of Investment Policies, 
Procedures, and Objectives (the “Retiree Medical Benefit IPS”); (iii) First Amendment to the 
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Defined Benefit Plan Trust; and (iv) First Amendment to the Retiree Medical Benefit Plan Trust 
formalize the Current Investment Structure as more fully described below. 
 
The 5 documents referenced above are further detailed as follows:  
 
A. The Defined Benefit IPS and the Retiree Medical Benefit IPS each enumerate the 

investment-related authority that the Trustees will delegate to the Retirement Plan 
Committee with regard to the investment of the assets of each Plan.  That delegation of 
authority will become effective when the Trustees meet in November 2016.  Prior to that 
November meeting, the General Manager, Chief Financial Officer and appropriate staff 
members will continue to have the authority to make asset allocation decisions, consistent 
with current practice. 
 

B. The Defined Benefit IPS and the Retiree Medical Benefit IPS each include investment 
guidelines, an updated asset allocation policy, administrative and investment review 
procedures, and certain guidelines to be followed when evaluating the investments of each 
Plan’s assets.  The investment-related information in each IPS is based on recommendations 
from The Bogdahn Group, and will become effective immediately upon the Board of 
Commissioners’ approval of the IPS documents. 
 

C. The First Amendment to the Defined Benefit Plan Trust and the First Amendment to the 
Retiree Medical Benefit Plan Trust each clarify, consistent with current practice: (i) that the 
Board of Commissioners retains the authority to adopt and approve each IPS (including any 
changes thereto); and (ii) that the Trustees have the authority to delegate investment-related 
authority to the Retirement Plan Committee. 

 
 

Summary Recommendation 
Senior Management recommends approval of the Defined Benefit Plan IPS and the 

Retiree Medical Benefit Plan IPS.  Senior Management also recommends approval of the First 
Amendment to the Defined Benefit Plan Trust, the First Amendment to the Retiree Medical 
Benefit Plan Trust, and the creation of the Retirement Plan Committee. The proposed Retirement 
Plan Committee members will consist of the Chief Financial Officer (Chair), Executive Director 
of Human Resources, and Manager of Finance.  
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE 
PENSION PLAN TRUST 

RELATING TO THE 
LANSING BOARD OF WATER AND LIGHT 

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES’ PENSIONS 
 

The Pension Plan Trust relating to the Lansing Board of Water and Light Defined 

Benefit Plan for Employees’ Pensions is hereby amended effective _________________ as set 

forth below. 

1. Section I.4 is replaced in its entirety with the following: 

“The Board shall establish an investment policy for the Plan that it 
communicates to the Trustee in writing.  The Board shall 
periodically review and, if necessary, revise and update such 
investment policy.  The Trustee shall acknowledge the investment 
policy and any revisions or updates to it by communicating the 
same to the Board in writing.  It shall be the duty of the Trustee to 
act strictly in accordance with such policy, and any changes 
therein, as so communicated to and acknowledged by the Trustee 
from time to time in writing.” 

2. The following new subsection (p) is added to the end of Section II.2: 

“(p) To delegate to any other person(s) or entity all or any part 
of the Trustee’s powers, rights, and duties that are 
described in this Section II.2.  Any such delegation must be 
reported promptly to the Board.  The delegation must be in 
writing (including by electronic mail) and must be kept 
with the Trustee’s permanent records.” 

 
      LANSING BOARD OF WATER AND LIGHT 
 
 
Dated:_____________________  By:_______________________________________ 
      Its: Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
  
 
 
Dated:_____________________  By:_______________________________________ 
      Its: Corporate Secretary 
 
 



FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE 
LANSING BOARD OF WATER AND LIGHT 

RETIREE BENEFIT PLAN AND TRUST AGREEMENT 
RELATING TO THE 

POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN FOR ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES OF 
LANSING BOARD OF WATER AND LIGHT 

 
The Lansing Board of Water and Light Retiree Benefit Plan and Trust Agreement 

relating to the Post-Retirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water 

and Light is hereby amended effective _________________ as set forth below. 

1. Section 7.01 is replaced in its entirety with the following: 

 “7.01 Investment Pursuant to Policy.  The discretion of 
the Trustee in investing and reinvesting the principal and income 
of the Trust Fund shall be subject to such investment policy (and 
any changes thereof from time to time) as the Plan Administrator 
may, pursuant to this Agreement, adopt from time to time and 
communicate to the Trustee in writing.  The Trustee shall formally 
acknowledge the investment policy and any revisions or updates to 
it by communicating the same to the Plan Administrator in writing.  
It shall be the duty of the Trustee to act strictly in accordance with 
such policy, and any changes therein, as so communicated to and 
acknowledged by the Trustee from time to time in writing.” 

2. The following new subsection (p) is added to the end of Section 9.01. 

  “(p) To delegate to any other person(s) or entity 
all or any part of the Trustee’s powers, rights, and duties that are 
described in this Section 9.01.  Any such delegation must be 
reported promptly to the Board.  The delegation must be in writing 
(including by electronic mail) and must be kept with the Trustee’s 
permanent records.” 

      LANSING BOARD OF WATER AND LIGHT 
 
 
Dated:_____________________  By:_______________________________________ 
      Its: Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
 
Dated:_____________________  By:_______________________________________ 
      Its: Corporate Secretary  
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Introduction 
 
The Lansing Board of Water and Light (“BWL”) is a municipally owned utility providing 
drinking water, electricity, steam and chilled water services to the greater Lansing area 
in mid-Michigan.  The Plan receives contributions from the Lansing Board of Water and 
Light.  The Plan pays retirement benefits provided for in the Plan.  Plan assets are 
invested in various types of securities. 
 
This Statement of Investment Policy (“Statement”) is issued by the Commissioners of 
the Lansing Board of Water & Light (the “Commissioners”) for the Lansing Board of 
Water and Light Defined Benefit Plan for Employees’ Pensions (“Plan”).  The purpose 
of this Statement is to (i) identify and present a set of investment objectives, an asset 
allocation policy, investment performance standards and procedures for managing the 
Plan's assets; and (ii) clarify the delegation of certain investment-related duties to the 
Retirement Plan Committee.  This document is intended to be consistent with the 
provisions of Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965 (“Act 314”), as amended. 
 
Updates to Statement 
The Commissioners retain the authority to approve, revise and update this Statement as 
necessary to ensure that it is consistent with the BWL's investment philosophy.  Any 
revisions or updates made to the Statement shall be communicated to the Trustees 
from time to time in writing.  The Trustees shall formally acknowledge any revisions or 
updates by communicating the same to the Commissioners in writing.  It shall be the 
duty of the Trustees to act strictly in accordance with the Statement, and any changes 
therein, as so communicated to and acknowledged by the Trustees. 
 
Trustees 
The Trustees of the Plan are the eight appointed voting Commissioners of the Lansing 
Board of Water & Light.  The Trustees have delegated certain responsibilities that are 
described in this Statement to the Retirement Plan Committee, effective as of the date 
on which this Statement is acknowledged by the Trustees by signature of an authorized 
representative of the Trustees.  As of that date, all provisions in this Statement relating 
to the Retirement Plan Committee shall become operative. 
 
Responsibility for selecting and providing direction to Investment Managers, Investment 
Consultants, custodians, and other administrators required for the management of the 
Plan’s assets and for evaluating overall investment results has been delegated to the 
Retirement Plan Committee which shall report to the Trustees regarding selections 
made and investment performance.  The Trustees, in evaluating the Retirement Plan 
Committee’s actions, shall act in accordance with the terms of this Statement, as 
updated from time to time by the Commissioners, and as communicated to the Trustees 
in writing. 
 
Purpose of the Plan 
The Plan was established for the purpose of providing retirement benefits to eligible 
employees and their beneficiaries. The Plan was closed to new employees hired after 
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December 31, 1996.  The Plan is a governmental defined benefit pension plan which 
provides retirement, early retirement, disability, termination, and death benefits based 
upon a formula that includes final average compensation, years of credited service, and 
a pension benefit percentage. An investment portfolio is maintained to invest employer 
contributions and to reinvest income. 
 
Investment Philosophy 
The Commissioners, Trustees and the Retirement Plan Committee recognize their 
respective fiduciary duties to invest the Plan's assets in formal compliance with the 
Prudent Man Rule.  The Trustees interpret this to mean that, in addition to the specific 
guidelines and restrictions set forth in this document, the assets of the Plan shall be 
actively managed -- that is, investment decisions regarding the particular securities to 
be purchased or sold shall be the result of the conscious exercise of discretion. Further, 
the Trustees recognize that, commensurate with its overall objective of maximizing long-
range returns while maintaining a high standard of portfolio quality and consistency of 
return, it is necessary that proper diversification of assets be maintained both among 
and within the classes of securities held. Within this context of active management and 
the necessity for adherence to proper diversification, the Trustees and the Retirement 
Plan Committee rely upon appropriate professional advice. 
 

Delegation of Responsibilities 
 
Retirement Plan Committee 
The Retirement Plan Committee acknowledges its responsibility as a fiduciary to the 
Plan. In this regard, the Retirement Plan Committee must act prudently and for the 
exclusive interest of the Plan’s participants and beneficiaries. 
 
More specifically, the Retirement Plan Committee’s responsibilities include: 
1. Complying with the provisions of pertinent federal, state, and local laws and 

regulations relating to the investment of Plan assets. 
2. Evaluating and appointing a qualified manager(s) and consultant(s) to invest and 

manage the Plan’s assets. 
3. Communicating the investment goals, objectives, and standards to the investment 

managers including any material changes that may subsequently occur. 
4. Determining, with the advice of the Investment Consultant (“Consultant”), how Plan 

assets should be allocated among various asset classes. 
5. Review and evaluate the results of the Investment Manager(s) (“Manager(s)”) in 

context with established standards of performance. 
6. Taking whatever corrective action is deemed prudent and appropriate when an 

investment manager fails to perform as mutually expected. 
7. The Retirement Plan Committee will notify the Manager(s) of: 

a) Significant changes in the Plan cash flow and/or cash flow needs; and 
b) Any matter which bear upon the proper investment management of the Plan’s 
assets, including pertinent financial, legal, and actuarial information. 

9. Monitor all costs associated with the administration of the Plan’s investment to 
ensure that they are reasonable with market averages. 
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10. Review any program that may mitigate or offset costs. 
 
The Retirement Plan Committee shall give consideration to and have an understanding 
of the following prior to retaining professionals: 
1. Establishing standards/requirements/appropriateness of services. 
2. Identification of appropriate candidates for the position. 
3. Solicitation of bids and proposals. 
4. Conduct interviews. 
5. Check references. 
6. Make reasoned decisions based on all information, including: 

a) Philosophy/Goals (i.e., Mission Statement) 
b) Ownership/Management/Organizational Structure/Turnover 
c) Operational History/Growth Plan 
d) Infrastructure: Resources/Tools-of-the-Trade 
e) Financial Condition 
f) Educational Background/Industry Experience 
g) Professional Qualifications 
h) Risk Controls/ Insurance 
I) Criminal, Civil, Regulatory History 
j) Fees 
k) Liquidity 

7. Document the decision process.  
8. Verify compliance with federal and state laws; specifically, Act 314, and Investment 

Guidelines. 
9. Establish standards of conduct, terms and conditions of relationship (Written 

Contract/Agreement). 
 

Investment Consultant 
In carrying out its delegated responsibilities, the Retirement Plan Committee considers 
the services of a Consultant as appropriate to assist in the placement of investment 
funds.  The primary role of the Consultant is to provide independent, objective, third-
party advice and counsel that will enable the Retirement Plan Committee to make well-
informed and timely decisions regarding the investment of the Plan’s assets. 
 
The Consultant’s role is that of an advisor to the Plan.  The Consultant acknowledges its 
responsibilities as a fiduciary under Act 314.  The Consultant acknowledges that it is a 
registered investment advisor under either the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or the 
Michigan Uniform Securities Act. 
 
Investment advice concerning the investment management of Plan assets will be 
offered by the Consultant, and will be consistent with the investment objectives, policies, 
guidelines and constraints as established in this statement.  In specific terms, the 
primary responsibilities of the Consultant are as follows: 
1. Measure and evaluate investment performance each calendar quarter. 
2. Evaluate the Plan's tolerance for risk. 
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3. Advise regarding appropriate investment objectives and goals based on the Plan’s 
needs and risk tolerance. 

4. Determine what degree of potential market volatility should be factored into the 
investment approach. 

5. Based on all of the above, advise regarding optimal allocation of assets. 
 
Providing a Range of Capabilities 
The Consultant is a third party retained by the Retirement Plan Committee to assist in 
several key areas of the management of financial assets. 
 
The Consultant may be asked to: 
1. Gather and evaluate statistical information on the financial assets, investment 

needs, and risk parameters. 
2. Analyze and understand the implications of historic capital market behavior, 

particularly with regard to the trade-off between total rate of return and investment 
risk. 

3. Maintain data on the universe of available professional investment managers, and 
categorize (as to investment style and discipline) and evaluate the qualifications of 
the individual management firms. 

4. Provide periodic asset allocation studies and updates. 
5. Conduct periodic trustee educational workshops. 
6. Provide information with respect to alternate investments.   
7. Monitor the investment of the Plan’s assets for compliance with Act 314. 
8. Analyze and evaluate the Plan's investment performance, and the performance of 

its investment managers, both past and ongoing. 
9. Make specific and timely recommendations for the consideration of the 

Management during each phase of the investment management process. 
10. Monitor all costs associated with the administration of the Plan’s investment to 

ensure that they are reasonable with market averages. 
 
Making Recommendations 
Investment Policy - The Consultant may be asked to recommend an appropriate 
investment policy that will meet the Plan's needs. This includes recommending 
investment objectives and guidelines that adhere to the goals and tolerance for risk. The 
Consultant may be asked to provide an appropriate model of asset allocation composed 
of equity, fixed-income, money market instruments or alternative investments designed 
to meet the established objectives. 
 
Manager Selection - The Consultant may be asked to recommend the best qualified and 
most appropriate Manager(s) candidates for implementing the established investment 
policy. The Consultant shall be capable of utilizing a well-established system to select 
suitable Manager(s) candidates from both a local and national investment manager 
database. 
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Manager Performance Review and Evaluation 
The Consultant shall provide the Retirement Plan Committee with performance reports 
and ongoing quality control to assure that the standards and investment objectives are 
maintained.  Performance reports generated by the Consultant shall be compiled at 
least quarterly and communicated to the Retirement Plan Committee for review. The 
investment performance of total portfolios, as well as asset class components, will be 
measured against commonly accepted performance benchmarks.  Consideration shall 
be given to the extent to which the investment results are consistent with the investment 
objectives, goals, and guidelines as set forth in this statement.  The Retirement Plan 
Committee intends to evaluate the portfolio(s) over at least a three year period, but 
reserves the right to terminate a Manager(s) for any reason including the following: 
1. Investment performance which is significantly less than anticipated given the 

discipline employed and the risk parameters established, or unacceptable 
justification of poor results. 

2. Failure to adhere to any aspect of this Statement of Investment Policy, including 
communication and reporting requirements. 

3. Significant qualitative changes to a Manager(s) organization. 
 

Manager(s) shall be reviewed regularly regarding performance, personnel, strategy, 
research capabilities, organizational and business matters, and other qualitative factors 
that may impact their ability to achieve the desired investment results. 
 
Investment Manager(s) 
Each Manager acknowledges its responsibility as an investment fiduciary under Act 
314.  Each Manager acknowledges that it is a registered investment advisor under 
either the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or the Michigan Uniform Securities Act.  
Each Manager will have full discretion to make all investment decisions for the assets 
placed under its control, while observing and operating within all policies, guidelines, 
constraints, and philosophies as outlined in this statement. 
 
Adherence to Policy Guidelines and Objectives 
The assets of the Plan are to be managed in accordance with the policy guidelines and 
objectives expressed herein as well as any additional guidelines provided separately. 
Assets shall be invested in strict compliance with Act 314.  Each Manager shall manage 
its individual portfolio in compliance with Act 314. 
 
Discretionary Authority 
Each Manager is expected to exercise complete investment discretion.  Such discretion 
includes decisions to buy, hold and sell equities or fixed income securities (including 
cash equivalents) in amounts and proportions reflective of the Manager’s current 
investment strategy and compatible with the investment guidelines. 
 
Each Manager is expected, within the limitation of the account size, to diversify the 
portfolio to minimize the risk of large losses unless, under the circumstances, it is clearly 
prudent not to so diversify.  The investment manager shall invest the assets of the Plan 
with the same care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then 
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prevailing that a prudent man, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, 
would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with such aims.  The 
investment manager will provide the Retirement Plan Committee with suggested 
strategy which might be changed or adopted to better suit the investment guidelines 
adopted by the Retirement Plan Committee. 
 
Communications 
Each Manager is responsible for communicating with the Retirement Plan Committee 
regarding all significant matters pertaining to the investment of the Plan's assets.  The 
Retirement Plan Committee shall be kept apprised of substantive changes in investment 
strategy, asset mix, portfolio structure, and market value of the Plan's assets.  If 
requested, Manager(s) will meet with the Retirement Plan Committee on a quarterly 
basis to review the portfolio and the investment outlook. 
 
Reporting 
Each Manager is expected to provide: 
1. INITIALLY, a written statement (per management agreement) acknowledging their 

acceptance of the guidelines and performance standards herein stated. 
2. AT LEAST QUARTERLY, a portfolio composition report to the Retirement Plan 

Committee of the funds under their management.  The report shall contain as a 
minimum the following data: 
a. Investment Review 
i. Account characteristics; 
ii. Investment summary to include asset description, cost, date, unit value, market  

value, percent of market, current yield, unrealized gains/losses, and estimated 
annual income; 

iii. Maturity schedule to include year due and percent of total; and 
b. Summary and statement of assets under management. 

3. ANNUALLY, and thereafter at the request of the Retirement Plan Committee, 
participation in a review meeting, the agenda to include, but not restricted to - 
a. A review and re-appraisal of the herein contained Statement; 
b. A brief review of the recent capital market environment to include discussion of 

any event particularly pertinent to the management of this portfolio; 
c. A commentary on investment results in light of the appropriate standards of 

performance as stated herein; 
d. A synopsis of key investment decisions made by the Manager, the underlying 

rationale, and how those decisions could impact future results; 
e. Recommendations as to changes in goals or standards, based upon material and 

sustained changes in the capital markets; 
4. UPON WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST - 

a. Copies of all documentation in support of any investment activity; 
b. A summary of receipts and disbursements; 
c. A listing of assets acquired and disposed of; 
d. Evidence of suitable insurance coverage of the Manager’s fiduciary 

responsibilities. 
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5. IMMEDIATE NOTIFICATION - 
a. Notice of material changes in the Manager’s outlook, policy, and tactics 
b. Notice of material changes in ownership, organizational structure, financial 

condition, senior staffing and management of the Manager’s organization. 
 

Each manager’s investment guidelines and performance objectives are made a part of 
their investment management agreement.  Compliance with these guidelines and 
objectives is evaluated during the quarterly investment performance evaluation process. 
 
Custodian 
The primary responsibilities of the custodian (“Custodian”) are to: 
1. Provide adequate safekeeping services. 
2. Settle securities transactions on time. 
3. Collect trust fund income when due. 
4. Provide adequate accounting services. 
5. Prepare useful, accurate, and timely investment reports. 
6. Provide adequate cash-management services. 
7. Provide adequate administrative support. 
8. Develop and maintain adequate data processing capabilities. 
9. Handle proxy administration promptly and accurately. 
10. Complete and file timely proof of claims for settlements of security class action suits 

and monitor the processing to ensure claims are received. 
 

Plan Investment Policy 
 

The Plan is maintained to provide retirement benefits for the participants and their 
beneficiaries.  The Plan is established in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Michigan whereby it operates and is controlled, as to its investments, by PA 314.  
 
The Trustees (or their delegate) are authorized and permitted by the Plan Document 
and under Michigan law to engage the services of a Manager(s), Consultant and 
Custodian and to set the direction for the investments.  
 
The Trustees require that the Manager(s), Consultant and Custodian comply with all 
applicable laws, rules and regulations.  Manager(s) will be given full discretion in 
managing the funds within this Statement. 

 
Plan Investment Objectives 

 
The Trustees’ attitudes regarding Plan assets combine both preservation of capital and 
moderate risk-taking. The Trustees recognize that risk (i.e., the uncertainty of future 
events), volatility (i.e., the potential for variability of asset values), and the potential of 
loss in purchasing power (due to inflation) are present to some degree with all types of 
investment vehicles.  While high levels of risk are to be avoided, the assumption of a 
moderate level of risk is warranted and encouraged in order to allow the opportunity to 
achieve satisfactory results consistent with the objectives and character of the Plan.  
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The policies and restrictions contained in this Statement should not impede the 
Manager to attain the overall Plan objectives, nor should they exclude the Manager from 
appropriate investment opportunities. 
 
The Plan's overall investment objective is to earn an average, annual return of 7.5% 
over five-year rolling periods.  Achievement of this objective is likely to result in stable to 
declining future contribution rates and ensure its ability to pay retirement benefits for all 
plan participants. 
 
The Plan's objective is based on the expected returns under the strategic asset 
allocation policy, which follows.  This asset allocation policy should result in normal 
fluctuation in the Plan's actual return, year to year.  The expected level of risk (volatility, 
or return fluctuation) is appropriate given the Plan's current and expected tolerance for 
short-term return fluctuations.  Appropriate diversification of Plan assets will reduce the 
Plan's investment return volatility. 
 

Asset Allocation Policy 
 

This strategic asset allocation policy is consistent with the achievement of the Plan’s 
financial needs and overall investment objectives.  Asset classes are selected based on 
the expected long-term returns, individual reward/risk characteristics, and correlation 
with other asset classes, manger roles, and fulfillment of the Plan’s long-term financial 
needs.  Conformance with PA 314 of 1965 and amendments thereof is also considered. 

 
The Commissioners established an allocation range for each asset class in recognition 
of the need to vary exposure within and among different asset classes, based on 
investment opportunities and changing capital market conditions.  The Commissioners 
selected the target allocation for each asset class based on the Plan's current financial 
condition, expected future contributions, withdrawals, plan expenses and current 
investment opportunities, notwithstanding short-term performance.  The Commissioners 
intend to review these allocation targets at least annually, focusing on changes in the 
Plan's financial needs, investment objectives, and asset class performance. 
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Asset Allocation Policy Index 

Asset Class Manager Role 
Allocation 

Range 
Target 

Allocation 

U.S. Equities Active/Passive 35 to 70% 35% 

Non-U.S. Equities Active, Broad or Focused 0 to 20% 10% 

Global Fixed Income  Active,  Intermediate Diversified 30 to 50% 35% 

Commercial Real 
Estate 

Core, value-added, opportunistic,   public or 
private 0 to 10% 10% 

Alternative 
Investments* 

Hedge funds, private equity,  
private debt, real assets 0 to 15% 10% 

Cash Equivalents Active, money market fund 0 to 5% 0% 

 Total Fund  100.0% 
*Current allocation to Alternative Investments is 0%.  The 10% allocation will be invested equally between U.S. Equities and Global 
Fixed Income (5% each). 
 
The Trustees acknowledge that alternative asset classes are available and intend to 
periodically evaluate the merits of using different asset classes.  The Trustees also 
recognize the benefits of diversifying manager roles within a given asset class and 
intend to periodically evaluate this decision as well as the active versus passive 
management decision. 
 
In order to preserve capital gains and protect principal during periods of market duress, 
a short-term U.S. government and/or high-quality credit securities fund may be used.  
Given the infrequent short-term use and specialized purpose of this fund, it is not 
included in the Policy Index. 
 

Administrative and Investment Review Procedures 
 

Review of Policies 
All investment policies and investment management guidelines will be reviewed 
annually by the Trustees, or whenever circumstances change to the extent that the 
policies may be ineffective or inappropriate. 
 
General Review 
Annually, all those responsible for investment of the Plan’s assets shall submit a report 
or meet with the Retirement Plan Committee to review their activities for the current 
year and discuss proposed changes that are anticipated. 
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Review of Investment Performance 
The Retirement Plan Committee will monitor the investment performance of each 
manager and the overall deployment of the Plan's assets.  Monitoring will include 
periodic meetings with the Manager(s), and a quarterly performance evaluation 
performed by the Consultant. 
 
Each performance evaluation will include: 
1. The present and prospective economic climate; 
2. Current period and historical, time-weighted rates of return for the overall Plan, 

including an evaluation against the previously specified performance standards; 
3. Current period and historical, time-weighted rates of return for each Manager, 

including an evaluation against the previously specified performance standards; 
4. Additional quantitative measures and analysis will be employed to objectively 

monitor each Manager's compliance with investment policies and guidelines. 
5. An understanding of the strategy being used by each Manager to carry out the 

current Investment Policy; and 
6. Opportunities available within current and prospective asset categories.  
 
The Retirement Plan Committee requests that all documents, exhibits, written materials, 
etc. to be used during the meetings be submitted in advance. 
 
Rebalancing Policy – Overall Fund Allocation 
The system of asset allocation rebalancing to be utilized involves a target asset mix 
around which variance is allowed within prescribed limits.  Rebalancing will be 
addressed when a limit is reached or exceeded.  In addition to monitoring target and 
actual allocations quarterly, the Retirement Plan Committee will formally review the 
policy and actual allocations in light of anticipated cash flow. 
 
Review of Investment Management 
Manager(s) are responsible for frequent and open communication (in writing) with 
Management and the Consultant on all significant matters pertaining to Investment 
Policy and the management of the Plan's assets, including, but not limited to: 
1. A quarterly report of major changes in each Manager's investment outlook, 

investment strategy and portfolio structure. 
2. Any significant changes in ownership, organizational structure, financial conditions, 

or senior personnel staffing of each Manager’s organization. 
3. Any investment guidelines which inhibit the fulfillment of a Manager’s fiduciary 

duties, inappropriately restrict performance, or prevent the manager from meeting 
their performance standards. 

 
Proxy Voting 
The Trustees confer the right to vote proxies to the Manager(s), unless the Manager(s) 
are otherwise notified by the Retirement Plan Committee in writing.  It is expected that 
Manager(s) will vote for the sole benefit of the Plan participants and beneficiaries, 
considering those factors that may affect the value of the Plan's investments and not 
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subordinate the interests of the participants and beneficiaries in their retirement income 
to unrelated objectives. 
 
A summary of votes cast shall be submitted to the Retirement Plan Committee on an 
annual basis. This summary must identify the company, number of shares held, subject 
proxy issues, actual vote (whether for or against the Retirement Plan Committee's 
recommendation), and justification. 
 
Directed Brokerage 
With regard to directed-brokerage, the Trustees do not require the Manager(s) to trade 
securities through an individual or set of broker-dealers.  The Trustees wish to give the 
Manager(s) full discretion over their choice of broker-dealers, so long as the Plan's total 
cost or proceeds of transactions are the most favorable under the circumstances. 
 
Tenure 
While the relationship with Manager(s) is expected to be ongoing, the Retirement Plan 
Committee reserves the right to terminate their relationship with any retained Manager 
at any time they deem appropriate. 
 
In General   Managers are fiduciaries with discretion to implement the guidelines within 
the direction provided by this Statement. All Managers are expected to be familiar with 
and follow the investment guidelines established under Michigan PA Act 314 with 
amendments. 
 
Managers should present (and obtain approval on) material changes in their investment 
style, philosophy or process to the Retirement Plan Committee before implementing any 
changes on behalf of the Plan. 
 
Managers (except commingled funds) are prohibited from using warrants, options, 
futures, collectibles, leverage, mutual funds (money market funds exempted), LLCs, 
ETFs, unit investment trusts, margin purchases or short sales, securities of Plan service 
providers (custodial bank notwithstanding), and loaning or pledging securities (certain 
index funds exempted).  
 
If a Manager would like to purchase a security that falls outside of this Plan's investment 
guidelines (commingled funds exempted), or is in doubt as to the goal and intent of 
these guidelines, they should submit a written request for clarification to the Retirement 
Plan Committee prior to purchase. Any security not specifically defined or permitted 
within is prohibited for investment on behalf of this Plan. 
 
Cash Equivalents   The cash equivalents Manager may invest in any institutional 
money market fund (“Fund”) that follows the following objectives and policies:   
1. The Fund seeks to provide current income while maintaining liquidity and a 

stable share price of $1. 
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2. The Fund invests primarily in high-quality, short-term money market instruments, 
including certificates of deposit, Bankers Acceptances, commercial paper (except 
ABS commercial paper), and other money market securities. 

3. To be considered high-quality, a security generally must be rated in one of the 
two highest credit-quality categories for short-term securities by at least two 
nationally recognized rating services (or by one, if only one rating service has 
rated the security). 

4. If unrated, the security rating must be determined by the manager, subject to the 
limitations in item 3. 

5. The Fund maintains a dollar-weighted average maturity of 90 days or less. 
 
Total Plan Performance 
The Plan's investment objectives are 1) to equal or exceed a 7.5% annualized return 
over five-year rolling periods, 2) to equal or exceed the return of the Policy Index (a.k.a. 
the Plan's performance standard) over five-year rolling periods, and 3) to equal or 
exceed the return of the median institutional fund with a similar allocation/risk exposure 
(a.k.a. the Plan’s performance universe) over one-year rolling periods. 
 
The Policy Index is a hypothetical fund invested 40% in U.S. equities, 10% in non-U.S. 
equities, 40% in Global Fixed Income, and 10% in commercial real estate (the U.S. 
Equities and the Global Fixed Income allocations will be reduced by 5% each after the 
Alternative Investments allocation is completed). 
 
Conclusion 
It is in the intent of this Statement to state an attitude and/or philosophy which will guide 
Managers toward the performance desired. It is further intended that these objectives 
be sufficiently specific, but also sufficiently flexible. 
 
It is the opinion of the Commissioners that these limitations and guidelines will not 
prevent a Manager from achieving the objectives set forth. 
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Glossary of Investment Terms 
 

Alternative Investments - These investments are typically made through the purchase 
of limited partner units in a private limited partnership.  Alternative investments include 
hedge funds, managed futures and commodities, private equity, real assets and other. 
 
Asset Allocation - A process used to determine the optimal allocation of a fund’s 
portfolio among broad asset classes. 
 
Benchmark Index - An index against which the investment performance of a Manager 
can be compared for the purpose of determining the value added by the Manager. A 
benchmark portfolio must be of the same style as the Manager, and in particular, similar 
in terms of risk. 
 
Best Execution - This is formally defined as the difference between the strike price (the 
price at which a security is actually bought or sold) and the fair market price which 
involves calculating opportunity costs by examining the security price immediately after 
the trade is placed. Best execution occurs when the trade involves no opportunity cost, 
for example when there is no increase in the price of a security shortly after it is sold. 
 
Fiduciary - Indicates the relationship of trust and confidence where one person (the 
fiduciary) holds or controls property for the benefit of another person. 
 
Funding Risk - The risk that anticipated contributions to the fund would not be made. 
 
Liquidity - In general, liquidity refers to the ease by which a financial asset can be 
converted into cash. Liquidity is often more narrowly defined as the ability to sell an 
asset quickly without having to make a substantial price concession. 
 
Nominal Return - The nominal return on an asset is the rate of return un-adjusted for 
any change in the price level. The nominal return is contrasted with the real return that 
is adjusted for changes in the price level. 
 
Standard Deviation - A statistical measure of portfolio risk. It reflects the average 
deviation of the observations from their sample mean. Standard deviation is used as an 
estimate of risk since it measures how wide the range of returns typically are. The wider 
the range of returns, the higher the standard deviation of returns, and the higher the 
portfolio risk. If returns are normally distributed (i.e. has a bell shaped curve distribution) 
then approximately two-thirds of the returns would occur within plus or minus one 
standard deviation from the sample mean. 
 
Strategic Asset Allocation – The strategic mix of assets designed to accomplish a 
long-term goal such as funding pension benefits. Generally, policy targets are set for the 
strategic asset classes with allowable ranges around those targets. The allowable 
ranges are established to allow flexibility in the management of the investment portfolio. 
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Systematic Risk - The part of a security's total risk that is related to movements in the 
market and therefore cannot be diversified away. 
 
Tactical Asset Allocation – The tactical mix of assets is short-term in nature with a 
goal of maximizing returns. This strategy is used to take advantage of current market 
conditions that may be more favorable for one asset class over another. 
 
Time-weighted Return - A method of measuring the performance of a portfolio over a 
particular period of time. It is the cumulative compounded rate of return of the portfolio, 
calculated on each date that cash flow moves into or out of the portfolio. 
 
Universe - A group of Managers/Funds chosen to have an investment style similar to 
the Manager/Fund and used for comparison purposes. 
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Introduction 
 
The Lansing Board of Water and Light (“BWL”) is a municipally owned utility providing 
drinking water, electricity, steam and chilled water services to the greater Lansing area 
in mid-Michigan.  The Plan receives contributions from the Lansing Board of Water and 
Light.  The Plan pays retirement benefits provided for in the Plan.  Plan assets are 
invested in various types of securities. 
 
This Statement of Investment Policy (“Statement”) is issued by the Trustees of the 
Post-Retirement Benefit Plan for Eligible Employees of Lansing Board of Water and 
Light (“Plan”).  The purpose of this Statement is to identify and present a set of 
investment objectives, an asset allocation policy, investment performance standards 
and procedures for managing the Plan's assets.   
 
Updates to Statement 
The Commissioners retain the authority to approve, revise and update this Statement as 
necessary to ensure that it is consistent with the BWL's investment philosophy.  Any 
revisions or updates made to the Statement shall be communicated to the Trustees 
from time to time in writing.  The Trustees shall formally acknowledge any revisions or 
updates by communicating the same to the Commissioners in writing.  It shall be the 
duty of the Trustees to act strictly in accordance with the Statement, and any changes 
therein, as so communicated to and acknowledged by the Trustees. 
 
Trustees 
The Trustees of the Plan are the eight appointed voting Commissioners of the Lansing 
Board of Water & Light.  The Trustees have delegated certain responsibilities that are 
described in this Statement to the Retirement Plan Committee, effective as of the date 
on which this Statement is acknowledged by the Trustees by signature of an authorized 
representative of the Trustees.  As of that date, all provisions in this Statement relating 
to the Retirement Plan Committee shall become operative. 
 
Responsibility for selecting and providing direction to Investment Managers, Investment 
Consultants, custodians, and other administrators required for the management of the 
Plan’s assets and for evaluating overall investment results has been delegated to the 
Retirement Plan Committee which shall report to the Trustees regarding selections 
made and investment performance.  The Trustees, in evaluating the Retirement Plan 
Committee’s actions, shall act in accordance with the terms of this Statement, as 
updated from time to time by the Commissioners, and as communicated to the Trustees 
in writing. 
 
Purpose of the Plan 
The Plan was established for the purpose of providing post-retirement medical benefits 
to eligible employees and their beneficiaries. The Plan is a governmental retiree medical 
plan which provides medical, prescription drug, dental and life insurance benefits upon 
a participant's attainment of normal, early or disability retirement status. An investment 
portfolio is maintained to invest employer contributions and to reinvest income. 
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Investment Philosophy 
The Commissioners, Trustees and the Retirement Plan Committee recognize their 
respective fiduciary duties to invest the Plan's assets in formal compliance with the 
Prudent Man Rule.  The Trustees interpret this to mean that, in addition to the specific 
guidelines and restrictions set forth in this document, the assets of the Plan shall be 
actively managed -- that is, investment decisions regarding the particular securities to 
be purchased or sold shall be the result of the conscious exercise of discretion. Further, 
the Trustees recognize that, commensurate with its overall objective of maximizing long-
range returns while maintaining a high standard of portfolio quality and consistency of 
return, it is necessary that proper diversification of assets be maintained both among 
and within the classes of securities held. Within this context of active management and 
the necessity for adherence to proper diversification, the Trustees and the Retirement 
Plan Committee rely upon appropriate professional advice. 
 

Delegation of Responsibilities 
 
Retirement Plan Committee 
The Retirement Plan Committee acknowledges its responsibility as a fiduciary to the 
Plan. In this regard, the Retirement Plan Committee must act prudently and for the 
exclusive interest of the Plan’s participants and beneficiaries. 
 
More specifically, the Retirement Plan Committee’s responsibilities include: 
1. Complying with the provisions of pertinent federal, state, and local laws and 

regulations relating to the investment of Plan assets. 
2. Evaluating and appointing a qualified manager(s) and consultant(s) to invest and 

manage the Plan’s assets. 
3. Communicating the investment goals, objectives, and standards to the investment 

managers including any material changes that may subsequently occur. 
4. Determining, with the advice of the Investment Consultant (“Consultant”), how Plan 

assets should be allocated among various asset classes. 
5. Review and evaluate the results of the Investment Manager(s) (“Manager(s)”) in 

context with established standards of performance. 
6. Taking whatever corrective action is deemed prudent and appropriate when an 

investment manager fails to perform as mutually expected. 
7. The Retirement Plan Committee will notify the Manager(s) of: 

a) Significant changes in the Plan cash flow and/or cash flow needs; and 
b) Any matter which bear upon the proper investment management of the Plan’s 
assets, including pertinent financial, legal, and actuarial information. 

9. Monitor all costs associated with the administration of the Plan’s investment to 
ensure that they are reasonable with market averages. 

10. Review any program that may mitigate or offset costs. 
 
The Retirement Plan Committee shall give consideration to and have an understanding 
of the following prior to retaining professionals: 
1. Establishing standards/requirements/appropriateness of services. 
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2. Identification of appropriate candidates for the position. 
3. Solicitation of bids and proposals. 
4. Conduct interviews. 
5. Check references. 
6. Make reasoned decisions based on all information, including: 

a) Philosophy/Goals (i.e., Mission Statement) 
b) Ownership/Management/Organizational Structure/Turnover 
c) Operational History/Growth Plan 
d) Infrastructure: Resources/Tools-of-the-Trade 
e) Financial Condition 
f) Educational Background/Industry Experience 
g) Professional Qualifications 
h) Risk Controls/ Insurance 
I) Criminal, Civil, Regulatory History 
j) Fees 
k) Liquidity 

7. Document the decision process.  
8. Verify compliance with federal and state laws and Investment Guidelines. 
9. Establish standards of conduct, terms and conditions of relationship (Written 

Contract/Agreement). 
 

Investment Consultant 
In carrying out its delegated responsibilities, the Retirement Plan Committee considers 
the services of a Consultant as appropriate to assist in the placement of investment 
funds.  The primary role of the Consultant is to provide independent, objective, third-
party advice and counsel that will enable the Retirement Plan Committee to make well-
informed and timely decisions regarding the investment of the Plan’s assets. 
 
The Consultant’s role is that of an advisor to the Plan.  The Consultant acknowledges its 
responsibilities as a fiduciary.  The Consultant acknowledges that it is a registered 
investment advisor under either the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or the Michigan 
Uniform Securities Act. 
 
Investment advice concerning the investment management of Plan assets will be 
offered by the Consultant, and will be consistent with the investment objectives, policies, 
guidelines and constraints as established in this statement.  In specific terms, the 
primary responsibilities of the Consultant are as follows: 
1. Measure and evaluate investment performance each calendar quarter. 
2. Evaluate the Plan's tolerance for risk. 
3. Advise regarding appropriate investment objectives and goals based on the Plan’s 

needs and risk tolerance. 
4. Determine what degree of potential market volatility should be factored into the 

investment approach. 
5. Based on all of the above, advise regarding optimal allocation of assets. 
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Providing a Range of Capabilities 
The Consultant is a third party retained by the Retirement Plan Committee to assist in 
several key areas of the management of financial assets. 
 
The Consultant may be asked to: 
1. Gather and evaluate statistical information on the financial assets, investment 

needs, and risk parameters. 
2. Analyze and understand the implications of historic capital market behavior, 

particularly with regard to the trade-off between total rate of return and investment 
risk. 

3. Maintain data on the universe of available professional investment managers, and 
categorize (as to investment style and discipline) and evaluate the qualifications of 
the individual management firms. 

4. Provide periodic asset allocation studies and updates. 
5. Conduct periodic trustee educational workshops. 
6. Provide information with respect to alternate investments.   
7. Monitor the investment of the Plan’s assets for compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations. 
8. Analyze and evaluate the Plan's investment performance, and the performance of 

its investment managers, both past and ongoing. 
9. Make specific and timely recommendations for the consideration of the 

Management during each phase of the investment management process. 
10. Monitor all costs associated with the administration of the Plan’s investment to 

ensure that they are reasonable with market averages. 
 
Making Recommendations 
Investment Policy - The Consultant may be asked to recommend an appropriate 
investment policy that will meet the Plan's needs. This includes recommending 
investment objectives and guidelines that adhere to the goals and tolerance for risk. The 
Consultant may be asked to provide an appropriate model of asset allocation composed 
of equity, fixed-income, money market instruments or alternative investments designed 
to meet the established objectives. 
 
Manager Selection - The Consultant may be asked to recommend the best qualified and 
most appropriate Manager(s) candidates for implementing the established investment 
policy. The Consultant shall be capable of utilizing a well-established system to select 
suitable Manager(s) candidates from both a local and national investment manager 
database. 
 
Manager Performance Review and Evaluation 
The Consultant shall provide the Retirement Plan Committee with performance reports 
and ongoing quality control to assure that the standards and investment objectives are 
maintained.  Performance reports generated by the Consultant shall be compiled at 
least quarterly and communicated to the Retirement Plan Committee for review. The 
investment performance of total portfolios, as well as asset class components, will be 
measured against commonly accepted performance benchmarks.  Consideration shall 
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be given to the extent to which the investment results are consistent with the investment 
objectives, goals, and guidelines as set forth in this statement.  The Retirement Plan 
Committee intends to evaluate the portfolio(s) over at least a three year period, but 
reserves the right to terminate a Manager(s) for any reason including the following: 
1. Investment performance which is significantly less than anticipated given the 

discipline employed and the risk parameters established, or unacceptable 
justification of poor results. 

2. Failure to adhere to any aspect of this Statement of Investment Policy, including 
communication and reporting requirements. 

3. Significant qualitative changes to a Manager(s) organization. 
 

Manager(s) shall be reviewed regularly regarding performance, personnel, strategy, 
research capabilities, organizational and business matters, and other qualitative factors 
that may impact their ability to achieve the desired investment results. 
 
Investment Manager(s) 
Each Manager acknowledges its responsibility as an investment fiduciary.  Each 
Manager acknowledges that it is a registered investment advisor under either the 
Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or the Michigan Uniform Securities Act.  Each Manager 
will have full discretion to make all investment decisions for the assets placed under its 
control, while observing and operating within all policies, guidelines, constraints, and 
philosophies as outlined in this statement. 
 
Adherence to Policy Guidelines and Objectives 
The assets of the Plan are to be managed in accordance with the policy guidelines and 
objectives expressed herein as well as any additional guidelines provided separately. 
Assets shall be invested in strict compliance with relevant laws and regulations.  Each 
Manager shall manage its individual portfolio in compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations. 
 
Discretionary Authority 
Each Manager is expected to exercise complete investment discretion.  Such discretion 
includes decisions to buy, hold and sell equities or fixed income securities (including 
cash equivalents) in amounts and proportions reflective of the Manager’s current 
investment strategy and compatible with the investment guidelines. 
 
Each Manager is expected, within the limitation of the account size, to diversify the 
portfolio to minimize the risk of large losses unless, under the circumstances, it is clearly 
prudent not to so diversify.  The investment manager shall invest the assets of the Plan 
with the same care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then 
prevailing that a prudent man, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, 
would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with such aims.  The 
investment manager will provide the Retirement Plan Committee with suggested 
strategy which might be changed or adopted to better suit the investment guidelines 
adopted by the Retirement Plan Committee. 
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Communications 
Each Manager is responsible for communicating with the Retirement Plan Committee 
regarding all significant matters pertaining to the investment of the Plan's assets.  The 
Retirement Plan Committee shall be kept apprised of substantive changes in investment 
strategy, asset mix, portfolio structure, and market value of the Plan's assets.  If 
requested, Manager(s) will meet with the Retirement Plan Committee on a quarterly 
basis to review the portfolio and the investment outlook. 
 
Reporting 
Each Manager is expected to provide: 
1. INITIALLY, a written statement (per management agreement) acknowledging their 

acceptance of the guidelines and performance standards herein stated. 
2. AT LEAST QUARTERLY, a portfolio composition report to the Retirement Plan 

Committee of the funds under their management.  The report shall contain as a 
minimum the following data: 
a. Investment Review 
i. Account characteristics; 
ii. Investment summary to include asset description, cost, date, unit value, market  

value, percent of market, current yield, unrealized gains/losses, and estimated 
annual income; 

iii. Maturity schedule to include year due and percent of total; and 
b. Summary and statement of assets under management. 

3. ANNUALLY, and thereafter at the request of the Retirement Plan Committee, 
participation in a review meeting, the agenda to include, but not restricted to - 
a. A review and re-appraisal of the herein contained Statement; 
b. A brief review of the recent capital market environment to include discussion of 

any event particularly pertinent to the management of this portfolio; 
c. A commentary on investment results in light of the appropriate standards of 

performance as stated herein; 
d. A synopsis of key investment decisions made by the Manager, the underlying 

rationale, and how those decisions could impact future results; 
e. Recommendations as to changes in goals or standards, based upon material and 

sustained changes in the capital markets; 
4. UPON WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST - 

a. Copies of all documentation in support of any investment activity; 
b. A summary of receipts and disbursements; 
c. A listing of assets acquired and disposed of; 
d. Evidence of suitable insurance coverage of the Manager’s fiduciary 

responsibilities. 
5. IMMEDIATE NOTIFICATION - 

a. Notice of material changes in the Manager’s outlook, policy, and tactics 
b. Notice of material changes in ownership, organizational structure, financial 

condition, senior staffing and management of the Manager’s organization. 
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Each manager’s investment guidelines and performance objectives are made a part of 
their investment management agreement.  Compliance with these guidelines and 
objectives is evaluated during the quarterly investment performance evaluation process. 
 
Custodian 
The primary responsibilities of the custodian (“Custodian”) are to: 
1. Provide adequate safekeeping services. 
2. Settle securities transactions on time. 
3. Collect trust fund income when due. 
4. Provide adequate accounting services. 
5. Prepare useful, accurate, and timely investment reports. 
6. Provide adequate cash-management services. 
7. Provide adequate administrative support. 
8. Develop and maintain adequate data processing capabilities. 
9. Handle proxy administration promptly and accurately. 
10. Complete and file timely proof of claims for settlements of security class action suits 

and monitor the processing to ensure claims are received. 
 

Plan Investment Policy 
 

The Plan is maintained to provide retiree medical benefits for the participants and their 
beneficiaries.    
 
The Trustees (or their delegate) are authorized and permitted by the Plan Document 
and under Michigan law to engage the services of a Manager(s), Consultant and 
Custodian and to set the direction for the investments.  
 
The Trustees require that the Manager(s), Consultant and Custodian comply with all 
applicable laws, rules and regulations.  Manager(s) will be given full discretion in 
managing the funds within this Statement. 

 
Plan Investment Objectives 

 
The Trustees’ attitudes regarding Plan assets combine both preservation of capital and 
moderate risk-taking. The Trustees recognize that risk (i.e., the uncertainty of future 
events), volatility (i.e., the potential for variability of asset values), and the potential of 
loss in purchasing power (due to inflation) are present to some degree with all types of 
investment vehicles.  While high levels of risk are to be avoided, the assumption of a 
moderate level of risk is warranted and encouraged in order to allow the opportunity to 
achieve satisfactory results consistent with the objectives and character of the Plan.  
The policies and restrictions contained in this Statement should not impede the 
Manager to attain the overall Plan objectives, nor should they exclude the Manager from 
appropriate investment opportunities. 
 
The Plan's overall investment objective is to earn an average, annual return of 7.5% 
over five-year rolling periods.  Achievement of this objective is likely to result in stable to 
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declining future contribution rates and ensure its ability to pay retirement benefits for all 
plan participants. 
 
The Plan's objective is based on the expected returns under the strategic asset 
allocation policy, which follows.  This asset allocation policy should result in normal 
fluctuation in the Plan's actual return, year to year.  The expected level of risk (volatility, 
or return fluctuation) is appropriate given the Plan's current and expected tolerance for 
short-term return fluctuations.  Appropriate diversification of Plan assets will reduce the 
Plan's investment return volatility. 
 

Asset Allocation Policy 
 

This strategic asset allocation policy is consistent with the achievement of the Plan’s 
financial needs and overall investment objectives.  Asset classes are selected based on 
the expected long-term returns, individual reward/risk characteristics, and correlation 
with other asset classes, manger roles, and fulfillment of the Plan’s long-term financial 
needs.   

 
The Commissioners established an allocation range for each asset class in recognition 
of the need to vary exposure within and among different asset classes, based on 
investment opportunities and changing capital market conditions.  The Commissioners 
selected the target allocation for each asset class based on the Plan's current financial 
condition, expected future contributions, withdrawals, plan expenses and current 
investment opportunities, notwithstanding short-term performance.  The Commissioners 
intend to review these allocation targets at least annually, focusing on changes in the 
Plan's financial needs, investment objectives, and asset class performance. 
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Asset Allocation Policy Index 

Asset Class Manager Role 
Allocation 

Range 
Target 

Allocation 

U.S. Equities Active/Passive 35 to 70% 45% 

Non-U.S. Equities Active, Broad or Focused 0 to 20% 10% 

Global Fixed Income  Active,  Intermediate Diversified 10 to 50% 15% 

Commercial Real 
Estate 

Core, value-added, opportunistic,   public or 
private 0 to 20% 20% 

Alternative 
Investments* 

Hedge funds, private equity,  
private debt, real assets 0 to 15% 10% 

Cash Equivalents Active, money market fund 0 to 5% 0% 

 Total Fund  100.0% 
*Current allocation to Alternative Investments is 0%.  The 10% allocation will be invested equally between U.S. Equities and Global 
Fixed Income (5% each). 
 
The Trustees acknowledge that alternative asset classes are available and intend to 
periodically evaluate the merits of using different asset classes.  The Trustees also 
recognize the benefits of diversifying manager roles within a given asset class and 
intend to periodically evaluate this decision as well as the active versus passive 
management decision. 
 
In order to preserve capital gains and protect principal during periods of market duress, 
a short-term U.S. government and/or high-quality credit securities fund may be used.  
Given the infrequent short-term use and specialized purpose of this fund, it is not 
included in the Policy Index. 
 

Administrative and Investment Review Procedures 
 

Review of Policies 
All investment policies and investment management guidelines will be reviewed 
annually by the Trustees, or whenever circumstances change to the extent that the 
policies may be ineffective or inappropriate. 
 
General Review 
Annually, all those responsible for investment of the Plan’s assets shall submit a report 
or meet with the Retirement Plan Committee to review their activities for the current 
year and discuss proposed changes that are anticipated. 
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Review of Investment Performance 
The Retirement Plan Committee will monitor the investment performance of each 
manager and the overall deployment of the Plan's assets.  Monitoring will include 
periodic meetings with the Manager(s), and a quarterly performance evaluation 
performed by the Consultant. 
 
Each performance evaluation will include: 
1. The present and prospective economic climate; 
2. Current period and historical, time-weighted rates of return for the overall Plan, 

including an evaluation against the previously specified performance standards; 
3. Current period and historical, time-weighted rates of return for each Manager, 

including an evaluation against the previously specified performance standards; 
4. Additional quantitative measures and analysis will be employed to objectively 

monitor each Manager's compliance with investment policies and guidelines. 
5. An understanding of the strategy being used by each Manager to carry out the 

current Investment Policy; and 
6. Opportunities available within current and prospective asset categories.  
 
The Retirement Plan Committee requests that all documents, exhibits, written materials, 
etc. to be used during the meetings be submitted in advance. 
 
Rebalancing Policy – Overall Fund Allocation 
The system of asset allocation rebalancing to be utilized involves a target asset mix 
around which variance is allowed within prescribed limits.  Rebalancing will be 
addressed when a limit is reached or exceeded.  In addition to monitoring target and 
actual allocations quarterly, the Retirement Plan Committee will formally review the 
policy and actual allocations in light of anticipated cash flow. 
 
Review of Investment Management 
Manager(s) are responsible for frequent and open communication (in writing) with 
Management and the Consultant on all significant matters pertaining to Investment 
Policy and the management of the Plan's assets, including, but not limited to: 
1. A quarterly report of major changes in each Manager's investment outlook, 

investment strategy and portfolio structure. 
2. Any significant changes in ownership, organizational structure, financial conditions, 

or senior personnel staffing of each Manager’s organization. 
3. Any investment guidelines which inhibit the fulfillment of a Manager’s fiduciary 

duties, inappropriately restrict performance, or prevent the manager from meeting 
their performance standards. 

 
Proxy Voting 
The Trustees confer the right to vote proxies to the Manager(s), unless the Manager(s) 
are otherwise notified by the Retirement Plan Committee in writing.  It is expected that 
Manager(s) will vote for the sole benefit of the Plan participants and beneficiaries, 
considering those factors that may affect the value of the Plan's investments and not 
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subordinate the interests of the participants and beneficiaries in their retirement income 
to unrelated objectives. 
 
A summary of votes cast shall be submitted to the Retirement Plan Committee on an 
annual basis. This summary must identify the company, number of shares held, subject 
proxy issues, actual vote (whether for or against the Retirement Plan Committee's 
recommendation), and justification. 
 
Directed Brokerage 
With regard to directed-brokerage, the Trustees do not require the Manager(s) to trade 
securities through an individual or set of broker-dealers.  The Trustees wish to give the 
Manager(s) full discretion over their choice of broker-dealers, so long as the Plan's total 
cost or proceeds of transactions are the most favorable under the circumstances. 
 
Tenure 
While the relationship with Manager(s) is expected to be ongoing, the Retirement Plan 
Committee reserves the right to terminate their relationship with any retained Manager 
at any time they deem appropriate. 
 
In General   Managers are fiduciaries with discretion to implement the guidelines within 
the direction provided by this Statement.. 
 
Managers should present (and obtain approval on) material changes in their investment 
style, philosophy or process to the Retirement Plan Committee before implementing any 
changes on behalf of the Plan. 
 
Managers (except commingled funds) are prohibited from using warrants, options, 
futures, collectibles, leverage, mutual funds (money market funds exempted), LLCs, 
ETFs, unit investment trusts, margin purchases or short sales, securities of Plan service 
providers (custodial bank notwithstanding), and loaning or pledging securities (certain 
index funds exempted).  
 
If a Manager would like to purchase a security that falls outside of this Plan's investment 
guidelines (commingled funds exempted), or is in doubt as to the goal and intent of 
these guidelines, they should submit a written request for clarification to the Retirement 
Plan Committee prior to purchase. Any security not specifically defined or permitted 
within is prohibited for investment on behalf of this Plan. 
 
Cash Equivalents   The cash equivalents Manager may invest in any institutional 
money market fund (“Fund”) that follows the following objectives and policies:   
1. The Fund seeks to provide current income while maintaining liquidity and a 

stable share price of $1. 
2. The Fund invests primarily in high-quality, short-term money market instruments, 

including certificates of deposit, Bankers Acceptances, commercial paper (except 
ABS commercial paper), and other money market securities. 
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3. To be considered high-quality, a security generally must be rated in one of the 
two highest credit-quality categories for short-term securities by at least two 
nationally recognized rating services (or by one, if only one rating service has 
rated the security). 

4. If unrated, the security rating must be determined by the manager, subject to the 
limitations in item 3. 

5. The Fund maintains a dollar-weighted average maturity of 90 days or less. 
 
Total Plan Performance 
The Plan's investment objectives are 1) to equal or exceed a 7.5% annualized return 
over five-year rolling periods, 2) to equal or exceed the return of the Policy Index (a.k.a. 
the Plan's performance standard) over five-year rolling periods, and 3) to equal or 
exceed the return of the median institutional fund with a similar allocation/risk exposure 
(a.k.a. the Plan’s performance universe) over one-year rolling periods. 
 
The Policy Index is a hypothetical fund invested 40% in U.S. equities, 10% in non-U.S. 
equities, 40% in Global Fixed Income, and 10% in commercial real estate (the U.S. 
Equities and the Global Fixed Income allocations will be reduced by 5% each after the 
Alternative Investments allocation is completed). 
 
Conclusion 
It is in the intent of this Statement to state an attitude and/or philosophy which will guide 
Managers toward the performance desired. It is further intended that these objectives 
be sufficiently specific, but also sufficiently flexible. 
 
It is the opinion of the Commissioners that these limitations and guidelines will not 
prevent a Manager from achieving the objectives set forth. 
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Glossary of Investment Terms 
 

Alternative Investments - These investments are typically made through the purchase 
of limited partner units in a private limited partnership.  Alternative investments include 
hedge funds, managed futures and commodities, private equity, real assets and other. 
 
Asset Allocation - A process used to determine the optimal allocation of a fund’s 
portfolio among broad asset classes. 
 
Benchmark Index - An index against which the investment performance of a Manager 
can be compared for the purpose of determining the value added by the Manager. A 
benchmark portfolio must be of the same style as the Manager, and in particular, similar 
in terms of risk. 
 
Best Execution - This is formally defined as the difference between the strike price (the 
price at which a security is actually bought or sold) and the fair market price which 
involves calculating opportunity costs by examining the security price immediately after 
the trade is placed. Best execution occurs when the trade involves no opportunity cost, 
for example when there is no increase in the price of a security shortly after it is sold. 
 
Fiduciary - Indicates the relationship of trust and confidence where one person (the 
fiduciary) holds or controls property for the benefit of another person. 
 
Funding Risk - The risk that anticipated contributions to the fund would not be made. 
 
Liquidity - In general, liquidity refers to the ease by which a financial asset can be 
converted into cash. Liquidity is often more narrowly defined as the ability to sell an 
asset quickly without having to make a substantial price concession. 
 
Nominal Return - The nominal return on an asset is the rate of return un-adjusted for 
any change in the price level. The nominal return is contrasted with the real return that 
is adjusted for changes in the price level. 
 
Standard Deviation - A statistical measure of portfolio risk. It reflects the average 
deviation of the observations from their sample mean. Standard deviation is used as an 
estimate of risk since it measures how wide the range of returns typically are. The wider 
the range of returns, the higher the standard deviation of returns, and the higher the 
portfolio risk. If returns are normally distributed (i.e. has a bell shaped curve distribution) 
then approximately two-thirds of the returns would occur within plus or minus one 
standard deviation from the sample mean. 
 
Strategic Asset Allocation – The strategic mix of assets designed to accomplish a 
long-term goal such as funding medical benefits. Generally, policy targets are set for the 
strategic asset classes with allowable ranges around those targets. The allowable 
ranges are established to allow flexibility in the management of the investment portfolio. 
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Systematic Risk - The part of a security's total risk that is related to movements in the 
market and therefore cannot be diversified away. 
 
Tactical Asset Allocation – The tactical mix of assets is short-term in nature with a 
goal of maximizing returns. This strategy is used to take advantage of current market 
conditions that may be more favorable for one asset class over another. 
 
Time-weighted Return - A method of measuring the performance of a portfolio over a 
particular period of time. It is the cumulative compounded rate of return of the portfolio, 
calculated on each date that cash flow moves into or out of the portfolio. 
 
Universe - A group of Managers/Funds chosen to have an investment style similar to 
the Manager/Fund and used for comparison purposes. 
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